# PhD thesis presented on the 14<sup>th</sup> of October 2015 at Hasselt University

#### Members of the jury

Prof. Dr K. Coninx, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, Chair
Prof. Dr J. Vangronsveld, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, Promotor
Prof. Dr A. Cuypers, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, Co-promotor
Dr Ir N. Weyens, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, Co-promotor
Prof. Dr J. Colpaert, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium
Prof. Dr F. Rineau, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium
Prof. Dr D. Dowling, Institute of Technology, Carlow, Ireland
Dr M. Mench, Université de Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France

# WOORD VOORAF

First of all, I would like to thank the members of the jury for their critical evaluation of my PhD thesis: Prof. Dr David Dowling, Dr Michel Mench, Prof. Dr Jan Colpaert, Prof. Dr François Rineau, Prof. Dr Ann Cuypers, Dr Ir Nele Weyens and Prof. Dr Jaco Vangronsveld. I would also like to thank the "Fonds Wetenschappelijk onderzoek – Vlaanderen" for the financial support of my PhD project.

Jaco, jou wil ik graag nog eens extra bedanken voor de mogelijkheid om onderzoek te doen op het CMK, voor je advies bij het opzetten en analyseren van experimenten en voor het nalezen van al mijn teksten.

Nele, jouw deur stond altijd open voor mij. Bedankt voor al je hulp en goede raad!

Dan wil ik ook alle (ex-)leden van onze onderzoeksgroep bedanken. Jullie zorgden niet alleen voor een leuke sfeer in het labo (en daarbuiten), maar ik kon bij jullie ook altijd terecht voor een kritische kijk op mijn experimenten. Bram, Sofie en Michiel, een extra dankjewel voor jullie hulp bij de pyrosequencing experimenten. Zonder jullie was me dat nooit gelukt...

Sarah, ons 1<sup>e</sup> congres was een hele belevenis, vooral dan dat vliegtuig © (ik vind het nog altijd jammer dat we dat niet over konden doen naar de USA...). Bedankt ook vooral voor alle fijne babbels, die hebben me vaak geholpen.

Jolien, Sarah, Inge en Sofie, bedankt voor onze leuke uitstapjes. We gaan dat zeker blijven doen! Misschien wel eens een restaurantje zoeken waar we niet ziek worden van het eten... Sofie, jij was de beste gids van Granada die we ons konden wensen! En jij de beste chauffeur, Bram ©.

Michelle, jouw bureau stond zeer strategisch opgesteld. Bedankt voor alle fijne gesprekjes!

Dan ook nog een speciale dankjewel aan Els, omdat je er altijd bent als dat nodig is. Veel succes met alles wat je doet!

Ook wil ik graag al mijn bureaugenoten bedanken om door weer en wind (letterlijk) een bureau met mij te delen. Marijke, Nelly, Wouter, Panos, Sofie, Blanca, Roberto, veel succes met jullie doctoraten/post-docs/nieuwe jobs/... Verder bedankt iedereen voor de vele leuke feestjes, barbecues, teambuildings, mijn introductie tot Viking Kubb en zoveel meer. Ik zal jullie niet vergeten!

Een deel van dit werk werd uitgevoerd door mijn stagestudenten. Bedankt Nathalie Leynen, Hafida Lmalem, Inge Jambon en Antoine Persyn voor jullie harde werk! En ook bedankt Ann en Carine voor jullie hulp bij het zaaien en oogsten. Niemand kan dat sneller!

Eline, ook voor jou een hele grote dankjewel. Samen gestudeerd, samen onze masterthesis gemaakt, een dansje geplaceerd met onze mannen, een doctoraat, trouwen en kindjes. Ahja, en een verbouwing... Wij spammen regelmatig elkaars mailbox © Het is een fijn gevoel om iemand te hebben waarbij ik altijd terecht kan!

En dan als laatste, maar zeker niet in het minst, mijn familie. Lieve ouders, bedankt voor jullie onvoorwaardelijke liefde en steun. Mama, dit is weer één van die momenten dat ik je nog net iets harder mis.

Rik, bedankt om al 12 jaar altijd aan mijn zijde te staan. Zonder jou was ik nooit geraakt waar ik nu ben (ook een beetje letterlijk, dat weet je wel). En Oscar, jij maakt mij altijd weer aan het lachen! Jullie zijn de liefde van mijn leven.

Sascha Oktober 2015 Doe wat je moet doen in deze wereld met een groot en mooi lawaai doe het met de dingen die je drijven wees naïef maar wees niet saai

> Tijd is kort ik heb het gezien tijd is kort en aan het eind vergetelheid

Thé Lau (The Scene) – Tijd is kort

# SUMMARY

Transgenerational signaling allows plants to adapt in a fast and efficient manner to biotic and abiotic stresses. Transgenerational plasticity can be mediated by maternally derived proteins, mRNAs and hormones, via DNA methylation and histone modifications, or via seed provisioning. Seed-transmitted endophytes could also play a role in this process, as was already shown for fungal endophytes of grasses. Vertically transmitted endophytes usually evolve to have a mutualistic relationship with their host in which they are able to improve plant growth and health.

In the **first section**, the objective was to understand how different factors affect the bacterial community present in seeds. To study the impact of Cd on the seed endophytic community, a selection pressure was simulated in *Arabidopsis thaliana* in order to create 2 types of seeds: from plants that were exposed to 2  $\mu$ M Cd for several generations (Cd seeds) and from plants that were grown in parallel but never exposed to Cd (control seeds). The cultivable as well as the total endophytic communities of both seed types were characterized. Some bacterial genera, such as *Rhizobium* and *Pseudomonas*, appeared to be tightly associated with *A. thaliana* seeds, while others were specialized endophytes that are selectively taken up. Important bacterial characteristics for transfer to the next generations of plants were ACC deaminase activity and Cd tolerance in Cd seeds, and IAA production in control as well as Cd seeds. The presence of these selected endophytic communities in seedlings makes rapid adaptation to environmental conditions possible by stimulating different beneficial functions.

To verify whether the selection pressure induced in the lab-grown *A. thaliana* was comparable with a selection pressure occurring in the field, the cultivable endophytic communities associated with seeds of *Agrostis capillaris* from a long-term Cd/Ni contaminated field site and a non-contaminated field site were identified and characterized. Also in *A. capillaris*, bacterial ACC deaminase activity appeared to be very important for coping with Cd stress. Surprisingly, Cd tolerance was almost absent in seed endophytes from long-term Cd/Ni-exposed *A. capillaris*. This can be attributed to the pseudometallophyte nature of *A. capillaris*: metal exclusion from aerial parts as well as metal

compartmentalization and complexation makes the development of metal tolerance mechanisms in endophytes present in *A. capillaris* redundant.

In order to determine the influences of the substrate type, the seed endophytic communities of A. thaliana were also identified and characterized after generations of culturing on sand and on a mixture of sand and potting soil, 2 commonly used substrates for the production of A. thaliana seeds. The seeds harvested from plants growing on sand and potting soil were sown again, but this time on the same substrate, to determine if the substrate type still had an influence on the establishment of the plant endophytic community. Despite differences in the soil bacterial communities, the seed and radicle endophytic communities were very similar, which indicates that plants are able to select their endophytes. On the other hand, the leaf endophytic community showed to be mainly derived from the environment and not from the seed. This indicates that bacteria are recruited from the environment during plant growth to complement the endophytic community from which the seed endophytes of the next generation can again be selected. Moreover, it appeared that the genera that were most abundant in the cultivable endophytic community, mainly Rhizobium and Pseudomonas, coincide with the genera frequently detected in the total community.

In the **second section**, the importance of bacterial seed endophytes for seedling establishment and plant growth were studied. It was verified whether the *in vitro* plant growth promoting characteristics of *A. thaliana* and *A. capillaris* seed endophytes could be a predictor of *in planta* growth promotion. The effect of inoculation with the isolated seed endophytes on the growth and metal uptake of their host during Cd exposure was studied in order to evaluate their possible contribution to bacteria-assisted phytoremediation as a clean-up strategy.

Inoculation of *A. thaliana* with its seed endophytes on vertical agar plates or in a hydroponic culture led to improved plant growth upon Cd exposure, however results were not consistent. Therefore several features possibly involved in bacterial colonization and inoculation success were analysed. Different bacterial growth stages were associated with changes in motility, chemotactic behavior and pectinase activity, which could influence the plant colonizing capacity of the inoculated endophytes.

Inoculation of *A. capillaris* growing in a hydroponic culture with its seed endophytes resulted in a significantly improved plant growth in case of nonexposed plants. After inoculation of Cd-exposed plants, an increased Cd uptake was achieved without affecting plant growth. This indicates that inoculation of *A. capillaris* with its seed endophytes might be beneficial for plant establishment and growth during phytostabilization and phytoextraction of Cd-contaminated soils.

In conclusion, plants appear to be able to select which endophytes are transferred to the next generation, primarily on a phenotypic but probably also on a genotypic level. Understanding how different factors influence the seed endophytic community can improve seed quality and plant growth during different biotechnological applications. Seed endophytes seem to have the potential to contribute to a more efficient phytostabilization and phytoextraction of metal-contaminated areas, although it remains difficult to predict *in planta* behavior based on *in vitro* plant growth promoting characteristics. Moreover, optimization of the inoculation procedure is needed to generate a more stable and repeatable inoculation outcome.

# SAMENVATTING

Transgenerationele signalisatie laat planten toe om zich op een snelle en efficiënte wijze aan te passen aan biotische en abiotische stressfactoren. Transgenerationele plasticiteit kan verlopen via maternale eiwitten, mRNA en hormonen, via DNA methylatie en modificatie van histonen, en via zaadvulling. Endofyten die overgedragen worden via de zaden kunnen ook bijdragen aan dit proces zoals reeds werd aangetoond voor endofytische schimmels in grassen. Verticaal overgedragen endofyten hebben meestal een mutualistische relatie met hun gastheer waarbij ze de groei en gezondheid van de plant kunnen bevorderen.

In deel 1 werden de effecten van verschillende factoren op de bacteriële gemeenschap aanwezig in zaden bestudeerd. Om de impact van Cd op de zaadendofyt-gemeenschap te bestuderen, werd een selectiedruk gesimuleerd bij Arabidopsis thaliana waardoor 2 zaadtypes tot stand kwamen: van planten die blootgesteld werden aan 2 µM Cd gedurende verschillende generaties (Cd zaden) en van planten die in parallel groeiden maar nooit blootgesteld werden aan Cd (controlezaden). Zowel de cultiveerbare als de totale endofytische gemeenschappen van beide zaadtypes werden gekarakteriseerd. Enkele bacteriële genera, zoals Rhizobium en Pseudomonas, waren nauw geassocieerd met de zaden van A. thaliana, terwijl andere genera meer gespecialiseerde endofyten bleken te zijn die selectief werden opgenomen. Belangrijke bacteriële kenmerken voor transfer naar de volgende generatie van planten waren ACC deaminase activiteit en Cd tolerantie in de Cd zaden, en IAA productie in beide zaadtypes. De aanwezigheid van geselecteerde endofytische gemeenschappen in de zaailingen maakt snelle aanpassingen aan veranderingen in de omgeving mogelijk doordat verschillende gunstige functies gestimuleerd kunnen worden.

Vervolgens werd nagegaan of de selectiedruk die geïnduceerd werd in de labogekweekte *A. thaliana* vergelijkbaar is met een selectiedruk aanwezig in een veldsituatie. Hiervoor werden de cultiveerbare endofytische gemeenschappen geassocieerd met de zaden van *Agrostis capillaris* groeiend op een veldsite die langdurig gecontamineerd is met Cd en Ni en op een niet-gecontamineerde controlesite geïdentificeerd en gekarakteriseerd. Ook in *A. capillaris* bleek

Х

bacteriële ACC deaminase activiteit belangrijk om te kunnen omgaan met Cd stress. Opmerkelijk was dat er nauwelijks Cd tolerante endofyten aanwezig waren in de zaden van Cd/Ni-blootgestelde *A. capillaris*. Dit kan te wijten zijn aan het pseudometallofyt karakter van *A. capillaris*: exclusie van metalen uit de bovengrondse delen alsook compartimentalisatie en complexatie maken de ontwikkeling van metaaltolerantie mechanismen in endofyten aanwezig in *A. capillaris* overbodig.

Om het effect van het substraat te bepalen, werd de zaadendofyt-gemeenschap van A. thaliana ook geïdentificeerd en gekarakteriseerd na verschillende generaties gekweekt te zijn op zand en op een mengeling van zand en potgrond, 2 veelgebruikte substraten voor het produceren van A. thaliana zaden. De zaden geoogst van op zand en op potgrond gegroeide planten werden vervolgens opnieuw gezaaid, maar dan op hetzelfde substraat, om na te gaan of het substraat nog altijd een effect heeft op de endofytische gemeenschap van de plant. Ondanks verschillen in de aanwezige bodembacteriën waren de endofytische gemeenschappen in de zaden en kiemwortels zeer gelijkaardig. Dit wijst erop dat de plant in staat is om bepaalde bacteriële stammen te selecteren als endofyt. Daarentegen was de endofytische gemeenschap in de bladeren hoofdzakelijk afkomstig van de omgeving en niet van de zaden. Dit wijst erop dat tijdens de groei van de plant bacteriën gerekruteerd worden uit de omgeving om de endofytische gemeenschap te vervolledigen. Vanuit deze gemeenschap kunnen dan opnieuw de zaadendofyten van de volgende generatie geselecteerd worden. Bovendien bleken de genera die het meest voorkwamen in de cultiveerbare gemeenschap, hoofdzakelijk Rhizobium en Pseudomonas, ook de genera te zijn die het meest gedetecteerd werden in de totale gemeenschap.

In **deel 2** werd het belang van bacteriële zaadendofyten voor de ontwikkeling van de zaailing en de verdere groei van de plant bestudeerd. Er werd nagegaan of de plantengroei bevorderende eigenschappen die *in vitro* gedetecteerd werden in de zaadendofyten van *A. thaliana* en *A. capillaris* een goede indicatie vormen voor hun *in planta* effecten. Het effect van inoculatie met de geïsoleerde zaadendofyten op de groei en metaalopname van hun gastheer tijdens blootstelling aan Cd werd bestudeerd om zo hun mogelijke bijdrage aan bacterie-geassisteerde fytoremediatie als saneringsstrategie in te schatten.

Inoculatie van *A. thaliana* met zijn zaadendofyten op verticale agarplaten of in een hydrocultuur bevorderde de plantengroei bij blootstelling aan Cd, maar deze resultaten waren niet consistent. Daarom werden verschillende factoren die betrokken zijn bij bacteriële kolonisatie van de plant, en die dus het succes van de inoculatie kunnen beïnvloeden, onderzocht. Verschillende bacteriële groeifasen bleken geassocieerd met veranderingen in motiliteit, chemotaxis en pectinase activiteit, hetgeen de capaciteit van de geïnoculeerde endofyten om de plant te koloniseren kan beïnvloeden.

Inoculatie van *A. capillaris* met zijn zaadendofyten in een hydrocultuur resulteerde in een significant verbeterde groei in de niet-blootgestelde planten. Na inoculatie van de Cd-blootgestelde planten werd een verhoogde Cd opname bekomen zonder dat dit een negatief effect had op de plantengroei. Dit wijst erop dat inoculatie van *A. capillaris* met zijn zaadendofyten gunstig kan zijn voor de ontwikkeling en groei van de plant tijdens fytostabilisatie en fytoextractie van bodems verontreinigd met Cd.

Planten lijken dus in staat om te selecteren welke endofyten er naar de volgende generatie worden overgedragen, hoofdzakelijk op een fenotypisch, maar ook op een genotypisch niveau. Kennis van de effecten van verschillende factoren op de zaadendofyt-gemeenschap is belangrijk aangezien het de zaadkwaliteit en plantengroei kan verbeteren tijdens uiteenlopende biotechnologische toepassingen. Zaadendofyten lijken te kunnen bijdragen aan een efficiëntere fytostabilisatie en fytoextractie van metaalverontreinigde gronden, hoewel het moeilijk blijft om in planta gedrag te voorspellen op basis van in vitro bestudeerde plantengroei promoverende eigenschappen. Bovendien is er een optimalisatie van de inoculatieprocedure nodig zodat een consistenter en beter herhaalbaar resultaat verkregen kan worden.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

WOORD VOORAF I									
SUMMARY VII									
SAMENVATTING X									
TABLE OF CONTENTS     XIII									
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION TO PLANT-BACTERIA INTERACTIONS	<b>š</b> 1								
1.1 Direct plant growth promoting mechanisms	1								
1.1.1 Plant growth regulating compounds	1								
1.1.2 Bioavailability of plant nutrients									
1.1.3 Counteracting stress-induced ethylene									
1.2 Indirect plant growth promoting mechanisms									
1.2.1 Competition for space and nutrients									
1.2.2 Synthesis of allelochemicals									
1.2.3 Induction of plant defense mechanisms	7								
1.3 The bacterial microbiome of Arabidopsis thaliana	8								
1.4 The potential of seed endophytes	11								
1.4.1 Frequently reported bacterial seed endophytes	12								
1.4.2 Seed endophyte dynamics	17								
1.4.3Seed endophyte functions23									
CHAPTER 2 SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES	27								
SECTION 1 FACTORS AFFECTING THE SEED ENDOPHYTIC									
COMMUNITY 29									
Abstract	30								
Introduction	31								
CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS USED IN SECTION 1	35								
3.1 Optimization of the sterilization protocols	35								
3.2 Seed sampling 35									
3.3 Metal extraction 36									
3.4 Isolation of cultivable bacteria 37									
3.5 Phenotypic characterization of cultivable bacteria 37									

3.6 Genotypic characterization of cultivable bacteria	40
3.7 454 pyrosequencing workflow	41
3.7.1 Sampling and DNA extraction	41
3.7.2 Test Tull	42
2.7.4 Data analysis	43
3.8 Statistical analysis	43 44
CHAPTER 4 CADMIUM-INDUCED AND TRANSGENERATIO ON CULTIVABLE AND TOTAL SEED ENDOPHYTIC COMMUNIT	NAL EFFECTS TES OF
ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA	45
4.1 Results and discussion	45
4.1.1 Optimization of the sterilization protocol	45
4.1.2 Seed endophytic community composition	46
4.2 Conclusion	58
CHAPTER 5 THE EFFECT OF CD AND NI ON THE CULTIVAI	BLE SEED
ENDOPHYTIC COMMUNITY OF AGROSTIS CAPILLARIS	61
5.1 Results	61
5.1.1 Optimization of the sterilization protocol	61
5.1.2 Isolation of seed endophytes	61
5.2 Discussion	65
5.3 Conclusion	68
CHAPTER 6 THE EFFECTS OF THE GROWTH SUBSTRATE C	N
CULTIVABLE AND TOTAL ENDOPHYTIC COMMUNITIES OF A	RABIDOPSIS
THALIANA	71
6.1 Results and discussion	71
6.2 Conclusion	77
Supplementary data	79
SECTION 2 INOCULATION EXPERIMENTS	83
Abstract	84
	04
CHAPTER 7 PLANT GROWTH PROMOTING CAPACITY OF S SEED ENDOPHYTES OF ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA AND AGRO	SELECTED STIS
	85
CAPILLARIS	00

7.2 N	laterials and methods	88						
7.2.1	7.2.1 Range finding experiment 8							
7.2.2 Growth promotion screening tests and inoculation experiments								
7.2.3 Metal extraction								
7.2.4 Statistical analysis								
7.3 Results								
7.3.1 Range finding experiment								
7.3.2 Growth promotion screening tests and inoculation experiments								
7.4 Discussion and conclusion								
СНАРТЕ	R 8 FEATURES AFFECTING COLONIZATION AND							
INOCUL	ATION SUCCESS	101						
8.1 I	ntroduction	101						
8.2 N	laterials and methods	103						
8.2.1	8.2.1 Growth curve							
8.2.2	Bacterial motility and chemotaxis	103						
8.2.3	Pectinase assay	104						
8.2.4	Plant growth promotion and colonization efficiency	105						
8.2.5 BOX-PCR fingerprinting 1								
8.2.6 Statistical analysis								
8.3 Results and discussion								
8.4 Conclusion 1								
СНАРТЕ	R 9 GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND FUTURE							
PERSPECTIVES 11								
APPENDIX								
Appendix A								
REFERENCES 1								
SCIENTIFIC OUTPUT 14								

# CHAPTER 1 Introduction to plant-bacteria interactions

Bacteria can interact with plants and impact their growth in many ways. They can bind to roots (rhizosphere bacteria), leaves (phyllosphere bacteria) or are located within plant tissues (endophytes) (Glick *et al.*, 2007). Some bacteria can establish an active relationship with their host and promote plant growth and health both directly as well as indirectly. In turn, plants provide the bacteria with nutrients and protect them from environmental stresses.

## 1.1 Direct plant growth promoting mechanisms

There are several ways in which plant-associated bacteria can improve plant growth. They can produce phytohormones that regulate the growth of their host, increase the availability of several important plant nutrients or counteract stress-induced ethylene production. Bacteria can possess one or more of these mechanisms, and can use different mechanisms under different conditions.

# 1.1.1 Plant growth regulating compounds

**Auxins** influence almost every aspect of plant growth and development. They modulate responses to light and gravity, regulate root and shoot architecture, organ patterning and vascular development (Davies, 1995). Production of the auxin indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), from the precursor tryptophan, is widespread among plant-associated bacteria (Patten and Glick, 1996).

Several studies demonstrated that bacterial IAA plays a major role in the development of the host plant root system. Dobbelaere *et al.* (1999) showed that an IAA-producing strain of *Azospirillum* increased root hair formation in wheat. Primary root length of canola seedlings inoculated with an IAA-producing *Pseudomonas putida* increased with 35 to 50% compared to inoculation with an IAA-deficient mutant or non-inoculated plants (Patten and Glick, 2002). Also Long *et al.* (2008) found that root growth promotion of *Solanum nigrum* and *Nicotiana attenuata* was associated with IAA-producing bacterial isolates. More

recently, Masciarelli *et al.* (2013) reported that bacterial release of IAA was the main activator of early growth promotion in inoculated maize seedlings.

Gibberellins are a large family of plant growth regulators that are involved in a number of developmental and physiological processes, such as seed germination, root growth and root hair abundance, and flower and fruit growth (Pharis and King, 1985; Tanimoto, 1987). The biosynthetic pathway leading to gibberellin synthesis as well as the function of this hormone in bacteria remains obscure. Bacterial gibberellins seem to be secondary metabolites that play a role as signaling molecules towards the host plant (Bottini et al., 2004; Hershey et al., 2014). Gibberellins produced by plant-associated bacteria can influence the growth and development of their host plant. For example, Gutiérrez-Mañero et al. (2001) demonstrated that promotion of stem elongation in alder by 2 rhizobacteria could be attributed to their gibberellin production: the dwarf phenotype in alder seedlings induced by adding an inhibitor of the plant's gibberellin biosynthesis was reversed by adding extracts from media incubated with these bacteria. Recently, Khan et al. (2014) demonstrated that inoculation of tomato with an endophytic gibberellin producing Sphingomonas strain significantly increased plant growth.

**Cytokinins** regulate many aspects of plant development and growth in aboveground as well as below ground plant parts. They regulate apical meristem function, cambial activity and vascular differentiation, lateral root formation, leaf senescence and sink-source relationships (Argueso *et al.*, 2009; Werner and Schmülling, 2009). Cytokinins also mediate the responses to environmental cues such as light, availability of nutrients and water, and biotic and abiotic stresses (Werner and Schmülling, 2009). Arkhipova *et al.* (2007) demonstrated that inoculation with cytokinin-producing bacteria could compensate for the loss of natural cytokinins in drought induced plants by interfering with the suppression of shoot growth and the enhancement of root elongation normally seen in these plants. Also Ortíz-Castro *et al.* (2008) showed the involvement of bacterial cytokinin signaling in plant growth stimulation: they identified a cytokinin-producing *Bacillus* strain that inhibited primary root growth of *Arabidopsis thaliana* followed by an increase in the number of lateral roots and the length of root hairs.

2

In the absence of physiological contact with plants, bacterial **volatiles** can also trigger plant growth promotion. Due to the high complexity of the volatile blend produced by bacteria, not many components have been unequivocally identified as plant growth promotors. Xie *et al.* (2009) found that a *Bacillus* strain, producing a blend of more than 25 volatile components, augmented growth, photosynthetic capacity and seed-set of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Also Ryu *et al.* (2003) identified some bacterial strains that could enhance growth of *A. thaliana* by releasing volatile components, such as 2,3-butanediol and acetoin.

#### 1.1.2 Availability of nutrients

Iron is an essential nutrient for plants with a main function in the electrontransport chain during photosynthesis and respiration (Connolly and Guerinot, 2002). The availability of Fe to the plant is limited by the low rate at which inorganic iron minerals dissolve in the rhizosphere (Lindsay, 1995). During Fe deficiency, bacteria can produce low molecular weight chelating agents, called siderophores, which can scavenge Fe in solution, directly mobilize Fe from solid phase minerals and remove Fe from organic Fe complexes (Crowley, 2006). Siderophores can be divided in 4 classes: (1) phenol-catecholates which have the highest affinity for Fe but which are extremely labile, (2) hydroxamates which are produced by the common colonizers of the rhizosphere, (3) rhizobactin which is produced by Rhizobium and which is a highly effective Fe source for plants and (4) pyoverdines which are primarily produced by Pseudomonads and Azotobacter but which do not seem to have a major role as potential Fe sources for plants (Crowley, 2006). Sharma and Johri (2003) demonstrated that several siderophore producing strains of Pseudomonas were able to increase root and shoot biomass and decrease chlorosis in maize grown under Fe limiting conditions. Rungin et al. (2012) demonstrated that inoculation of rice and mungbean plants with a siderophore producing endophytic Streptomyces strain enhanced plant growth significantly compared to the untreated controls and siderophore-deficient mutant treatments.

**Phosphorus** (P) plays a major role in plant energy metabolism, biosynthesis of nucleic acids and membranes, photosynthesis, respiration, and regulation of a number of enzymes (Raghothama, 1999). Large amounts of P applied as

#### Chapter 1

fertilizer become unavailable to plants, accumulating in inorganic P fractions, which precipitate due to high reactivity with calcium, iron or aluminum, and organic P fractions that are immobilized in soil organic matter (Sanyal and De Datta, 1991; Gyaneshwar et al., 2002). Soil bacteria play a major role in soil P dynamics and subsequent availability of phosphate to plants. They can have the ability to solubilize inorganic P by reducing the pH, either by producing organic acids or by releasing protons (Gyaneshwar et al., 2002). Vyas and Gulati (2009) underlined the importance of bacterial phosphate solubilizing activity for plant growth promotion by demonstrating that treatment with an organic acidproducing Pseudomonas increased growth and P content in maize. To be available to plants, organic P fractions must be hydrolyzed by phosphatases, which are predominantly produced by soil microorganisms, although plant roots possess limited phosphatase activity (Richardson, 1994). The growth and P nutrition of several pasture plants was improved after inoculation with a cultured population of total soil microorganisms as well as with a specific isolate that was selected for its ability to release P from phytate (Richardson et al., 2001). Also Idriss et al. (2001) showed strong evidence that bacterial phytase activity is important in plant growth stimulation under P limitation: a phytase-producing Bacillus was able to stimulate growth of maize seedlings under phosphate limitation in the presence of phytate, while a phytase-negative mutant strain did not stimulate plant growth.

The ultimate reservoir of soil **nitrogen** (N) is the atmosphere, where the very stable molecule dinitrogen is the predominant gas (Stevenson and Cole, 1999). Nitrogen is very important as it is a central element in proteins and nucleic acids. Nevertheless, most soils are deficient in N and application of fertilizer is inefficient. Less than 50% of the applied urea is used by plants due to  $NH_3$  volatilization, denitrification and leaching to the groundwater (De Datta and Buresh, 1989; Garabet *et al.*, 1998). Diazotrophic bacteria can convert atmospheric N<sub>2</sub> to  $NH_3$ , a form of N that can be used by plants. In most cases, it concerns associative diazotrophs, which are growing in the rhizosphere, on the rhizoplane or in non-specialized intercellular spaces in plants (Vessey, 2003). Inoculation with these N<sub>2</sub>-fixing bacteria significantly increased chlorophyll content as well as the uptake of different macro- and micro-nutrients by red pepper (Islam *et al.*, 2013). Other studies on the beneficial association of N<sub>2</sub>-

<sup>4</sup> 

fixing bacteria and their host plant include *Burkholderia* and rice (Trân Van *et al.*, 2000), *Azotobacter* and wheat (Soliman *et al.*, 1995) and *Herbaspirillum* and sugarcane (Muthukumarasamy *et al.*, 1999). In some cases, the N<sub>2</sub>-fixing bacteria are living in specialized plant structures, called nodules. In these mutualistic symbioses, the transfer of fixed N from the bacteria to the plant is much higher due to the intimate association between both.

## 1.1.3 Counteracting stress-induced ethylene

Plant growth can be inhibited by a large variety of biotic and abiotic stresses, such as drought, pathogens or the presence of toxic contaminants. A general response of plants to stress is the production of ethylene, which occurs in 2 phases. In the first phase, a small amount of ethylene is produced which consumes the existing pool of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) within plant tissues (Robison et al., 2001). This peak initiates a protective response, for example transcription of pathogenesis-related genes (Stearns and Glick, 2003). In the second phase, a much larger amount of ethylene is produced due to increased transcription of ACC synthase genes. This peak activates processes that inhibit plant development and growth, such as senescence, chlorosis and abscission (Ciardi et al., 2000). The negative impact of this second ethylene peak can be counteracted by ACC deaminase produced by plant-associated bacteria (Li et al., 2000; Grichko and Glick, 2001; Belimov et al., 2005). This enzyme hydrolyzes ACC into ammonia and a-ketobutyrate (Hontzeas et al., 2006). As ACC is the immediate precursor for ethylene, lowering the level of ACC in the plant also lowers the amount of ethylene that can be produced. Bal et al. (2013) demonstrated that inoculation of rice with ACC deaminase-producing rhizobacteria increased root and shoot length and biomass, and enhanced shoot chlorophyll content.

## 1.2 Indirect plant growth promoting mechanisms

The ability of plant growth promoting bacteria to act as biocontrol agents against phytopathogens and thus indirectly improve plant growth may be due to different mechanisms including competition for space and nutrients, antibiosis, iron-chelating siderophores, production of hydrolytic and detoxifying enzymes, and induction of plant defense mechanisms.

#### 1.2.1 Competition for space and nutrients

The root surface and surrounding rhizosphere are nutrient-rich niches attracting many microorganisms, including phytopathogens that can infect the host and lead to disease. Competition for these niches and nutrients is a fundamental mechanism by which plant-associated bacteria improve plant health and growth (Duffy, 2001). Ryan and Kinkel (1997) suggested that the suppressing effect of certain *Streptomyces* strains on potato scab caused by *Streptomyces scabies* involves density-dependent interactions between these antagonists as the ability of the suppressive strain to increase its population was hindered at high inoculum doses of the pathogen.

#### 1.2.2 Synthesis of allelochemicals

A variety of **antibiotics** have been identified that are produced by plantassociated bacteria. These biocontrol strains not only exhibit a wide range of diversity in the type but also in the number of antibiotics produced, with many of these molecules having broad-spectrum activity. Some examples of antibiotics produced by bacterial biocontrol agents are 2,4-diacetylphloroglucinol, phenazines, oomycin A, zwittermycin A, pyoluteorin, pyrrolnitrin, kanosamine and xanthobaccins (Raaijmakers *et al.*, 2002).

Under Fe-limiting conditions, plant-associated bacteria can produce **siderophores**, which have a very high affinity for Fe<sup>3+</sup>. They can deprive pathogenic fungi and bacteria from Fe, thereby restricting their growth (Whipps, 2001). The role of siderophores in biocontrol of plant pathogens was first demonstrated with pseudobactin, a siderophore produced by *Pseudomonas* strain B10 that rendered soils inoculated with *Fusarium oxysporum* or *Gaeumannomyces graminis* disease-suppressive (Kloepper *et al.*, 1980a). Yu *et al.* (2011) found that a siderophore-producing *Bacillus subtilis* strain reduced the incidence of *Fusarium* wilt in pepper, while increasing plant growth.

Some microorganisms can also attack pathogens by secreting cell wall **hydrolases**. The production of chitinase appeared crucial for *Serratia* 

6

*marcescens* to suppress *Sclerotium rolfsii* (Ordentlich *et al.*, 1988) and for *Streptomyces* and *Paenibacillus* to antagonize *Fusarium oxysporum* (Singh *et al.*, 1999). Lee *et al.* (2012) demonstrated the synergistic effect of chitinase, protease, glucanase and lipase produced by a strain of *Streptomyces cavourensis* against *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* infecting pepper plants. Another mechanism of biological control is the **detoxification** of pathogen virulence factors. Some bacteria can detoxify albicidin which is produced by *Xanthomonas albilineans* (Walker *et al.*, 1988; Basnayake and Birch, 1995; Zhang and Birch, 1997) and hydrolyse fusaric acid, a toxin produced by *Fusarium* species (Toyoda *et al.*, 1991), or they are able to quench quorum-sensing molecules thereby blocking the expression of pathogen virulence genes (Dong *et al.*, 2000; Molina *et al.*, 2003).

## 1.2.3 Induction of plant defense mechanisms

Priming plants with certain bacteria can induce systemic resistance (ISR) against a broad range of pathogens, including fungi, bacteria, viruses and sometimes even nematodes and insects (Ramamoorthy et al., 2001). Plant growth promoting bacteria can activate the plant defense mechanisms without causing visible symptoms (Van Loon et al., 1995). Changes occurring in plants with induced systemic resistance are (1) strengthening of cell walls (Benhamou et al., 1996), (2) increased levels of enzymes such as chitinase and peroxidase (Chen et al., 2000), (3) enhanced production of antimicrobial phytoalexins (van Peer et al., 1991; Verhagen et al., 2010) and (4) increased expression of stressrelated genes (Timmusk and Wagner, 1999). Cartieaux et al. (2003) found that various genes involved in plant protection against pathogen attack and oxidative stress linked to infections were activated in Arabidopsis thaliana after inoculation with Pseudomonas thivervalensis. The hypothesis that prior colonization by this Pseudomonas strain could induce ISR was confirmed by challenging the inoculated plants with *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato, which normally causes leaf speck disease on A. thaliana.

#### 1.3 The bacterial microbiome of Arabidopsis thaliana

*Arabidopsis thaliana* is a widely used model organism in plant biology due to its short generation time, small size and self-pollinating capacity (Koornneef and Meinke, 2010). Moreover, it has a completely sequenced genome, it can be transformed efficiently using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, and a lot of mutants are available (Koornneef and Meinke, 2010). Nevertheless, knowledge about the bacterial microbiome of this model plant is scarce. As *A. thaliana* does not interact with mycorrhizal fungi or nodule-forming N<sub>2</sub>-fixing rhizobia, it could be an ideal candidate for a simplified study of plant-bacteria interactions (Rott, 2012).

Several authors studied the bacterial communities present in the rhizosphere, roots, phyllosphere and leaves of *A. thaliana*. Comparison of the detected communities remains difficult because different procedures are used, including cultivation-independent techniques, such as terminal restriction fragment length polymorphisms (T-RFLP), ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis (RISA), denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and pyrosequencing, as well as cultivation-dependent techniques.

Some authors found only a weak rhizosphere effect in *A. thaliana*: the bacterial communities in soil and rhizosphere resembled each other but were different from the community present in the root endophytic compartment (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012; Lundberg *et al.*, 2012). However, Bressan *et al.* (2009) and Micallef *et al.* (2009a, b) found a significant change in the rhizosphere community compared to the bulk soil. Nevertheless, this difference between rhizosphere and bulk soil seems to disappear towards the end of the *A. thaliana* life cycle probably due to a decrease in rhizodeposition (Micallef *et al.*, 2009b). The most detected bacterial taxa in the *A. thaliana* rhizosphere are members of the Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Acidobacteria and Firmicutes (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014; Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012; Lundberg *et al.*, 2012; Micallef *et al.*, 2009a).

In general, the root endophytic community seems to be enriched for Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014; Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012; Lundberg *et al.*, 2012; Bressan *et al.*, 2009). Among the Proteobacteria, mainly *Rhizobiaceae*, *Burkholderiales*, *Comamonadaceae*, *Rhodocyclales*, *Pseudomonadaceae*,

8

*Xanthomonadaceae* and *Moraxellaceae* are detected (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014, Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012; Lundberg *et al.*, 2012, Bressan *et al.*, 2009). *Streptomycetaceae* and *Flavobacteriaceae* are the families that are most observed among respectively the Actinobacteria and Bacteroidetes (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014; Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012; Lundberg *et al.*, 2012).

Bulgarelli *et al.* (2012) found that several plant cell wall features are sufficient as colonization cues, while additional cues from metabolically active cells are necessary for *A. thaliana* specific selection of soil bacteria. It is possible that each separate bacterial lineage responds to these host-derived cues, or that interactions among bacteria enable selective advantage for colonization of certain lineages (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014). Some bacterial phyla seem to be depleted in the endophytic root microbiome compared to the rhizosphere: they can be actively excluded from the host plant, outcompeted by other endophytic colonizers or metabolically unable to colonize the endophytic compartment (Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012; Lundberg *et al.*, 2012).

Besides the core microbiome, which provides retrievable functions independent of environmental or host parameters, there also seems to be an environment and host-species specific subcommunity (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014). Soil type seems to be the most important environmental parameter as it provides the start inoculum as well as the nutrients available for plants (Schlaeppi *et al.*, 2014; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012). Micallef *et al.* (2009a) found that different *A. thaliana* accessions have different exudation patterns and by consequence attract different bacterial assemblages. This was also demonstrated by Badri *et al.* (2009) who found that an ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporter mutant of *A. thaliana* had a changed exudation pattern and associated rhizospheric bacterial community in comparison to the wild type.

Glucosinolates and their hydrolysis products seem to be an important factor for microbial selection in the rhizosphere and root environment of *Brassicaceae*: Alphaproteobacteria, and especially *Rhizobium*, in the rhizosphere and roots of *A. thaliana* were influenced by changing levels of glucosinolates (Bressan *et al.*, 2009). Glucosinolates and their hydrolysis products can serve as nutritional substrates but can also have anti-microbial properties (Bressan *et al.*, 2009). In general, the effect of the host's innate immune system on the indigenous plant-

9

#### Chapter 1

associated bacterial community remains obscure. Doornbos *et al.* (2011) detected a lower number of cultivable bacteria in the rhizosphere of *A. thaliana* genotypes affected in jasmonic acid-, ethylene- and salicylic acid-related defense signaling, however this effect was soil type-dependent. Chemical activation of systemic acquired resistance (SAR) or induced systemic resistance (ISR) had no effect on the number of cultivable bacteria and total community composition, based on DGGE fingerprints, in the rhizosphere (Doornbos *et al.*, 2011). By contrast, Hein *et al.* (2008) found changes in the rhizospheric communities as a result of SAR activation in *A. thaliana* based on T-RFLP profiles. Remarkably, the mutant that lacked the ability to undergo SAR had less rhizosphere diversity than the mutant with constitutive salicylic acid-dependent defense system on the leaf endophytic and epiphytic communities of *A. thaliana*, where salicylic acid-mediated defenses reduced endophytic diversity, while jasmonic acid-related defenses increased epiphytic diversity.

Comparable to the root endophytic community, also the leaf endophytic community contains mainly Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013; Kniskern *et al.*, 2007). *Pseudomonas, Sphingomonas, Xanthomonas* and *Agrobacterium* were abundantly detected among the Proteobacteria present in leaves, while *Flavobacterium* and *Bacillus* were the most abundant genera among respectively the Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013; Kniskern *et al.*, 2007).

Bodenhausen *et al.* (2013) found many of the same genera in roots and leaves of *A. thaliana* pointing towards a similar source. Most probably, seeds are colonized from the soil, and bacteria colonize the roots and leaves as the plant grows (Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013). Alternatively, rain splashing off the soil can bring soil bacteria into contact with the leaves. However, this route of endophytic colonization is less likely as the richness of epiphytes on the leaves is lower than that of the endophytes, suggesting that bacteria are probably migrating from the roots to the leaves (Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013).

The *A. thaliana* phyllosphere community is mainly composed of members of the Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013; Reisberg *et al.*, 2013; Reisberg *et al.*, 2012; Delmotte *et al.*, 2009; Kniskern *et al.*, 2007). Especially *Pseudomonas* and *Sphingomonas* appear to be

abundant in the leaf epiphytic community (Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013; Reisberg *et al.*, 2013; Reisberg *et al.*, 2012; Delmotte *et al.*, 2009). There seems to be a core phyllospheric community which is complemented by plant-line specific communities, as was shown by epicuticular leaf wax composition mutants of *A. thaliana* (Reisberg *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, using a metaproteomics study, Delmotte *et al.* (2009) found some common adaptation mechanisms among the phyllosphere bacteria, which were related to carbon and nitrogen metabolism, motility and stress resistance.

It is obvious that information on the endophytic and epiphytic communities of *A. thaliana* roots and leaves remains scarce, and that information on the seed-associated bacterial community seems to be completely absent. Nevertheless, these bacteria could be important during seed preservation, germination and plant growth.

## 1.4 The potential of seed endophytes

Truyens S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2015. Bacterial seed endophytes: genera, vertical transmission and interaction with plants. Environmental Microbiology Reports 7(1): 40-50.

Seeds represent a remarkable phase in the life cycle of spermatophytes: they can persist for years in a dormant state and, when the appropriate conditions are met, develop into a new plant (Nelson, 2004). Seeds can benefit from seed-associated microorganisms as these can play a role in seed preservation and preparation of the environment for germination (Chee-Sanford *et al.*, 2006). When seeds start to germinate, they imbibe water and start to secrete exudates that attract bacteria which colonize the spermosphere, rhizosphere and the seedling where they can directly and indirectly promote plant growth and health (Nelson, 2004). Direct plant growth promoting mechanisms involve nitrogen fixation, mobilization of nutrients such as phosphorus and iron by production of organic acids and siderophores, production of phytohormones such as auxins and cytokinins, and suppression of stress ethylene production by 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) deaminase (Weyens *et al.*, 2009a). Indirect growth promotion occurs by preventing the growth or activity of

#### Chapter 1

phytopathogens through competition for space and nutrients, antibiosis, production of hydrolytic enzymes, inhibition of toxins and induction of plant defense mechanisms (Weyens *et al.*, 2009a).

Apart from bacteria present in the seed surroundings, bacteria that are already present inside the seed can be equally important for the evolution of the microbial community of the seedling (Johnston-Monje and Raizada, 2011). Many seeds carry a diversity of endophytes (Table 1.1). Bacterial endophytes are described by Azevedo and Araújo (2007) as all bacteria that may or may not be successfully cultured, that internally colonize the plant and do not cause apparent damage and/or visible external structures.

Seed endophytes are of particular interest as they are transmitted from generation to generation. By being seed-borne, endophytes assure their presence in new plants. This vertical transmission, defined as the direct transfer from parent to progeny, should select against pathogenicity and favour mutualism as these endosymbionts depend entirely on their host for survival and reproduction (Ewald, 1987; Rudgers *et al.*, 2009). At the same time, the host plant benefits by providing their progeny with beneficial endosymbionts (Ewald, 1987).

Many studies have focused on fungal endophytes in seeds, while reports concerning the presence and role of bacterial seed endophytes during germination and seedling development are less numerous. Below, an overview is given of the bacterial seed endophytes that have been isolated from different plant species. The colonization routes of these endophytes, their localization inside the seeds and their mode of transmission are discussed. Further, their role and fate during germination and seedling development are reviewed. Finally, examples of seed endophytes with direct plant growth promoting capacities or biocontrol properties are discussed.

## 1.4.1 Frequently reported bacterial seed endophytes

The conditions within the seed change during seed maturation and this can affect which bacteria will be able to inhabit the seed. By consequence, some characteristics are typically found in seed endophytes and not in endophytes isolated from other plant tissues such as roots or shoots. The accumulation of starch and loss of water during the maturation process seem to favor seed endophytes that are tolerant to a high osmotic pressure (Ebeltagy et al., 2000; Mano et al., 2006). Endospore formation can also be an important feature for seed colonizers as this protects them from the changes that are happening inside the seed (Mano et al., 2006; Compant et al., 2011). Seed endophytes often seem to possess amylase activity in order to utilize starch and resume growth after long-term survival inside the seeds (Mano et al., 2006). Some seed endophytes were also reported to be able to use phytate, which is the main storage form of phosphorus in seeds, as a source of phosphate (López-López et al., 2010). Moreover, Okunishi et al. (2005) and Ebeltagy et al. (2000) found that all the seed endophytes from rice seeds were motile which enables them to migrate into the seeds before they harden. Johnston-Monje and Raizada (2011) reported that most of the bacterial isolates from seeds of different maize genotypes were able to solubilize phosphorus, secrete acetoin and fix nitrogen. Also ACC deaminase activity and antibiosis were moderately conserved among seed endophytes from different maize genotypes (Johnston-Monje and Raizada, 2011). These conserved endophyte properties could reflect common needs of the host seeds and their spermosphere (Nelson, 2004).

The seed maturation process not only selects bacteria based on their phenotypic properties, also the diversity of bacterial genera, at least of the cultivable ones, seems to be influenced. Mano *et al.* (2006) found that there was a dominance of Gram-negative isolates in the early stages of seed development, but more Gram-positive isolates appeared when the seeds were maturing. In the very early stages they found mainly *Methylobacterium spp.* and *Sphingomonas spp.*, while later on *Bacillus spp.* and *Curtobacterium spp.* were more abundant (Mano *et al.*, 2006).

Until now, 131 bacterial genera from 4 different phyla and 25 different plants or plant species have been reported as naturally occurring seed endophytes (Table 1.1 and references herein). The most predominant seed endophytes belong to the Proteobacteria (80 genera) and mainly the  $\gamma$ -Proteobacteria (41 genera). Also Actinobacteria and Firmicutes are well represented with 25 and 20 genera respectively. The phylum Bacteroidetes is represented by only six genera. It seems as if the phylum composition of bacterial seed endophytes is a good reflection of the endophytic phyla found in other plant tissues. In general,

#### Chapter 1

Proteobacteria, and especially γ-Proteobacteria, were found to be the dominant endophytic phylum isolated from a wide variety of plant species, while Actinobacteria, Firmicutes and certainly Bacteroidetes were much less represented (Rosenblueth and Martínez-Romero, 2006).

Some studies considered only the cultivable strains, while others investigated the total bacterial community present in seeds. To identify the cultivable strains, the more recent studies used 16S rDNA sequencing (e.g. Ferreira *et al.*, 2008; Mastretta *et al.*, 2009) while earlier studies used fatty acid methyl ester (FAME) profile analysis (Granér *et al.*, 2003; Vega *et al.*, 2005) or biochemical methods (Mundt and Hinkle, 1976; Kremer, 1987; Dunleavy, 1989). To identify the total bacterial community, 16S rRNA libraries in combination with 16S rRNA gene sequencing (e.g. Johnston-Monje and Raizada, 2011; Liu *et al.*, 2012) or polymerase chain reaction-based differential denaturing gel electrophoresis (PCR-DGGE) whether or not in combination with 16S rDNA sequencing were used (e.g. Hardoim *et al.*, 2012).

Although several of the studies listed in table 1.1 had the description of the seed bacterial community as a primary objective, others discovered seed endophytes while studying other plant-associated bacterial communities or other seed characteristics. This might explain the low numbers of bacterial genera recovered from some types of seeds as well as the differences in community size. The cultivation of seed endophytes is also challenging because of the specific habitat they are derived from. Seed endophyte community sizes range from 55 cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> in bean (Rosenblueth *et al.*, 2010) to as high as 10<sup>7</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> in rapeseed (Granér *et al.*, 2003). In general, common bacterial genera reported in seeds of very different plant species are *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas*. Also *Paenibacillus*, *Micrococcus*, *Staphylococcus*, *Pantoea* and *Acinetobacter* are often found inhabiting the seed.

Plant	Actinobacteria	Bacteroidetes	Firmicutes	<b>a</b> -proteobacteria	β-proteobacteria	<b>Y-</b> proteobacteria	ð-proteobacteria	References
Norway spruce	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	Cankar <i>et al.</i> , 2005
(Picea abies) Grape vine (Vitis vinifera)	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	Compant et al., 2011
Eucalyptus	1	0	3	3	0	0	0	Ferreira <i>et al.</i> , 2008
(Eucaryptus) Rice (Oryza sativa)	11	1	3	4	0	9	0	Mukhopadhyay <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Ebeltagy <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Bacilio- Jiménez <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Cottyn <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Okunishi <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Mano <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Tripathi <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Kaga <i>et al.</i> , 2009: Ruiz <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Hardoim <i>et al.</i> , 2012
Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris)	4	0	4	3	0	2	0	Pleban et al., 1995; Pérez-Ramírez et al., 1998; López- López et al., 2010: Rosenblueth et al., 2010
( <i>Miastians</i> tobacum)	1	0	1	0	0	4	0	Mastretta <i>et al.</i> , 2009
(Nicoliana labacum) Cactus (Pachycereus pringlei)	0	0	2	0	0	3	0	Puente <i>et al.</i> , 2009b
Coffee (Coffee arabica)	3	0	1	0	1	5	0	Vega <i>et al.</i> , 2005
(Brassica papus)	1	1	2	0	2	4	0	Granér <i>et al.</i> , 2003
(Zea mays)	18	5	14	16	17	33	1	Dunleavy, 1989; Rijavec <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Rosenblueth <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Johnston-Monje and Raizada, 2011; Liu <i>et al.</i> , 2012;
Ash ( <i>Fraxinus</i> )	3	0	4	0	0	3	0	Donnarumma <i>et al.</i> , 2010

Table 1.1: Summary of the known bacterial seed endophytes isolated from different plant species.

Chapter 1

Soybean	1	1	1	2	0	2	1	Kremer, 1987; Dunleavy, 1989; Oehrle et al., 2000
(Glycine max) Wheat	З	0	2	0	0	4	0	Coombs and France 2003. Ringelberg et al. 2012
(Triticum aestivum)	0	0	2	0	U	т	Ŭ	
Sugar beet	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	Dent <i>et al.</i> , 2004
(Beta vulgaris)	_	_		_	_	_	-	
Garden pea	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	Smerda <i>et al.</i> , 2005
(Pisum sativum) Pumpkin	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	Fürnkranz <i>et al.</i> 2012
(Cucurbita pepo)	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	
Peanut	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	Sobolev et al., 2013
(Arachis hypogaea)								
Cauliflower	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	Pleban <i>et al.</i> , 1995
(Brassica oleacea)	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	
Wild mustard	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	Pleban <i>et al.</i> , 1995
(Sinapis ai vensis) Tomato	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	Xu et al 2014
(Lycopersicum	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	
esculentum)								
Strawberry	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	Kukkurainen <i>et al.</i> , 2005
(Fragaria)								
Thale cress	3	0	3	5	0	1	0	Truyens <i>et al.</i> , 2013
(Arabidopsis thaliana)	4	0	2	0	0	2	0	Hards at al. 2004. Commo December at al. 2012. Terrare
Grasses	I	0	3	0	0	3	0	Ikeda et al., 2006; Gagne-Bourgue et al., 2013; Iruyens
Phleum pretense								<i>et al.</i> , 2014
Panicum virgatum:								
Agrostis capillaris)								
Broadleaf weed species	0	1	1	0	1	7	0	Kremer, 1987
Herbaceous and woody	5	2	3	0	2	7	0	Mundt and Hinkle, 1976
species								

#### 1.4.2 Seed endophyte dynamics

#### Sources of seed endophytes

The majority of the bacterial taxa detected inside seeds were similar to common soil strains. Plant roots are exposed to bacteria in soil during development and growth, enabling entry of bacteria into the plants and making this an obvious colonization route towards the seeds. Several bacterial traits are important for plant colonization and endophytic capacity. Chemotaxis-induced motility leading to root colonization is probably one of the most important mechanisms determining the endophytic potential of soil bacteria (Bacilio-Jiménez et al., 2003). For example, cheA or pilA mutants of several Pseudomonas strains defective in flagella-driven chemotaxis or twitching motility showed reduced competitive root colonizing abilities (Camacho Carvajal, 2001; de Weert et al., 2002). The next step in the colonization route towards the seeds requires bacteria to enter the root and become endophytes either through passive penetration at the root tip, side root emergence or pathogen entry sites, or through active penetration using cell wall degrading enzymes, such as cellulase and pectinase (Hurek et al., 1994; Ebeltagy et al., 2000; James et al., 2002). Recently, also transport proteins for uptake of plant-synthesized nutrients, secretion and delivery systems involved in switching from a free-living to an endophytic life style, and transcriptional regulators for metabolic adaptation and quorum sensing have been shown to be determinants of competent endophytes (Sessitsch et al., 2012; Ali et al., 2014). Moreover, detoxification mechanisms used in the protection against oxidative stress induced after host infection were found to be associated with endophytic behavior (Sessitsch et al., 2012; Ali et al., 2014). Colonization of the plant interior appears to be very attractive as plant nutrients can be used more efficiently without competition with the very high numbers of other bacteria colonizing the root exterior (Rosenblueth and Martínez-Romero, 2006). Moreover, endophytic bacteria seem to be better protected from abiotic stresses compared with rhizospheric bacteria (Hallmann et al., 1997). Once inside the plant, some endophytes are able to spread systemically and ultimately reach the flowers, fruits and seeds. Some endophytes use the root xylem vessels of their hosts where they are assisted by the movement of their flagella and by the plant transpiration stream (James et al., 2002; Compant et al., 2005), while others use the nutrient-rich intercellular spaces, but this requires the secretion of cell wall degrading enzymes (Dong et al., 1994). The bacteria that become seed endophytes are not exclusively soil derived. Alternative entry points might be the caulosphere, the phyllosphere, the anthosphere as well as the carposphere from where they can colonize plant reproductive organs (James et al., 2002; Berg et al., 2005; Compant et al., 2010; 2011). Some bacteria can already interact with seeds present in soil, thereby increasing their chances of subsequent plant colonization. The amount and composition of seed exudates released during imbibition and germination influences the bacterial community that can be supported in the spermosphere (Schenck and Stotzky, 1975; Roberts et al., 2009). The pfkA gene, encoding a phosphofructokinase, seems to be very important for colonization of seeds, which release only a limited amount of reduced carbon sources (Roberts et al., 1999). Also fimbriae and several adhesion factors, efflux pumps, calcium-binding proteins and transport systems involved in iron acquisition seem to be involved in bacterial seed attachment (Hood et al., 1998; Espinosa-Urgel et al., 2000; Molina et al., 2005; 2006). Several other factors can influence the bacterial communities of seeds. A contaminant-dependent effect on the genotypic and phenotypic characteristics of the cultivable seed endophytic community was reported in Arabidopsis thaliana and Agrostis capillaris (Truyens et al., 2013; 2014; chapter 4 and 5). Also differences in seed endophytic communities were found between different cotton cultivars (Adams and Kloepper, 2002) and between different maize genotypes (Liu et al., 2012). Certain plant genes, such as the receptor-like kinase shr5 or members of the ethylene signaling pathway, could regulate the plants' interaction with bacteria and determine whether the bacteria are able to endophytically colonize the plant (Vinagre et al., 2006; Cavalcante et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2012).

#### Vertical transmission, seed location and seed quality

Bacterial endophytes can get in seeds in different ways. They can be transmitted from the vegetative parts of the plant to the seed via vascular connections from the maternal plant through the funiculus and chalaza into the seed endosperm as well as via the micropyle (Ivanoff, 1933; Rand and Cash, 1933; Samish and Etinger-Tulczynska, 1963; Agarwal and Sinclair, 1996). Endophytes can also be transferred through gametes directly, colonizing the resulting embryo and endosperm (Agarwal and Sinclair, 1996; Madmony et al., 2005; Malfanova et al., 2013). Finally, vertical transfer of bacteria might also be possible if shoot meristems, which later become reproductive meristems, are colonized as these give eventually rise to ovules and thus seeds (Pirttilä et al., 2000) (Fig. 1.1). Transfer of endophytes from mature fruits to seeds was shown by Puente et al. (2009b). They found bacteria in the endocarp, mesocarp, exocarp, on the surface and at the embryonic site of cactus seeds. Most bacteria found inside seeds were associated with the seed husk, seed coat or cortex (Mukhopadhyay et al., 1996; Cankar et al., 2005; Puente et al., 2009b). Some endophytes were also found in endosperm and embryonic tissues (Mukhopadhyay et al., 1996; Cankar et al., 2005). Compant et al. (2011) used fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) to demonstrate the presence of Bacillus spp. along the cell walls of some cells inside grapevine seeds. FISH was also used by Pirttilä et al. (2000) to show the presence of bacteria in (ovuliferous) pine buds. They detected bacterial RNA particularly in the cells of scale primordia and in the epithelial cells of the resin ducts. Bacterial RNA was less abundant in the apical meristem itself, but some could be found in the outermost cells and in the cells of the developing stem, right below the apical meristem (Pirttilä et al., 2000). Vertical transmission of bacterial endophytes has already been suggested in several plant species. Gagne-Bourgue et al. (2013) described the presence of the same Bacillus spp. and Microbacterium spp. in seeds harvested in 1 year and switchgrass plants grown from these seeds the next year. Also, Ringelberg et al. (2012) suggested that seeds are a major contributor of mature wheatgrass endophytes as they recovered the same genera from seeds and from mature plant tissues. Moreover, the same Enterobacter spp. were reported in seeds of consecutive rice generations (Mukhopadhyay et al., 1996). Johnston-Monje and Raizada (2011) demonstrated in maize that a core microbiota, consisting of the same bacterial species, exists which is conserved even across boundaries of evolution, human selection and following cross-continental migration. Also Liu et al. (2012) found continuity of endophytic bacterial species from parental to offspring maize seeds. Moreover, the seed endophytic community of genetically related maize hybrids consisted of similar species and genera (Liu et al., 2012).

#### Chapter 1

Correspondence analysis of the cultivable endophytic communities of roots of Brassica napus grown on a Cd, Zn and Pb-contaminated field and a noncontaminated control field revealed a correlation between endophytic communities of roots between fields, suggesting that plants on the two sites contained similar obligate endophytes possibly derived from a common seed endophytic community (Croes et al., 2013). The above mentioned findings are all based on 16S rRNA gene sequencing generating only genus and species level information. Confirmation of the vertical transmission of bacterial endophytes can only be obtained if strain information is available. Nevertheless, the possible existence of vertical transmission is very interesting as it enables a plant with an endophytic community to pass bacteria established with beneficial characteristics to their offspring (Ferreira et al., 2008). Conserved bacteria that are vertically transmitted point towards an evolved form of mutualism or benign parasitism with their host plant (Ewald, 1987; Johnston-Monje and Raizada, 2011). For example, Ferreira et al. (2008) suggested that vertical transmission of endophytes might maintain the stability of bacterial communities in eucalyptus plants. On the contrary, it could even be possible that seed endophytic bacteria use seeds for their own dispersion as many of these bacteria are ubiquitous in different environmental niches (Hardoim et al., 2012) (Fig. 1.1). The same taxa indeed were commonly found in the endosphere of rice (Okunishi et al., 2005; Mano et al., 2006), maize (Johnston-Monje and Raizada, 2011) and leguminous plants such as soybean (Oehrle et al., 2000), and in the soil where these plants were growing.

A possible link exists between the endophyte content of seeds and seed quality. A high quality seed lot is disease-free and shows a high germination percentage and high vigor (Perry, 1978; Dent *et al.*, 2004). Hill *et al.* (2005) demonstrated that fungal endophyte infection rates of tall fescue seedlings were lower when seeds were harvested before physiological maturity. Seeds harvested before maturity showed a lower germination percentage and a reduced seedling vigor (Hill *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, certain seed storage conditions such as increased temperature or humidity can reduce fungal endophyte viability in tall fescue seeds (Hill and Roach, 2009). Also the amount of bacterial endophytes that can be isolated decreases with the duration of seed storage (Mundt and Hinkle, 1976; Bacon and Hinton, 1996; Cankar *et al.*, 2005; Mastretta, 2007). The seed
sterilization protocol used before sowing was a major determinant of the amount of bacterial endophytes found in seeds of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Truyens *et al.*, 2013). Using a mild seed sterilization protocol increased the homogeneity of germination and reduced variability in plant growth (Truyens *et al.*, unpublished results). Also Holland and Polacco (1994) suggested that seed endophytes may be beneficial during germination as the rate of germination declined when bacteria were removed from seeds.



Figure 1.1: Schematic summary of colonization routes and determinants, transmission modes and functions of bacterial seed endophytes. After seed germination, the plant bacterial community is established from seed endophytes and from bacteria present in the external environment. Some of these bacteria could be transferred to the next generation of plants via the seeds. This would not only lead to dispersion of bacteria, but also ensures the transfer of beneficial bacterial characteristics to the next generation of plants.

### Role and fate of seed endophytes during germination and growth

Seed endophytes are believed to be capable of infecting the next generation of plants through 2 infection routes or a combination of both: (1) exiting the seed and then entering the plant via other places on the plant surface and (2) remaining inside the seed to be spread through plant growth or move within the

#### Chapter 1

plant tissue (Kaga *et al.*, 2009) (Fig. 1.1). A germinating seed starts to release organic molecules from the developing root system which leads to an increase in the numbers of bacteria compared to the low nutrient environment in the soil around the seed (Baker and Cook, 1974). Endophytic bacteria inhabiting the seeds have the advantage of rapid infection of the new generation of plants because they experience less competition with bacteria originating from the external environment for space and nutrients available in the host plant and because they are already adapted to living inside plant tissue (Kaga *et al.*, 2009; Hardoim *et al.*, 2012) (Fig. 1.1). Nevertheless, bacteria from the external environment will also colonize the host leading to shifts in bacterial community structure during seedling development (Hallmann *et al.*, 1997; Mahaffee and Kloepper, 1997).

In rice seeds, seed endophytes were important founders of the bacterial community present during the early plant growth stages (Hardoim *et al.*, 2012). They mainly colonize rice shoots, where there is less competition than in the roots, which are surrounded by large bacterial communities in soil. Some strains were even able to spread out into the rhizosphere and soil. In mature rice plants, endophytes originating from the seeds seemed to coexist with bacteria that originated from the external environment (Mano *et al.*, 2006). Also in bean it was demonstrated that seed-borne bacteria are able to multiply and persist in the seedlings as almost all bacterial genera isolated from seeds were also recovered from bean roots (López-López *et al.*, 2010).

Bacterial communities hosted by seeds can support the development of their host. Due to their metabolic diversity and depending on the local conditions, different beneficial bacterial functions can be stimulated thereby increasing plant fitness and giving the host a competitive advantage over other plants which can affect whole-ecosystem functioning (Klironomos, 2002). Puente *et al.* (2009b) found that the endophytic bacteria from cactus seeds contributed to rock weathering, soil formation and plant growth thereby supporting the establishment of cactus seedlings in barren desert areas without the need for acquiring bacteria from the environment. When these endophytic bacteria were removed from the seeds, seedling development was stopped.

Several authors have tried to determine the exact location of seed-borne bacteria inside the seedling using histological cuttings or green fluorescent

protein (gfp)-labelled seed endophytes. Puente *et al.* (2009b) found seed-borne endophytic bacteria mainly in the root cortex and the vascular system of cactus. In rice, some bacterial cells were localized in the root cortex, but the highest concentration was found in the stele (Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, 1996). A gfp-labelled *Pantoea sp.* inoculated on the seeds of *Eucalyptus* was carried into the embryo through breaks in the seed husk and continued to colonize the seedlings: the gfp-labelled strain was present on the rhizoplane, in the intercellular spaces of the root and in the interior of the stem xylem vessels (Ferreira *et al.*, 2008). Johnston-Monje and Raizada (2011) injected a gfp-labelled seed-borne *Pantoea* or *Enterobacter* strain into the stem of maize plants. They demonstrated that both strains were able to move systemically through vascular tissues: the *Pantoea* strain was found in the metaxylem vessels and the *Enterobacter* strain in phloem cells at the base of the stem. The latter was even able to exit the plant and colonize the rhizophare.

#### 1.4.3 Seed endophyte functions

Until now, only limited research is conducted to unravel the exact role and possible applications of seed endophytes. The existing studies mainly focus on the use of seed endophytes as plant growth promoting agents, while some also discuss their biocontrol potential. In general, the beneficial functions found in seed endophytes do not seem to be different from those found in endophytes isolated from other plant tissues.

### Direct plant growth promotion

Inoculating plants with bacteria isolated from seeds can increase plant growth, especially in suboptimal or harsh environmental conditions. Gagne-Bourge *et al.* (2013) showed that the inoculation of switchgrass seedlings with seed-borne *Bacillus* or *Microbacterium* strains improved plant growth compared to the non-inoculated controls. Both strains produced indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), cytokinins and volatiles such as butanediol and acetoin, and the *Bacillus* strain was able to solubilize phosphorus. Also, Xu *et al.* (2014) found a seed-borne *Bacillus* strain that improved the root and shoot growth of tomato, probably through the production of ACC deaminase and nitrogen fixation. Johnston-Monje and Raizada

(2011) used a potato bioassay to test the plant growth promoting ability of maize seed endophytes. They found a *Burkholderia* strain, producing ACC deaminase, that was able to improve potato shoot growth and a *Hafnia* strain, producing acetoin, that increased potato root growth. Seed endophytes of cactus allowed the growth of cactus seedlings in extreme conditions for at least a year without fertilization and without showing distress (Puente *et al.*, 2009a). These seed endophytes were able to release inorganic nutrients, such as phosphorus, from pulverized rock through the production of organic acids and possessed the capacity to fix nitrogen (Puente *et al.*, 2009b). Several other studies have assumed that the seed endophytes they have isolated are beneficial for the plant based on plant-growth promoting effects described in literature, but did not verify this experimentally (Cankar *et al.*, 2005; López-López *et al.*, 2010).

The plant growth promoting effect of seed endophytes in suboptimal/harsh environmental conditions can be exploited in practical applications such as phytoremediation. Mastretta *et al.* (2009) demonstrated that inoculation of tobacco with its seed endophytes improved biomass production under Cd exposure and increased plant Cd content compared to the non-inoculated plants due to increased uptake of essential nutrients from the growth medium. Also the inoculation of *Agrostis capillaris* with its seed endophytes, which were capable of producing ACC deaminase, IAA, siderophores and acetoin, able to solubilize phosphorus, and were tolerant to Cd, might be beneficial for its establishment during phytoextraction and phytostabilization of Cd-contaminated areas (Truyens *et al.*, 2014; chapter 5).

#### Biocontrol

Several of the endophytes isolated from seeds were found to possess anti-fungal properties. *Bacillus* and *Microbacterium* strains isolated from seeds of switchgrass inhibited the mycelial growth of fungal plant pathogens due to the production of several toxins such as surfactins and the lipopeptides iturin and mycobacilli (Gagne-Bourgue *et al.*, 2013). Among rice seed endophytes, the strongest anti-fungal properties against *Rhizoctonia solani*, *Pythium myriotyum*, *Guamannomyces graminis* and *Heterobasidium annosum* were found in 2 *Enterobacter* strains because of the production of a volatile anti-fungal

compound, probably ammonia, and/or the chitinolytic enzyme N-acetyl-β-Dglucosaminidase (Mukhopadhyay et al., 1996). Also Cottyn et al. (2001) detected anti-fungal activity among rice seed endophytes: nearly half of the antagonists of Rhizoctonia solani and Pyricularia grisea were Bacillus strains, but also in some of the Pantoea, Enterobacter, Stenotrophomonas, Xanthomonas, Acinetobacter, Paenibacillus and Cellulomonas strains antagonistic activity against one or both of these fungi was detected. In addition, Ruiz et al. (2011) reported anti-fungal activity against Curvularia sp., Fusarium oxysporum and Phytium ultimum in several strains of Pantoea, Microbacterium, Pseudomonas, Paenibacillus and Curtobacterium isolated from rice seeds. Besides the production of anti-fungal compounds and hydrolytic enzymes, also quorum sensing and the release of siderophores, properties often found in seed endophytes, could contribute to their anti-fungal activity (Ruiz et al., 2011; Sessitsch et al., 2012). The production of siderophores leads to competition with pathogens for iron (Loper and Henkels, 1999), while guorum-sensing molecules may participate in the interaction of plants with pathogens and symbionts by induction of plant gene expression (Mathesius et al., 2003).

### Conclusions and future research needs

Bacteria inhabiting seeds form an important group among the plant-associated bacteria. They are presumably present in seeds of all plant species and numerous bacterial genera of different phyla were reported as seed endophytes. They can play important roles during germination, seedling development and plant growth. As they possess plant growth promoting and biocontrol properties, the study of their application in diverse processes such as biofertilization, bioenergy production and bioremediation should be encouraged.

Most seed endophytes isolated until now are cultivable bacteria and several of them are accidentally discovered during a sidetrack of the main research issue. A large fraction of the bacterial endophytic community in seeds probably has unknown cultivation conditions or is in a viable but not cultivable state. Metagenomic studies will shed more light on this part of the seed endophytic community and provide a better understanding of the total bacterial communities present in seeds, both concerning the genera that are present as well as their phenotypic characteristics and possible role(s) in germination and plant development.

Until now, the studies suggesting vertical transmission of bacterial endophytes have used 16S rRNA gene sequencing, leading to identification at genus or species level. To confirm the existence of vertical transmission, techniques allowing to generate strain level identification, such as repetitive element palindromic PCR, single nucleotide polymorphism analysis or pulsed-field gel electrophoresis, should be applied in order to detect the presence of the same bacterial strains in consecutive plant generations (Lopez-Velasco *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, more research is needed focusing on the (genetic) determinants allowing seed colonization, seed endophyte dispersal and vertical transmission. Due to the unique seed environment and the selection process required for possible transfer to the next generation, seed endophytes often possess attractive characteristics that can be exploited in several biotechnological applications.

To use seed endophytes in agricultural, industrial or environmental applications, several questions still need to be addressed. The fate of seed endophytes during germination and plant development has to be elucidated: are they important founders of the newly established endophytic community or will they get (at least partly) outcompeted by soil bacteria? Moreover, are seed endophytes truly selected by the host plant to benefit the next generation or do these bacteria use seeds as a vector for their own dispersion and colonization of new environments? Also the evolutionary significance of these associations is not sufficiently clear yet: how can seed endophytes contribute to plant growth and development in ways that the plant cannot accomplish by itself? More fundamental knowledge is needed concerning their interactions with each other, with other plant-associated microorganisms (e.g. mycorrhiza) as well as with their host plant after inoculation. Especially seed endophytes from economically important crops, such as maize, rice or rapeseed, are worthwhile studying as they can be applied in biocontrol, biofertilization, bioenergy production and bioremediation. Finally, thorough research should be performed to unravel the changes that occur in the seed associated bacterial community due to seed maturation, storage time and storage conditions to guarantee the production of high quality seeds.

# CHAPTER 2 Scope and objectives

Transgenerational signaling through maternally derived compounds or epigenetic mechanisms allows plants to adapt in a fast and efficient manner to biotic and abiotic stresses. Recently, the plant microbiome emerged as a novel trait that extends the capacity of plants to adapt to the environment (Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2013). Due to the unique niche they occupy within the group of plant-associated bacteria, vertically transmitted endophytes are ideally suited to prepare the next generation of plants for certain conditions already present in the maternal environment. Seed endophytes are perfect candidates for use in agricultural, industrial or environmental applications. Nevertheless, knowledge on their fate and function during the life cycle of plants is still scarce. The general goal of this thesis was to better understand the factors that shape seed endophytic communities and the importance of seed endophytes for plant growth.

In the **first section**, several factors affecting seed endophytic communities are considered. The toxic metal Cd was chosen because a large area in the northeastern part of Belgium is contaminated with Cd due to the historic presence of zinc smelters (Hogervorst et al., 2007). Moreover, due to the diffuse nature of this contamination, bacteria-assisted phytoremediation could be a possible solution for clean-up of this contaminated area (Thewys et al., 2010). To study the impact of Cd on the seed endophytic community, a selection pressure was simulated in Arabidopsis thaliana in order to create 2 types of seeds: from plants that were exposed to 2 µM Cd during 8 subsequent generations (Cd seeds) and from plants that were grown in parallel for also 8 generations but never exposed to Cd (control seeds). The cultivable as well as the total endophytic communities of both seed types were isolated and the species composition was determined (chapter 4). The composition and characteristics of the seed endophytic communities of both seed types were again determined after 4 and 6 more generations to check if they remained stable.

To verify whether the selection pressure induced in the laboratory-grown *A*. *thaliana* was comparable with a selection pressure occurring in the field, the cultivable endophytic communities associated with seeds of *Agrostis capillaris* 

# Chapter 2

from a Cd/Ni contaminated field site and a non-contaminated field site were identified and characterized (**chapter 5**).

The seed endophytic communities of *A. thaliana* were also characterized after generations of bulking on sand and on a mixture of sand and potting soil, 2 commonly used substrates for production of seeds of *A. thaliana*, to determine the influence of the substrate type. The seeds harvested from plants growing on sand and potting soil were sown again, but this time on the same substrate to determine the influence of the seed type on the establishment of the plant endophytic community (**chapter 6**).

In the **second section**, inoculation experiments were performed to investigate the plant growth promoting properties of the isolated seed endophytes on their host plant. Using vertical agar plates and/or a hydroponic system, it was verified whether the *in vitro* plant growth promoting traits of *A. thaliana* and *A. capillaris* seed endophytes could be good indicators for *in planta* growth promotion (**chapter 7**). Several important features for inoculation success were studied in order to optimize plant colonization and plant growth promotion by the inoculated endophytes (**chapter 8**).

# SECTION 1 Factors affecting the seed endophytic community

# Abstract

Transgenerational adaptation is important to respond rapidly to environmental challenges and increase overall plant fitness. Besides well-known mechanisms such as epigenetic modifications, vertically transmitted endophytic bacteria could play a role in this process. They usually develop a mutualistic relationship with their host plant of which they can improve growth and health. In this part of the thesis, we wanted to find out whether plants are able to select which endophytic bacterial genera are transferred to its next generation.

First, we studied the cultivable and total endophytic communities of several generations of *Arabidopsis thaliana* seeds harvested from plants exposed to Cd or not. Not the genera that were present but rather their phenotypic characteristics were important as selection criteria for which bacteria are transferred to the next plant generation.

Next, we verified whether the changes detected in the lab-grown *A. thaliana* plants are also occuring in a field situation. Therefore the cultivable seed endophytes of *Agrostis capillaris* growing on a long-term Cd/Ni-contaminated experimental plot were compared with those originating from a non-contaminated plot. We observed plant- and contaminant-dependent effects on the community composition as well as on their phenotypic characteristics.

Finally, we determined the effect of 2 plant growth substrates, frequently used during production of *A. thaliana* seeds, on the cultivable and total endophytic communities. Despite differences in the soil bacterial communities, the seed and radicle endophytic communities were very similar, which suggests that plants are able to select their endophytes. The leaf endophytic community showed to be mainly derived from the environment and not from the seed. Moreover, it appeared that, concerning the endophytic communities, the genera that were most abundant in the cultivable bacterial community coincide with the genera frequently detected in the total bacterial community.

Understanding how different factors influence the seed endophytic community can help us to improve seed quality and plant growth throughout different biotechnological applications.

# Introduction

As plants are sessile organisms, the ability to respond and adapt rapidly to changing environmental conditions is advantageous (Walbot and Cullis, 1985). When the local maternal environment reliably predicts the offspring environment, transgenerational signaling can prepare the next generation of plants for biotic as well as abiotic stresses (Rasmann et al., 2012). Transgenerational plasticity can be mediated by maternally derived proteins and mRNAs, which mainly have an effect on seed dormancy, seed longevity and germination (Rajjou et al., 2004; Mondoni et al., 2014). Moreover, maternally derived hormone contents can be altered by environmental stresses (Herman and Sultan, 2011). For example, Jha et al. (2010) discovered that shading influenced the germination of Palmer amaranth through an increased abscisic acid content in the seeds. Also DNA methylation and histone modifications are a source of heritable phenotypic variation and were shown to be involved in transgenerational adaptation to environmental challenges (Johannes et al., 2009; Rasmann et al., 2012). For example, Whittle et al. (2009) reported temperature-induced epigenetic changes in Arabidopsis thaliana that persisted over at least 2 generations and improved progeny fitness. Maternal environmental effects can also be transmitted via seed provisioning: all reserves allocated to the seed by the mother plant can influence the seedling from establishment up until reproduction (Metz et al., 2010; Herman and Sultan, 2011). Zas et al. (2013) observed an increased pine seedling biomass when seeds originated from a favourable environment that was associated with a higher seed weight.

Also endophytes can play an important role in transgenerational adaptation. Saikkonen *et al.* (2010) demonstrated that vertically transmitted fungal endophytes were able to increase the herbivore resistance of grass. Moreover, the vertically transmitted *Curvularium* and *Fusarium* isolates conferred respectively heat and salt tolerance in a habitat-specific manner (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2008). Vertically transmitted endophytes are likely to evolve towards a mutualistic relationship with their host because there occurs selection for reduced virulence as they are dependent on host fitness for reproduction. In contrast, horizontal transmission usually promotes virulence as this gives opportunities for contagious spread (Ewald, 1987).

Besides fungal endophytes, bacterial endophytes and their associated beneficial traits could also be transferred over subsequent generations. By consequence, these bacterial seed endophytes can rapidly infect the new generation of plants because they experience less competition with bacteria originating from the external environment and because they are already adapted to living inside plant tissues (Kaga *et al.*, 2009; Hardoim *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, endophytic bacteria have an advantage over other plant-associated bacteria as they are better protected from biotic and abiotic stresses due to their location inside the plant (Hallmann *et al.*, 1997).

Cankar *et al.* (2005) already suggested that seeds could serve as vectors for transfer of beneficial bacteria. Their presence in early growth stages can promote plant growth and health by producing plant growth hormones, increasing the quantities of available nutrients, lowering stress ethylene levels and preventing the growth and activity of phytopathogens (Weyens *et al.*, 2009a). For example, Mastretta *et al.* (2009) demonstrated that inoculation of tobacco with its seed endophytes improved plant growth and reduced metal phytotoxicity in case of Cd exposure.

The composition of the bacterial endophytic community is influenced by several factors such as host plant genotype, seasonal variation, plant growth stage, or geobiochemical conditions (Inceoğlu *et al.*, 2011; Ding *et al.*, 2013; Bokulich *et al.*, 2014). A study by Johnston-Monje and Raizada (2011) demonstrated that certain seed endophytes of *Zea mays* are conserved across boundaries of evolution, ethnography and ecology. They found that the seed bacterial community varied with *Zea* phylogeny, but there was also a core microbiota that was conserved across *Zea* genotypes. Siciliano *et al.* (2001) demonstrated that certain beneficial endophytic bacterial genotypes were enriched dependent on the presence and concentration of contaminants in the soil where the plants were growing.

A better understanding of the factors that specifically shape the seed endophytic community can lead to an improved seed quality and a more efficient application of bacterial seed endophytes in agricultural, industrial or environmental applications. Bokulich *et al.* (2014) pointed out that patterning of bacterial

communities associated with agricultural crops could be associated with downstream quality characteristics. The presence or absence of certain bacterial taxa could also influence the productivity, chemical properties and pathogen defense of the plant (Gilbert *et al.*, 2014).

We investigated the effect of a contaminant on the composition and characteristics of the seed bacterial community. In chapter 4, we characterized the cultivable and total endophytic community associated with the seeds of the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Two different types of seeds were used: seeds from plants that were exposed for 8, 12 and 14 generations to 2  $\mu$ M Cd and seeds from plants that were reproduced in parallel but never exposed to Cd.

To make the link between the laboratory and the field situation, we investigated whether changes in the cultivable seed endophytic community of *Agrostis capillaris* after long-term exposure to Cd and Ni in the field are comparable to the laboratory-induced changes found in *A. thaliana*. Therefore the cultivable seed endophytes of *A. capillaris* growing on a Cd/Ni-contaminated site were compared with *A. capillaris*-associated seed endophytes present on a non-contaminated site in chapter 5.

In chapter 6, we investigated the effects of soil type on the cultivable and total bacterial community present in the seeds harvested from plants growing on sand (bacteria-poor) and on a mixture of sand and potting soil (bacteria-rich), 2 common substrates for producing *A. thaliana* seeds. Soil is considered to be the most microbially diverse habitat on Earth (Daniel, 2005). Different soil types harbour different microbial communities due to differences in vegetation type, carbon and nutrient availability, soil moisture and pH (Buckley and Schmidt, 2002; Fierer and Jackson, 2006). Plants can select from this large range of bacteria present in the bulk soil through specific root exudates (Haichar *et al.*, 2008; Berg and Smalla, 2009; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2013). Together with the plant innate immune system, this results in specific bacterial rhizosphere and endosphere communities (Haichar *et al.*, 2008; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2013). To determine if the substrate type still has an effect on the establishment of the plant bacterial community, we investigated cultivable and total bacterial endophytic communities of plants grown from these seeds (chapter 6).

# CHAPTER 3 Materials and methods used in section 1

# 3.1 Optimization of the sterilization protocols

To obtain as many (different) cultivable seed endophytes as possible, several seed sterilization protocols were tested.

For *Arabidopsis thaliana* seeds (ecotype CoI-0), seeds were immersed in 70% ethanol during 1 min or they were not immersed in ethanol. In a second step, they were further sterilized in a NaClO solution, supplemented with 0.1% Tween 80, with different concentrations and exposure times. In case of the 1% NaClO, seeds were rinsed for 3, 5, 10, 15 or 20 min. For the 0.1% NaClO, they were rinsed during 1, 3, 5 or 10 min. In the last step, the seeds were thoroughly washed in sterile deionized water.

For *Agrostis capillaris*, different seed sterilization protocols were tested on commercially available seeds. First, the seeds were immersed in 70% EtOH during 1 min or they were not immersed in EtOH. Then the seeds were rinsed in 0.1% or 0.01% NaClO for 1 min, or in 0.05% NaClO, for 1 or 0.5 min. Finally, the seeds were thoroughly washed in sterile deionized water.

Sterility of the surface was verified by incubating the last rinsing water and 10 seeds on 869 solid medium (Mergeay *et al.*, 1985) containing per liter deionized water: 10 g tryptone, 5 g yeast extract, 5 g NaCl, 1 g D-glucose and 0.345 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O (pH 7). The remaining seeds were crushed in a sterile mortar with 500  $\mu$ L sterile 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Dilutions 0 to 10<sup>-2</sup> were plated on 1/10 869 medium and incubated for 1 week at 30°C. For each condition 2 replicates were used.

# 3.2 Seed sampling

*Arabidopsis thaliana* seeds (ecotype Col-0) were sown on quartz sand with a particle size of 0.4-0.8 mm (referred to as sand) or on a 1:1 mixture of this sand with a commercially available universal potting soil (referred to as potting soil). These are 2 often-used substrates for production of *A. thaliana* seeds. Plants were grown in a greenhouse and supplied regularly with a 1/10 diluted Hoagland nutrient solution (Smeets *et al.*, 2008). When flowering was complete,

no more Hoagland solution was applied and seeds were harvested when plants were completely dry. Sowing and harvesting of seeds occurred 2 times a year: once in spring and once in fall. Seeds of spring 2013 (generation 14) were used for the analysis.

Using Cd, an artificial selection pressure was simulated in *A. thaliana* in order to create 2 types of seeds: seeds originating from plants that were grown in a greenhouse on sand with 2  $\mu$ M Cd (Cd seeds) and seeds originating from plants that reproduced in parallel but that were never exposed to Cd (control seeds).

Production of seeds was done 2 times a year: once in spring and once in fall. Seeds of spring 2010 (generation 8), 2012 (generation 12) and 2013 (generation 14) were used for further analyses.

Agrostis capillaris seeds were collected from a Cd/Ni-contaminated and a noncontaminated control plot at the experimental site of Couhins of the 'Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique' (INRA) in Bordeaux (France). The contaminated plot was treated with sludge from a sewage treatment plant (Louis Fargue, Bordeaux) containing high Cd and Ni concentrations from effluents discharged by a battery manufacturer (Boisson *et al.*, 1998). Treatment consisted of 100 tons DM.ha<sup>-1</sup> and was applied in 1976, 1978 and 1980 (Boisson *et al.*, 1998). Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>-extractable amounts of Cd and Ni at sampling time were  $0.67 \pm 0.018 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1}$  DW and  $1.02 \pm 0.040 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1}$  DW respectively on the non-contaminated plot and  $3.90 \pm 0.17 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1}$  DW and  $8.05 \pm 0.11 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1}$ DW respectively on the contaminated plot.

#### 3.3 Metal extraction

Cd and Ni contents were determined in soils and *A. capillaris* shoots and seeds from the non-contaminated and Cd/Ni-contaminated field plots. To determine the total metal contents, 50 to 200 mg soil, crushed shoots or seeds were transferred to glass tubes. Extraction was performed using acid (2x HNO<sub>3</sub> Suprapur, 1x HCl Suprapur) and heat (110°C). Samples were dissolved in 0.5 mL 20% HCl and 4.5 mL Millipore water. To estimate 'bioavailable' metal contents, 25 g of soil was shaken in 25 mL of 0.1 M Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> and filtrated through Whatman ashless filter paper. Cd and Ni content were determined using inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES).

### 3.4 Isolation of cultivable bacteria

**Seeds** were surface-sterilized with the optimal protocol as determined above (*A. thaliana*: 1 min 0.1% NaClO; *A. capillaris*: 30 s 0.05% NaClO). Seed endophytes were isolated by crushing 3 times 10 mg (*A. thaliana*) or 30 mg (*A. capillaris*) seeds in 500  $\mu$ L 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Dilutions 0 to 10<sup>-2</sup> were incubated on 1/10 869 medium during 1 week at 30°C. Colony forming units (cfu) were counted and calculated per g seed. For each morphologically different colony type, 5 to 10 colonies were chosen for further analyses.

For chapter 6, part of the A. thaliana seeds were sown on vertical agar plates (Remans et al., 2006) that were incubated in a growth chamber until the radicle emerged. Part of the seeds was sown in a hydroponic culture on sand for 3 weeks with a regular supply of 1/10 diluted Hoagland nutrient solution (Smeets et al., 2008). Three week-old leaves harvested in the hydroponic culture were immersed in 0.1% NaClO supplemented with 0.1% Tween 80 for 3 min, and were thoroughly washed in sterile deionized water. Sterility of the surface was checked by incubating the last rinsing water on 869 solid medium (Mergeay et al., 1985). Subsequently, these leaves as well as the radicles from the vertical agar plates were crushed in 1 mL sterile 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Appropriate dilutions were plated on 1/10 869 medium and incubated for 1 week at 30°C. For each condition, 3 replicates of 30 mg (radicles) or 300 mg (leaves) were used. Soil bacteria were isolated by shaking 1 g of growth substrate (sand/potting soil) in 10 mL sterile 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Dilutions 10<sup>-2</sup> to 10<sup>-7</sup> were plated on 1/10 869 medium and incubated for 1 week at 30°C. Cfu were counted and calculated per gram soil or plant material. For each morphologically different colony type, 5 to 10 colonies were chosen for further analyses.

### 3.5 Phenotypic characterization of cultivable bacteria

Tolerance to **metals** was estimated visually after incubation of the bacteria for 1 week at 30°C on solid 284 medium (Schlegel *et al.*, 1991) supplemented with 0.4 mM CdSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.8 mM CdSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.6 mM ZnSO<sub>4</sub> or 0.4 mM CuSO<sub>4</sub>. This 284 medium contained per liter deionized water: 6.06 g Tris-HCl, 4.68 g NaCl, 1.49 g KCl, 1.07 g NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, 0.43 g Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.03 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 40 mg Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 10 mL 1.8 mM Fe(III)NH<sub>4</sub>citrate solution and 1 mL

microelements solution (pH 7). The microelements solution contained per liter deionized water: 1.3 mL 25% HCl, 144 mg  $ZnSO_4$ .7H<sub>2</sub>O, 100 mg MnCl<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O, 62 mg H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>, 190 mg CoCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 17 mg CuCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 24 mg NiCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O and 36 mg NaMoO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O. Five carbon sources (C-mix) were added per liter medium: 0.52 g glucose, 0.66 g gluconate, 0.54 g fructose, 0.81 g succinate and 0.35 g lactate.

Bacterial siderophore production was determined using a chrome azurol S (CAS) reagent as described by Schwyn and Neilands (1987) and organic acids were detected with the method of Cunningham and Kuiack (1992). First, bacteria were grown in liquid 869 medium. Next, 20 µL of bacterial suspension was added to 800 µL of the culture medium. For testing siderophore production 284 medium with C-mix containing 0, 0.25 and 3 µM Fe(III)NH<sub>4</sub> citrate was used. For **organic acid** production, sucrose tryptone medium was used. This medium contained per liter deionized water: 20 g sucrose, 5 g tryptone and 10 mL microelement solution (containing per liter deionized water: 20 mg NaMoO<sub>4</sub>, 200 mg H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>, 20 mg CuSO<sub>4</sub>.5H<sub>2</sub>O, 100 mg FeCl<sub>3</sub>, 20 mg MgCl<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O and 280 mg ZnCl<sub>2</sub>). After 5 days incubation at 30°C, 100  $\mu$ l of the CAS reagent (per 10 mL: 0.6 mL 10 mM hexadecyltrimethylammoniumbromide, 1.5 mL 10 mM HCl, 0.1 mL 1 mM FeCl<sub>3</sub>, 0.75 mL 2 mM CAS, 3 mL 1.67 M piperazine, 1 mL 40 mM sulphosalicylic acid and 3.05 mL deionized water) was added to each sample. After 4 h incubation, orange wells were considered positive for siderophore production. To detect organic acids, 100 µL 0.1% alizarin red S was added to each sample. After 20 min incubation, yellow wells were considered positive for organic acid production.

Production of **IAA** was determined using Salkowski's reagent after incubation of the bacteria for 5 days at 30°C in the dark in liquid 1/10 869 medium supplemented with 0.5  $g.L^{-1}$  tryptophan. After centrifugation, 0.5 mL supernatant was mixed with 1 mL Salkowski's reagent (50 mL 35% HClO<sub>4</sub>, 1 mL 0.5 M FeCl<sub>3</sub>) (Gordon and Weber, 1951). After 20 min incubation, pink wells were considered positive for IAA production.

**ACC deaminase** activity was determined by monitoring the amount of aketobutyrate generated by enzymatic hydrolysis of ACC (Belimov *et al.*, 2005). Bacteria were cultured in liquid 869 medium for 3 days at 30°C and harvested by centrifugation. Cell pellets were washed twice with 0.1 M Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5) and resuspended in 3 mL liquid SMN medium containing 5 mM ACC as a sole source of nitrogen. After 2 days incubation at 30°C, the bacteria were pelleted and resuspended in 1 mL 0.1 M Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.5). The cells were disrupted by adding 30  $\mu$ L toluene and vigorous vortexing. 100  $\mu$ L of this cell suspension was mixed with 100  $\mu$ L 0.1 M Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.5) and 10  $\mu$ L 0.5 M ACC, and incubated for 30 min at 30°C. Then, 1 mL 0.56 N HCl was added and mixtures were centrifuged. Mixtures without cell suspension were used as controls. Next, 400  $\mu$ L 0.56 N HCl and 150  $\mu$ L 0.2% 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine in 2 N HCl were added to 500  $\mu$ L supernatant. After incubation for 30 min at 30°C, 1 mL 2 N NaOH was added and a color change from yellow to brown was considered positive for ACC deaminase activity.

For **acetoin** production, bacteria were cultured in liquid 869 medium for 3 days and washed twice in 10 mM sterile MgSO<sub>4</sub>. 1 mL of methyl red/Voges-Proskauer (MR/VP) medium was inoculated and incubated for 48 h at 30°C. After centrifugation, 100  $\mu$ L supernatant was mixed with 10  $\mu$ L 50 mM L-arginine, 10  $\mu$ L alpha-naphtol (Barritz reagens, Sigma) and 25  $\mu$ L KOH (Barritz reagens, Sigma) (Romick and Fleming, 1998). After vortexing for 10 minutes, a red color was indicative for acetoin production.

To test for bacterial **nitrogenase** activity, the bacteria were cultured in liquid 869 medium and washed twice in 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Bacteria were transferred to 1.5 mL semisolid malate-sucrose medium (per L: 10 g sucrose, 5 g L-malic acid, 0.3563 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.01 g FeCl<sub>3</sub>, 0.1 g NaCl, 0.0151 g CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.1 g K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.4 g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.002161 g Na<sub>2</sub>MoO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O, and 1.75 g Noble agar; pH 7.2) and containing 3 mL bromothymol blue (BTB) (50 mg in 50% ethanol) as an indicator (Xie *et al.*, 2006). The same medium supplemented with 0.12 g.L<sup>-1</sup> NH<sub>4</sub>Cl was used as a positive control. After 1 week incubation at 30°C, a color change to yellow was considered positive for N<sub>2</sub> fixation.

The protocols for testing the **phosphate solubilizing** and **phytate mineralizing** abilities of the bacteria were based on Jorquera *et al.* (2008). In short, bacteria were cultured in liquid 869 medium for 3 days, washed twice in 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> and resuspended in 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. 50 µL of this suspension was transferred to National Botanical Research Institute's phosphate growth medium (NBRIP) (per L: 10 g glucose, 5 g  $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ , 5 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.25 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 g KCl, 0.1 g (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and 15 g agar) or to phytate screening medium (PSM) (per L: 10 g D-glucose, 4 g Na-phytate, 2 g  $CaCl_2$ , 5 g  $NH_4NO_3$ , 0.5 g KCl, 0.5 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.01 g FeSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.01 g MnSO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O and 15 g agar). After 1 week, the appearance of a clear zone around the colonies was considered as an indicator of phosphate solubilization or phytate mineralization.

#### 3.6 Genotypic characterization of cultivable bacteria

Genomic DNA extraction was performed using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen). The quality and quantity of the DNA were checked using the Nanodrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Isogen Life Sciences). The 16S rRNA gene was amplified in a PCR reaction containing 1x High Fidelity PCR buffer, 2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 200 µM of each dNTP, 200 nM of the bacteria-specific 26F primer (AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG, target 16S-23S internal transcribed spacer) (Schauer and Hahn, 2005), 200 nM of the universal 1392R primer (ACGGGCGGTGTGTRC, target 16S bp 1392-1406) (Amann et al., 1995), 1 U High Fidelity Tag DNA polymerase, 1 µL DNA template and RNase free water until a total volume of 50 µL. Cycling conditions were: 5 min at 95°C, 35 cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 30 s at 52°C and 3 min at 72°C, and a final incubation step of 10 min at 72°C. For the amplified ribosomal DNA restriction analysis (ARDRA), 2.9 µL 1x NEB buffer 1 (New England Biolabs), 0.3 µL restriction enzyme HpyCH<sub>4</sub> IV (New England Biolabs), 1.1 µL RNase and 4.3 µL RNase free water were added to 20 µL amplified 16S rDNA. This mixture was incubated for 2 h at 37°C. The resulting fragments were separated on a 1.5% agarose gel during 2 h at 90 V. Bacteria with the same ARDRA patterns were grouped and 1 representative isolate of each group was selected for sequencing. Purified PCR products (PCR purification kit, Qiagen) of 16S rDNA were bidirectionally sequenced by Macrogen (Seoul, South-Korea). Consensus sequences were determined using the Staden Package (Staden et al., 1999) and identification was carried out by comparing the obtained sequences with those of reference strains in the Ribosomal Database Project (RDPII). In order to verify the identification, sequences were aligned and a UPGMA tree was constructed using Geneious 5.4 with default settings (Drummond et al., 2011). To assess branch supports, bootstrap values were calculated with 1000 replicates. The obtained 16S rDNA sequences have been submitted into the European Nucleotide Archive with the accession numbers HG937592-HG937604 and LN830896-LN830948 for *A. thaliana* (chapter 4 and 6) and HG001272-HG001280 for *A. capillaris* (chapter 5).

16S rDNA sequences from the cultivable bacteria were blasted against a local BLAST database created with the OTU sequences obtained with 454 pyrosequencing using Geneious 8.1.3 (Kearse *et al.*, 2012). A match was defined as at least 97% identity over the 394 bp region of the OTU sequence (Rott, 2012).

# 3.7 454 pyrosequencing workflow

# 3.7.1 Sampling and DNA extraction

Soil samples were collected by snap freezing and keeping 3x 900 mg at -80°C until further processing. Also 3x 300 mg of A. thaliana seeds, 3x 600 mg of radicles and 3x 900 mg of 3 week-old leaves were collected. Surface DNA on seeds, radicles and leaves was removed by rinsing for 1 min in sterile deionized H<sub>2</sub>O, 30 s in 70% EtOH, 1 min in 1% NaClO, 30 s in 70% EtOH and 5x in sterile deionized H<sub>2</sub>O. Samples were homogenized in 2 mL sterile 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> using a mortar and pestle, and frozen at -80°C until further processing. To exclude the presence of DNA from external bacteria as much as possible, a PCR on 1 µL of the last rinsing water was performed. The mastermix contained 1x High Fidelity PCR-buffer, 2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 200 µM of each dNTP, 200 nM bacteria-specific 26F primer (AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG) (Schauer and Hahn, 2005), 200 nM universal 1392R primer (ACGGGCGGTGTGTRC) (Amann et al., 1995), 1 U Tag DNA polymerase and RNase free water until a total volume of 50 µL per reaction. Cycling conditions were: 5 min at 95°C, 35 cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 30 s at 52°C and 3 min at 72°C, and a final incubation step of 10 min at 72°C. Total genomic DNA was extracted from seeds, radicles and leaves using the Invisorb Spin Plant Mini Kit (Invitek), which was shown to be the best out of 3

commercially available DNA extraction kits for the isolation of bacterial DNA from plant samples (Beckers, 2015). The Powersoil DNA Isolation kit (Mobio) was used for DNA extraction from soil.

#### 3.7.2 Test run

To find a primerset combination that amplifies the bacterial 16S rDNA with a high taxonomic coverage while minimizing interference of chloroplastidal and/or mitochondrial DNA, several primerset combinations were tested on DNA extracted from seeds and radicles (Table 3.1 and 3.2). Different regions of the 16S rDNA were amplified with the 1<sup>st</sup> primerset (whether or not with a chloroplast mismatch), gel-extracted with the Qiaquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen) (to remove mitochondrial DNA where possible) and amplified with the 2<sup>nd</sup> primerset to add adaptor sequences and multiplex identifier tags. The PCR reaction contained per sample 1x FastStart High Fidelity Reaction buffer, 1.8 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 200  $\mu$ M of each dNTP, 200 nM forward primer, 200 nM reverse primer, 2 U FastStart High Fidelity Taq DNA polymerase, 1  $\mu$ L DNA template and RNase free water until a total volulme of 25  $\mu$ L. Cycling conditions were: 2.5 min at 95°C, 35 (1<sup>st</sup> primerset) or 18 (2<sup>nd</sup> primerset) cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 40 s at 53°C and 40 s at 72°C, and a final incubation step of 7 min at 72°C.

Table 3.1: Combinations of primersets used to amplify different hypervariable regions of<br/>the bacterial 16S rDNA.

No.	Primerset 1	Primerset 2	16S rDNA region	Chloroplast mismatch	Nested PCR
1	68F-783Rabc	68F-518R	V1-V3	Yes	Yes
2	68F-518R	68F-518R	V1-V3	No	No
3	341F-785R	341F-785R	V3-V4	No	No
4	341F-783Rabc	341F-783Rabc	V3-V4	Yes	No
5	799F-1391R	967F-1391R	V6-V7	Yes	Yes
6	967F-1391R	967F-1391R	V6-V7	No	Yes
7	799F-1193R	799F-1193R	V5-V7	Yes	No

Table 3.2: Primer sequences used in this study.

Primer	Sequence 5'-3'	Reference
799F	AACMGGATTAGATACCCKG	Chelius and Triplett, 2001
967F	CAACGCGAAGAACCTTACC	Sogin et al., 2006
68F	TNANACATGCAAGTCGRRCG	McAllister et al., 2011
341F	CCTACGGGNGGCWGCAG	Klindworth et al., 2013
1391R	GACGGGCGGTGWGTRCA	Walker and Pace, 2007
1193R	ACGTCATCCCCACCTTCC	Bodenhausen et al., 2013
518R	WTTACCGCGGCTGCTGG	Lee et al., 2010
785R	GACTACHVGGGTATCTAATCC	Klindworth et al., 2013
783Ra	CTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTG	Sakai <i>et al.</i> , 2004
783Rb	CTACCGGGGTATCTAATCCCG	Sakai <i>et al.</i> , 2004
783Rc	CTACCCGGGTATCTAATCCGG	Sakai <i>et al.</i> , 2004

Unbound nucleotides, primer dimers and very short amplicons were removed using the PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen). The DNA concentration of each sample was determined with the Picogreen dsDNA Quantitation assay (Life Technologies) and an equimolar mixture of the different samples was made. Generation of a single-stranded template library, emulsion PCR and pyrosequencing were carried out by LGC Genomics (Berlin, Germany) on a 454 Genome Sequencer FLX Titanium (Roche). Each amplicon library (one for each primerset combination), consisting of 26 samples in total from several collaborators, was sequenced on 1/8 of a picotiter plate. The results of the test run can be found in appendix A.

#### 3.7.3 Final run

Sample preparation for the final run was analogous to the test run. During the 1<sup>st</sup> PCR, primers 799F and 1193R were used to amplify the V5-V7 hypervariable region of the 16S rDNA, while avoiding amplification of chloroplastidal 16 rDNA through a 2 bp mismatch at the 3'-end of the 799F primer (Chelius and Triplett, 2001; Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013). Samples were run on a 1.5% agarose gel to separate bacterial DNA (394 bp) from mitochondrial DNA if present (approximately 800 bp). The 394 bp band was extracted from the gel. During the 2<sup>nd</sup> PCR, primers 799F and 1193R were used. After purification, an equimolar mixture of the different samples was made and sent to Macrogen (Seoul, South-Korea) for generation of a single-stranded template library, emulsion PCR and 454 pyrosequencing. Each amplicon library, consisting of 26 samples in total from several collaborators, was sequenced on 1/8 of a picotiter plate.

#### 3.7.4 Data analysis

Sequence reads were processed in Mothur software 1.33.3 following the Standard Operating Procedure available on http://www.mothur.org/wiki/Schloss\_SOP (Schloss *et al.*, 2009). Briefly, sequences were trimmed to remove primers, barcodes, homopolymers longer than 8 bases and sequences shorter than 200 bases. Each unique sequence was aligned using the SILVA reference alignment. Chimeric sequences were detected using the Uchime tool and removed. Sequences were classified using the

#### Chapter 3

Ribosomal Database Project reference files. For the test run, sequences matching 'Mitochondria' or 'Chloroplast' were identified and abundance data of these sequences were used to compare the performance of the tested primerset combinations. Next, sequences matching 'Mitochondria', 'Chloroplast', 'Archaea', 'Eukaryota' or 'unknown' were removed. Pairwise distances of the remaining sequences were calculated and species-level operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were defined based on a 0.03% distance level. Singletons (i.e. OTUs represented by only 1 sequence over an entire dataset) were removed and all samples were subsampled to 1285 (test run) or 2000 (final run) sequences per sample. The inverse Simpson diversity index, Chao richness estimator and Good's coverage estimator were calculated based on 1000 iterations. Rarefaction curves were generated based on 1000 iterations. The standard flowgram format (SFF) file was deposited in the NCBI Sequence Read Archive under the accession number SRP056064.

### 3.8 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in R 3.1.1 (R Core Team, 2014) or SAS 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Normal distribution of the data was analysed with the Shapiro-Wilk test and transformations were applied when necessary to approximate normality. Homoscedasticity of variances was checked using a residuals plot. Significant differences were evaluated with an analysis of variances (ANOVA) and post-hoc comparisons were carried out using the Tukey's Honest Significant Differences test for multiple comparisons.

Non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (NMDS) with Bray-Curtis distances was performed using the metaMDS function of the vegan package in R 3.1.1 (Oksanen *et al.*, 2014). Permutational multi-variate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) with 1000 permutations was performed using the adonis function of the vegan package in R (Oksanen *et al.*, 2014). Indicator species analysis was performed using the multipatt function of the indicspecies package in R 3.1.1 with 1000 permutations (De Cáceres and Legendre, 2009).

# CHAPTER 4 Cadmium-induced and transgenerational effects on cultivable and total seed endophytic communities of *Arabidopsis thaliana*

Parts of this chapter were published in:

Truyens S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2013. Changes in the population of seed bacteria of transgenerationally Cd-exposed Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Biology 15: 971-981.

Truyens S, Beckers B, Thijs S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 201x. Cadmium-induced and transgenerational changes in the cultivable and total seed endophytic community of Arabidopsis thaliana. Submitted to Plant Biology.

In this chapter, the effect of Cd on the seed endophytic community of *Arabidopsis thaliana* was studied. Two different types of seeds were used: seeds from plants that were exposed for 8 generations to 2  $\mu$ M Cd (Cd seeds) and seeds from plants that were never exposed to Cd (control seeds). The genotypic as well as phenotypic composition of the seed endophytic communities were analyzed over several generations.

### 4.1 Results and discussion

# 4.1.1 Optimization of the sterilization protocol

*Arabidopsis thaliana* is worldwide the most used model plant. In the standard seed sterilization protocol for *A. thaliana*, 1 min rinsing in 70% ethanol followed by 10 min in 1.2% NaClO are described (Balcells, 1993), but our results indicate that this is too harsh, possibly destroying the seed endophytes which can lead to effects on germination and further plant development. An optimal seed sterilization protocol leads to a complete sterilization of the seed exterior while preserving a high number of cfu and morphologically distinct colony types that can be isolated from the seed interior. An important factor appeared to be the strength of the NaClO solution: an increase from 0.1% to 1% led to a strong decrease in the number of  $cfu.g^{-1}$  seed (Table 4.1). In case of the 0.1% NaClO

solution, the number of cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed was still low when ethanol was used or when the exposure time in the NaClO exceeded 3 min. Although a higher number of cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed was obtained when the exposure time was 3 min, 1 min was considered optimal because in that case more morphologically distinct colony types were isolated.

EtOH	Strength NaCIO solution (%)	Time in NaCIO solution (min)	Seed surface	Cfu.g <sup>-1</sup> seed	Morphologically distinct colony types
		3	Sterile	83	1
Yes _		5	Not Sterile	5833	2
	1	10	Sterile	11500	3
		15	Not Sterile	0	-
		20	Sterile	2167	1
		3	Sterile	11833	3
	0.1	5	Not Sterile	31583	2
		10	Not Sterile	36833	2
		3	Sterile	0	-
	1	5	Not Sterile	16917	2
		10	Not Sterile	0	-
		15	Not Sterile	83	1
No		20	Sterile	0	-
		1	Sterile	135000	4
	0.1	3	Sterile	420000	3
	0.1	5	Sterile	17000	2
		10	Sterile	3833	2

Table 4.1: Overview of the different sterilization protocols tested.

### 4.1.2 Seed endophytic community composition

Control and Cd seeds of *A. thaliana* contained similar amounts of  $cfu.g^{-1}$  seed (respectively 4.3 x 10<sup>7</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed and 3.7 x 10<sup>7</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed). With increasing number of generations, there was a decreasing number of cfu that can be isolated: 5.7 x 10<sup>6</sup> and 6.9 x 10<sup>7</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed after 12 generations and 5.6 x 10<sup>5</sup> and 8.7 x 10<sup>3</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed after 14 generations in control and Cd seeds respectively. This is in accordance with Hardoim *et al.* (2012) who found a 100-fold decrease in seed endophytes when comparing 2 consecutive generations of rice seeds grown under greenhouse conditions. The number of cultivable endophytes isolated from both *A. thaliana* seed types was much higher than expected. It is generally assumed that the number of cultivable bacteria decreases from rhizosphere (10<sup>7</sup>-10<sup>9</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup>), to root (10<sup>5</sup>-10<sup>7</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup>), to stem and leaves (10<sup>3</sup>-10<sup>4</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup>) and that it reaches approximately 10<sup>2</sup>-10<sup>3</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> in seeds (Benizri *et al.*, 2001; Hallmann, 2001).

The number of genera that was isolated also diminished when the number of generations increased: 9 genera in generation 8, 3 in generation 12, and only 2 in generation 14 (Table 4.2). These findings demonstrate that production of seeds on a bacteria-poor substrate, such as the quartz sand used in this study, reduces the number of seed endophytes compared to previous generations. This indicates that only a minor part of the community is transferred to the next generation.

Table 4.2: Percentages of the cultivable bacterial genera isolated from control and Cd seeds after 8, 12 and 14 generations of plant growth. Percentages of the top 10 most abundant genus-level OTUs from each sample are shown for the total bacterial community from control seeds after 12 and 14 generations and from Cd seeds after 14 generations. Co = control seeds, Cd = Cd seeds.

	Cultivable						Total			
Generation		8	1	2	1	4	12	1	4	
Seed type	Со	Cd	Со	Cd	Со	Cd	Со	Со	Cd	
Actinomyces	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.5	-	
Cellulomonas	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.42	
Corynebacterium	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.52	2.3	0.76	
Microbacterium	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.48	-	1.5	
Mycobacterium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.34	
Aeromicrobium	-	-	-	-	-	37.5	-	-	1.1	
Nocardioides	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.2	
Propionibacterium	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.7	2.3	1.8	
Pseudonocardia	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.4	
Patulibacter	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.0	0.34	
Micrococcus	0.01	-	28.9	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Chryseobacterium	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.65	-	0.75	
Flavobacterium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.69	
Sediminibacterium	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.7	1.7	0.68	
Paenibacillus	-	0.001	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Streptococcus	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.1	1.7	-	
Staphylococcus	0.52	1.89	-	-	-	-	1.2	0.76	1.45	
Bacillus	2.07	0.07	-	0.81	-	12.5	-	-	-	
Devosia	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.76	
Brevundimonas	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.65	0.76	1.4	
Afipia	-	-	-	-	-	-	6.0	2.7	1.4	
Sinorhizobium	8.05	-	57.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Mesorhizobium	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.5	-	0.76	
Rhizobium	40.2	12.1	13.3	99.2	58.9	50	8.5	11.9	2.9	
Azospirillum	-	-	-	-	-	-	2.0	-	-	
Pseudolabrys	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.34	
Sphingomonas	33.1	64.7	-	-	-	-	-	0.95	2.2	
Bosea	-	0.13	-	-	-	-	1.6	-	-	
Methylobacterium	14.3	0.06	-	-	-	-	2.6	0.76	5.9	
Acidovorax	0.76	9.16	-	-	-	-	-	2.0	0.34	
Variovorax	1.02	12.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Delftia	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.7	-	-	
Escherichia/Shigella	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.7	0.76	0.76	
Pseudomonas	-	0.003	-	-	41.1	-	12.3	5.4	2.1	
Stenotrophomonas	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.65	-	0.34	
% of community	100	100	100	100	100	100	45.6	36.5	31.6	

This was confirmed by the results of the 454 pyrosequencing. Sequencing of the 2 amplicon libraries generated a total of 283146 reads with an average read length of 403 bp. After quality trimming and assigning the reads to the different samples, a total of 145526 high quality reads remained. For the 9 seed samples together, 43214 high quality bacterial reads were finally recovered. When comparing the total bacterial community of seeds of generation 12 with that of generation 14, the number of OTUs detected decreased from  $34.8 \pm 2.17$  to  $20.8 \pm 1.92$ , the inverse Simpson diversity index decreased from  $1.8 \pm 0.026$  to  $1.7 \pm 0.027$  and the Chao richness estimator decreased from  $44.1 \pm 8.73$  to  $29.4 \pm 9.00$  (Table 4.3). These values were obtained by subsampling all samples at 2000 sequences, which was sufficient according to the rarefaction curves (Fig. 4.1).

Table 4.3: Good's coverage estimator, number of OTUs (Sobs), inverse Simpson diversity index and Chao richness estimator at similarity level 97%. Values are based on 1000 subsamplings of 2000 sequences per sample. Co = control seeds, Cd = Cd seeds. \* = p < 0.1 compared to generation 12.

Seed type	Generation	Coverage ± stdev	Sobs ± stdev	InvSimpson ± stdev	Chao ± stdev
Со	12	99.5 ± 0.13	34.8 ± 2.17	$1.8 \pm 0.026$	$44.1 \pm 8.73$
Со	14	99.6 ± 0.11	$20.8 \pm 1.92^{*}$	$1.7 \pm 0.027$	$29.4 \pm 9.00^{*}$
Cd	14	99.1 ± 0.16	48.4 ± 2.69	$2.5 \pm 0.051$	66.5 ± 11.8



Figure 4.1: Rarefaction curves for endophytic samples from control seeds generation 12 (green), control seeds generation 14 (blue) and Cd seeds generation 14 (red). For each sample type 3 biological replicates were used. The vertical line indicates the number of sequences (2000) subsampled from each sample for further analysis.

The cultivable bacterial community associated with control seeds of generation 8 was dominated by Rhizobium (40.2%) (Table 4.2). Also Sphingomonas was isolated in high numbers (33.1%). Variovorax made up 1.02% of the community and Acidovorax represented 0.76%. Sinorhizobium and Methylobacterium accounted for 8.05% and 14.3%, respectively, of the bacterial community associated with control seeds. The remaining part of the community consisted of Micrococcus (0.01%), Bacillus (2.07%) and Staphylococcus (0.52%).Concerning the cultivable community, Rhizobium is the only genus that was found in control seeds from all generations. The other genera did not seem to be transferred from generation to generation via the seed. Also in the total community, Rhizobium was the most abundant genus that was present in both denerations studied (Table 4.2). Likewise, *Pseudomonas* was abundant in both generations of the total community (Table 4.2). Rhizobium as well as Pseudomonas are often found to colonize plants and thereby increase plant growth and fitness (Biswas et al., 2000; Chi et al., 2005; Mercado-Blanco and Bakker, 2007; Gómez-Lama Cabanás et al., 2014).

In **Cd seeds** of generation 8, *Sphingomonas* was the predominant genus with a relative abundance of 64.7% (Table 4.2). *Sphingomonas* is abundant in nature and is often found in association with plants where it exerts plant growth promoting and biocontrol functions (Innerebner *et al.*, 2011; Khan *et al.*, 2014). *Rhizobium* (12.1%) was much less represented in Cd seeds compared to control seeds. In contrast to control seeds, a fairly large portion of the cultivable endophytic community associated with Cd seeds consisted of *Variovorax* (12.0%) and *Acidovorax* (9.16%). *Methylobacterium* made up 0.06% of the community and *Bacillus* represented 0.07%. The remainder of the community consisted of *Staphylococcus* (1.89%), *Paenibacillus* (0.001%), *Bosea* (0.13%) and *Pseudomonas* (0.003%). *Sinorhizobium* and *Micrococcus* were only found in control seeds, while *Paenibacillus*, *Pseudomonas* and *Bosea* were only found in Cd seeds. *Methylobacterium* was also predominantly isolated from control seeds. *Sphingomonas*, *Variovorax*, *Acidovorax*, *Bacillus*, *Rhizobium* and a low number of *Staphylococcus* were found in both control and Cd seeds.

Several of the bacterial genera isolated from the seeds of *A. thaliana* were also recovered from seeds of other plant species. *Methylobacterium sp.* and *Sphingomonas sp.* were found in seeds of rice (Okunishi *et al.*, 2005; Kaga *et* 

*al.*, 2009) and eucalyptus (Ferreira *et al.*, 2008). *Paenibacillus sp.* was isolated from seeds of eucalyptus (Ferreira *et al.*, 2008) and bean (López-López *et al.*, 2010). *Bacillus sp.* and *Pseudomonas sp.* were, for example, found in seeds from cactus (Puente *et al.*, 2009b), coffee (Vega *et al.*, 2006) and rapeseed (Granér *et al.*, 2003). *Micrococcus sp.* were isolated from seeds of rice (Okunishi *et al.*, 2005; Kaga *et al.*, 2009), coffee (Vega *et al.*, 2006), bean (López- López *et al.*, 2010) and rapeseed (Granér *et al.*, 2003). To our knowledge, *Sinorhizobium sp.*, *Rhizobium sp.*, *Bosea sp.*, *Variovorax sp.* and *Acidovorax sp.* (except for *avenae ssp.* as a pathogen in rice (Song *et al.*, 2004)) have never been isolated from seeds, there also exist seed endophytes that are specific for certain plant species, genera or even families.

The presence of *Staphylococcus sp.* is often thought to be the result of contamination but Prithiviraj *et al.* (2005) demonstrated that *Staphylococcus sp.* is also able to infect *A. thaliana.* Moreover, previous studies reported the isolation of *Staphylococcus sp.* from plant tissues such as poplar (*Populus trichocarpa*) (Porteous-Moore *et al.*, 2006) and sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum*) (Velazquez *et al.*, 2008) and from seeds of cactus (Puente *et al.*, 2009b) and bean (López- López *et al.*, 2010). Due to the fact that 16S rDNA based identification usually does not provide information on the strain level, the presence of other potentially pathogenic strains among the genera present in the seeds can not be excluded.

When plants are exposed to 2 µM Cd for several generations, some of the genera present appear to be contaminant-related: Aeromicrobium, Paenibacillus and Bosea were only isolated from Cd seeds but were at no stage recovered from control seeds. These findings were confirmed when comparing the results of the total bacterial community from generation 12 and 14 for control and Cd Mycobacterium, seeds: Cellulomonas, Aeromicrobium, Nocardioides, Pseudonocardia, Flavobacterium, Devosia and Pseudolabrys were only found in Cd seeds and not in control seeds (Table 4.2). The indicator species analysis, which was performed on the full community matrix and not only on the top 10 genus-level OTUs, also revealed Aeromicrobium and Pseudonocardia as indicator species in Cd seeds, in addition to unclassified Bacteroidetes and Acetobacteraceae (Table 4.4). No indicator species were found for control seeds

from generation 12 and 14. This suggests a correlation between the presence of Cd and the composition of the endophytic community present in seeds. This could be a consequence of different abilities of the individual strains to adapt to the presence of increased Cd concentrations in the plant. Similar results were reported by Frostegård *et al.* (1993): they indicated that a correlation exists between changes in the community tolerance pattern and changes in the community species composition after metal contamination of the soil. However, in consecutive generations it is not always the same cultivable genera that are present in Cd seeds but absent in control seeds. Together with the fact that *Rhizobium* appeared to be the only genus transferred from one generation to the next, this suggests that transfer of seed endophytes to the next generation of seeds is not so much based on the genera that are present but more on their phenotypic characteristics.

Table 4.4:	Indicator	species	of Cd	seeds.	Uc =	unclassified.
------------	-----------	---------	-------	--------	------	---------------

οτυ	Indicator value	p-value	Relative abundance (%)		
Aeromicrobium	1	0.04	1.1		
Pseudonocardia	1	0.04	1.4		
Uc Bacteroidetes	1	0.04	2.2		
Uc Acetobacteraceae	1	0.04	1.1		

Also concerning the **phenotypic** characteristics, differences were observed between the bacteria isolated from control seeds and those isolated from Cd seeds from generation 8 (Table 4.5).

To survive under conditions with excess metal exposure, bacteria have evolved several mechanisms to cope with toxic metals. These include the efflux of metal ions, accumulation and complexation of the metal ions inside the cell and reduction of metal ions to a less toxic state (Nies, 1999). In control seeds 64.56% of all bacteria were tolerant to 0.4 mM Cd. This number decreased to 53.22% when they were exposed to 0.8 mM Cd. In Cd seeds, 76.58% of the cultivable bacteria were tolerant to 0.4 mM Cd and approximately the same number was tolerant to 0.8 mM Cd. These mechanisms not only protect the bacteria but also their host plant against high concentrations of toxic metals, since metal sequestration by the endophytes leads to a decreased internal availability of the metals and by consequence a lowered phytotoxicity (Lodewyckx *et al.*, 2001a; Weyens *et al.*, 2009b). The latter allows the plant to

#### Chapter 4

accumulate higher amounts of metals without experiencing toxicity. For instance, after inoculation of Lupinus luteus grown on a nickel-enriched substrate with the engineered nickel resistant bacterium Burkholderia cepacia L.S.2.4::nccnre, nickel concentrations in the roots increased significantly (Lodewyckx et al., 2001a). Díaz-Raviña and Bååth (1996) demonstrated that the bacterial community in experimentally polluted soil was tolerant to higher levels of metals than those from unpolluted environments. This was due to the elimination of sensitive species, selection of bacteria with metal tolerance abilities and adaptation of bacteria due to physiological or genetic changes. This could explain the higher metal tolerance found in endophytes from Cd seeds compared to control seeds (Table 4.5). The presence of one metal not only increases tolerance to that specific metal but can also influence tolerance to other metals (Díaz-Raviña et al., 1994). The development of such multiple tolerances was also observed in the bacteria isolated from the Cd seeds: Zn and Cu tolerance were higher in endophytes from Cd seeds than in those from control seeds (68.05% vs. 53.73% and 66.7% vs. 54.44% respectively), even though these metals were not present at increased concentrations (Table 4.5). There exist also other bacterial traits that can alleviate metal stress for the

There exist also other bacterial traits that can alleviate metal stress for the bacteria themselves as well as for their host plant. Bacterial siderophore production, for example, can be important to obtain sufficient Fe (Dimpka *et al.*, 2008). Metal contamination of the soil is often associated with Fe deficiency in a wide range of plant species due to the competition between metal ions and Fe for uptake by siderophores (Wallace *et al.*, 1992). Production of siderophores was more frequently found in endophytes from control seeds (24.8%) compared to Cd seeds (4.5%). Mechanisms providing Fe to the plant do not seem to be essential during that stage as seeds probably contain sufficient Fe for the development of 4- to 10-day old seedlings (Burd *et al.*, 1998).

Also production of IAA was more frequently found in endophytes from control seeds (40.1%) than in endophytes from Cd seeds (12.5%). This is in contrast with the findings of Dell'Amico *et al.* (2008) concerning rhizobacteria of *Brassica napus*: they noticed that bacterial IAA production is enhanced in the presence of Cd. IAA can stimulate plant cell proliferation and elongation (Glick *et al.*, 1998). It can promote root growth resulting in a larger root surface which has positive effects on water and nutrient uptake (Patten and Glick, 2002).

Also, the release of organic acids by bacteria can lead to an improved plant growth due to the solubilization of inorganic phosphates (Dimpka *et al.*, 2009b). Nevertheless, production of organic acids was more frequently found in endophytes from control seeds compared to Cd seeds (10.28% vs. 3.64%), suggesting that it is probably of less importance for seed development and seedling establishment in the presence of Cd.

On the other hand, bacterial ACC deaminase activity appeared to be of major importance in the early stages of development as it was almost 2.5 times more present in endophytes from Cd seeds compared to control seeds (86.11% vs. 36.97%). Also Timmusk et al. (2011) observed that areas with stressful plant growth conditions contained significantly higher numbers of ACC deaminase producing bacterial strains compared to areas with better growth conditions. Glick et al. (1998) demonstrated that bacterial ACC deaminase activity may lower the levels of stress ethylene in the plant thereby allowing the plant to develop longer roots and thus establish itself better during the early stages of growth. They also mentioned that ACC deaminase-producing bacteria become ineffective for promoting root growth if they are added to the seeds more than 1 day after imbibition. If ACC deaminase is not present prior to the induction of ACC oxidase during imbibition, the ratio of ACC deaminase to ACC oxidase becomes less favorable to the lowering of ACC levels and hence ethylene production (Glick et al., 1998). In addition, plants or seeds that are provided with ACC deaminase-producing bacteria were reported to be more resistant to the deleterious effects of stress ethylene that is synthesized in harmful conditions such as the presence of toxic metals (Burd et al., 1998; Arteca and Arteca, 2007; Dell'Amico et al., 2008).

Some genera displayed certain characteristics in very high numbers (95-100%) regardless of whether they were present in control seeds or Cd seeds. For example, *Methylobacterium sp.* and *Sphingomonas sp.* showed high metal tolerance in both types of seeds (underlined in table 4.5). Other genera displayed a certain characteristic only in high numbers (95-100%) if they were isolated from Cd seeds. For example, *Bacillus sp.* showed clearly increased Cd-tolerance, production of siderophores, IAA and organic acids, and ACC deaminase activity in Cd seeds compared to control seeds (dotted line in table 4.5).

It appears that some bacterial genera display specific phenotypes only under Cd-stress. During the colonization of the plant, this could result in a selective advantage over other bacteria present in the environment that do not possess these characteristics. The selective advantage is even greater when these bacterial phenotypes are already present in the seeds because the earlier in the plant's development a bacterium can be established, the better the chances that it might out-compete others (Dimpka *et al.*, 2009b).

Table 4.5: Percentages of genera isolated from control and Cd seeds that display a certain characteristic. Sid = siderophores, OA = organic acids, ACCD = 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid deaminase. Percentages reflect the number of bacteria belonging to a certain genus/total community that show a certain phenotypic characteristic relative to the total number of bacteria belonging to this genus/total community. Underlined values are referred to in the discussion.

Genus	Accession no.	0.4 mM Cd	0.8 mM Cd	0.6 mM Zn	0.4 mM Cu	Sid	IAA	OA	ACCD
			Control s	seeds					
Methylobacterium	GU294332 EF126750	<u>97.1</u>	<u>97.1</u>	<u>97.1</u>	<u>97.1</u>	42.4	22.2	22.7	28.9
Sinorhizobium	HM011059	5.6	5.6	5.6	5.6	5.7	9.9	13.1	64.9
Micrococcus	AJ717369	0	0	0	0	0.37	0.37	0	1.5
Bacillus	AB245378 EU221335	<u>86.7</u>	<u>12.8</u>	14.2	12.8	<u>87.0</u>	<u>12.8</u>	<u>73.9</u>	<u>0.31</u>
Staphylococcus	AM945546 HM355720	51.1	51.1	51.1	51.1	0	0	100	0
Variovorax	EU341214 AY512635	75.1	75.1	75.1	75.1	75.1	75.1	75.1	0
Rhizobium	EU256433 AB453869 FJ719352 EF437256 HM032840	36.7	12.3	12.5	12.5	32.8	68.4	5.3	3.1
Sphingomonas	HM629444 AY563441	<u>96.4</u>	<u>96.4</u>	<u>97.6</u>	<u>99.8</u>	7.7	22.4	3.1	79.6
Acidovorax	AM989684 HM027578	99.2	99.2	100	99.2	0	33.1	0	0
Total		64.6	53.2	53.7	54.4	24.8	40.1	10.3	37.0

Genus	Accession no.	0.4 mM Cd	0.8 mM Cd	0.6 mM Zn	0.4 mM Cu	Sid	IAA	OA	ACCD
			Cd see	eds					
Methylobacterium	GU294332	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>	20.0	40.0	0	100
Bacillus	EU888579	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>	0	0	100	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>
	AJ717375								
Staphylococcus	HM355667	14.9	13.2	13.2	13.2	0	10.3	13.2	1.8
	FJ613577								
Variovorax	EU341214	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	93.0
	EU256433								
Rhizobium	AB453869	23.9	21.7	11.1	0.05	36.0	98.7	22.7	26.1
	FJ719352								
Sphingomonas	AY563441	<u>99.9</u>	<u>99.9</u>	<u>100</u>	<u>99.9</u>	0.05	0.40	0.02	97.6
Acidovorav	AM989684	02.4	02 1	10.1	10.2		0.24	ـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	02 4
ACIUOVULAX	HM027578	93.4	93.1	19.1	19.3	0	0.34	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	93.4
Paenibacillus	AJ297715	100	100	100	100	0	0	0	0
Bosea	FJ774000	98.8	0	0	49.4	0.59	0	0	9.9
Pseudomonas	AY236959	100	0	0	100	100	0	0	100
Total		76.6	76.1	68.1	66.7	4.5	12.5	3.6	86.1

Table 4.5: continued
Regardless from which generation or seed type the cultivable endophytes were derived, a large fraction of the community was able to produce IAA (Table 4.6). This indicates that certain plant growth promoting characteristics are important to the plant and thus are transferred to the next generation. ACC deaminase activity was abundant in Cd seeds of all generations, while it occured in varying amounts in control seeds (Table 4.6). This indicates that this is an important trait to cope with Cd stress. The percentage of the bacterial community tolerant to 0.4 mM Cd remained high, between 59.3% and 96.2%, over generations in Cd seeds, but decreased from 64.6% to 17.7% in control seeds (Table 4.6), again indicating that certain characteristics are only transferred to the next generation if they are useful to the plant. The presence of selected endophytic communities in seedlings makes rapid adaptation to environmental conditions possible by stimulating different beneficial functions (Hardoim et al., 2012). Johnston-Monje et al. (2014) also observed that the bacterial traits beneficial to young maize plants are not derived from uptake of soil bacteria but rather from bacteria supplied by vertical transmission.

Some additional phenotypic tests were performed on the seed endophytes selected for the plant growth promotion assay (chapter 7). In order to survive and proliferate during germination, seed endophytes must be able to use the nutrients present in the seed. As phytate is the main storage form of P in seeds (López-López et al., 2010), it is not surprising that all 10 selected seed endophytes were able to mineralize phytate. During plant development, extracellular phytase activity can also contribute to plant growth promotion in case of P limitation (Idriss et al., 2002). Moreover, the presence of bacterial phytase in the rhizosphere can lower chelate-forming phytate, which binds nutritionally important minerals (Reddy et al., 1989). Another plant nutrient that generally is limiting is nitrogen. Remarkably, 2 of the selected Rhizobium sp. and 3 of the selected Sphingomonas sp. were able to fix  $N_2$ . Although  $N_2$  fixation is a typical feature associated with leguminous plants, a number of nonleguminous plants are also recognized to possess the ability to fix N<sub>2</sub> through exogenous or endogenous symbiosis with  $N_2$ -fixing bacteria (Trinick, 1973; Boddey et al., 1995; Gopalaswamy and Kannaiyan, 2000). The transmission of this ability to the next generation via seeds further underscores the importance of  $N_2$  fixation in non-leguminous plants. None of the selected endophytes showed acetoin production or phosphate solubilization capacities.

Table 4.6: Percentages of the cultivable bacterial communities isolated from control and
Cd seeds after 8, 12 and 14 generations of plant growth that display a certain phenotypic
characteristic. IAA = indole-3-acetic acid, OA = organic acids, SID = siderophores, ACCD
= 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase. Co = control seeds, Cd = Cd seeds.

Generation	8		1:	2	1.	4
Seed type	Со	Cd	Со	Cd	Со	Cd
0.4 mM Cd	64.6	76.6	8.0	59.3	17.7	96.2
IAA	40.1	12.5	100	98.9	86.1	97.1
ACCD	37.0	86.1	12.0	98.8	100	97.1

### 4.2 Conclusion

We established that the standard sterilization protocol for *A. thaliana* seeds is too harsh. It ensures a profound sterilization of the surface, but at the same time destroys the bacterial seed endophytes. Since most of the strains described here display growth-promoting characteristics, it is reasonable to hypothesize that their colonization of seeds is beneficial for germination and/or seedling development, because it ensures the presence of potentially important bacteria at the time of germination and further growth. Moreover, it appeared that the selection of endophytes for transfer to the next generation is not absolutely random. It seems, at least in part, based on the bacterial traits and the environmental stressors experienced by the parental plant. Plants may enrich specific endophytic bacterial genotypes in response to soil contamination via an as-yet-unknown plant process or the numbers of certain genotypes may increase due to contaminant flux through the plant (Siciliano *et al.*, 2001).

The production of seeds on a bacteria-poor substrate reduced the size, diversity and richness of the seed endophytic community. Based on the composition of the cultivable and total communities, *Rhizobium* and *Pseudomonas* belong to the core microbiota present in *A. thaliana* seeds as they were both very predominant in control and Cd seeds of all generations. The conservation of certain species or their associated phenotypic abilities could reflect common needs of *A. thaliana* during germination, growth and development, and pathogen defense (Nelson, 2004).

Our data indicate that the seed endophytic community of *A. thaliana* seeds is composed of some bacterial genera that are tightly associated with these seeds, while others are specialized endophytes that are selectively taken up from the environment (Johnston-Monje *et al.*, 2014). For example, IAA-producing endophytes were abundant in both seed types studied, while Cd-tolerant endophytes were mainly recruited by seeds from Cd-exposed plants. This indicates that certain endophyte associations might be essential to meet environment-specific host needs (Lundberg *et al.*, 2012).

# CHAPTER 5 The effect of Cd and Ni on the cultivable seed endophytic community of *Agrostis capillaris*

Truyens S, Jambon I, Croes S, Janssen J, Weyens N, Mench M, Carleer R, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2014. The effect of long-term Cd and Ni exposure on seed endophytes of Agrostis capillaris and their potential application in phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils. International Journal of Phytoremediation 16(7-8): 643-659.

To compare the effects of the lab-induced Cd selection pressure found in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (chapter 4) with a field situation, the cultivable seed endophytic communities of *Agrostis capillaris* growing on a long-term Cd/Ni contaminated plot and a control plot were isolated. The composition of these communities and their associated phenotypic characteristics were determined.

### 5.1 Results

### 5.1.1 Optimization of the sterilization protocol

Different seed sterilization protocols were tested in order to determine a protocol that delivers the highest number of  $cfu.g^{-1}$  seed and as many morphologically distinct colony types, while still ensuring a sterile seed surface (Table 5.1). The optimal protocol for *A. capillaris* seed sterilization appeared to be: no exposure to ethanol and 0.5 min rinsing in 0.05% NaClO solution.

Table 5.	.1: (	Overview	of the	different	steriliza	ition pro	otocols	and th	neir eff	ect on	the sterilit	зy
of the se	eed :	surface,	cfu.g <sup>-1</sup>	seed and	l numbe	r of mo	rpholog	jically	distinc	t colon	y types th	at
				(	could be	isolate	d.					

70% EtOH	Time in NaClO (min)	Strength NaClO (%)	Seed surface	Cfu.g <sup>−1</sup> seed	Morphologically distinct colony types
Vac	1	0.1	Not sterile	0	-
res	I	0.05	Sterile	144	1
		0.1	Sterile	64269	1
N	1	0.01	Not sterile	6394139	3
NO		0.05	Not sterile	21451	2
	0.5	0.05	Sterile	6251722	3

#### 5.1.2 Isolation of seed endophytes

Isolation of the cultivable seed endophytes resulted in 7.5 x  $10^6$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> for seeds collected on the control plot (control seeds) and 1 x  $10^6$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> for seeds from the Cd/Ni-contaminated plot (Cd/Ni seeds). The diversity of the cultivable bacterial isolates was similar for both seed types. *Pantoea sp.* was the most abundant genus among the isolates obtained from both seed types: 40% and 51% in control and Cd/Ni seeds respectively (Table 5.2). Also *Lysinibacillus sp.* was present in high amounts in both control (27%) and Cd/Ni seeds (33%). The remainder of the cultivable endophytes isolated from control seeds consisted of *Pseudomonas sp.* (23%), *Bacillus sp.* (9%) and *Brevibacillus sp.* (1%) (Table 5.2). *Bacillus sp.* and *Brevibacillus sp.* was not isolated from Cd/Ni seeds (Table 5.2). The 16S rDNA-based identification procedure was confirmed with a UPGMA tree. Clustering of the same genera confirmed the reliability of the identification procedure (results not shown).

Table 5.2: Number of isolates used for analysis, relative abundance (RA) compared to the total cultivable community, percentage sequence identity with the 16S rDNA of the reference strain and accession number in the EMBL database of the genera isolated from control and Cd/Ni seeds.

Conus	Number of i	solates (RA)	% identity (accession number)			
Genus	Control Cd/Ni		Control	Cd/Ni		
Pantoea	17 (40%)	4 (51%)	0.994 (FJ357836)	0.949 (DQ365569)		
Lysinibacillus	2 (27%)	1 (33%)	1.000 (EF472269)	1.000 (EF472269)		
Bacillus	1 (9%)	6 (10%)	1.000 (AY124766)	0.994 (AB508884)		
Brevibacillus	1 (1%)	14 (6%)	0.997 (AB215101)	0986 (AB215101)		
Pseudomonas	4 (23%)	-	0.831 (DQ813308)	-		

Isolated seed endophytes were tested for ACC deaminase activity, production of organic acids, siderophores, IAA and acetoin, ability to fix  $N_2$  and to solubilize phosphates, and their tolerance to Cd, Ni, Zn and Cu (Table 5.3). The most distinctive characteristics among isolates obtained from Cd/Ni seeds were ACC deaminase activity (78.4%), production of siderophores (42.4%), IAA (82.6%) and acetoin (43.4%), and solubilization of phosphates (95.2%). Acetoin production and phosphate solubilization were also abundant in endophytes isolated from control seeds (57.3% and 88.8%), while ACC deaminase activity and siderophore and IAA production were strikingly lower (27.6%, 0.6% and

32.2%). Organic acid production and  $N_2$  fixation were more frequently found in endophytes obtained from control seeds than from Cd/Ni seeds (16.4% vs. 0% and 32.8% vs. 3.7% respectively).

Although mainly the same genera were identified in control and Cd/Ni seeds, their phenotypic characteristics differed widely. Several genera showed a certain characteristic for 80% or more of the strains in one seed type, while they showed that same characteristic for 5% or less in the other seed type. For example, all *Lysinibacillus* strains isolated from Cd/Ni seeds exhibited IAA production, while none of the *Lysinibacillus* strains from control seeds possessed this capacity (examples are indicated with a full line in table 5.3). Other characteristics were present in comparable amounts whether the genus was isolated from control or from Cd/Ni seeds. For example, *Lysinibacillus* sp. showed 96.6% to 100% ACC deaminase activity irrespective of which seed type it was isolated from (examples are indicated with a dotted line in table 5.3).

Surprising was the high percentage of endophytes obtained from control seeds (99.7%) that were tolerant to 0.2 mM Cd. In Cd/Ni seeds only 2.7% of the isolated endophytes showed tolerance to this Cd exposure. In control seeds, only *Lysinibacillus sp.* showed almost no Cd tolerance, while 4 other genera isolated from these seeds showed 100% tolerance to that Cd concentration. However, the number of isolated strains tolerant to 0.4 mM Cd was much lower: only 5.8% in control seeds and even 0% in Cd/Ni seeds. Also Zn tolerance was remarkably higher in control seeds compared to Cd/Ni seeds (40.8% vs. 8.9%). Cu tolerance was only detected in *Bacillus sp.* from Cd/Ni seeds: 73.1% of the *Bacillus* isolates were Cu-tolerant. None of the endophytes from both seed types showed tolerance to the Ni concentrations tested. Although metal tolerance was generally low in the bacterial isolates from Cd/Ni seeds, *Bacillus sp.* showed 61.4% Cd tolerance, 96.7% Zn tolerance and 73.1% Cu tolerance.

Table 5.3: Percentages of genera isolated from control and Cd/Ni seeds that display a certain phenotypic characteristic. ACC = 1aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid, IAA = indole-3-acetic acid. Percentages reflect the number of bacteria belonging to a certain genus/total community that show a certain phenotypic characteristic relative to the total number of bacteria belonging to this genus/total community. Underlined values are referred to in the text.

Genus	Accession no.	0.2 mM Cd	0.4 mM Cd	1 mM Ni	0.3 MM Zn	0.2 mM Cu	ACC deaminase	Organic acids	Siderophores	IAA	Acetoin	N <sub>2</sub> fixation	P solubilization
				(	Control	seeds							
Pantoea	AF130946 EU598802 AY924374 FJ357836	100	2.9	0	87.4	0	13.3	19.2	0.54	42.5	86.5	16.7	<u>100</u>
Pseudomonas	DQ813308 FJ662891 GQ900589	100	2.9	0	20.3	0	100	0	0	1.45	0	58.0	40.6
Brevibacillus	AB215101	100	0	0	100	0	<u>0</u>	0	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>	<u>100</u>	0	100
Lysinibacillus	EF472269	3.4	0	0	0	0	<u>96.6</u>	0	0	<u>0</u>	3.4	96.6	100
Bacillus	AY124766	100	0	0	100	0	<u>0</u>	<u>100</u>	0	100	<u>0</u>	0	100
Total		99.7	5.8	0	40.8	0	27.6	16.4	0.6	32.2	57.3	32.8	88.8
					Cd/Ni s	eeds							
Brevibacillus	AB215101	0	0	0	11.1	0	<u>82.9</u>	0	<u>2.73</u>	100	<u>2.51</u>	0.11	83.6
Pantoea	DQ365569 AF130946	0	0	0	0	0	66.3	0	66.9	66.9	66.3	0.58	99.4
Lysinibacillus	EF472269	0	0	0	0	0	100	0	0	<u>100</u>	0	0	100
Bacillus	DQ523500 AB508884	61.4	0	0	96.7	73.1	<u>96.7</u>	<u>0</u>	73.1	<u>100</u>	<u>88.2</u>	11.8	<u>88.2</u>
Total		2.7	0	0	6.9	8.9	78.4	0	42.4	82.6	43.4	3.7	95.2

The above mentioned results are not in line with the results obtained with *Arabidopsis thaliana* where more metal-tolerant endophytes were isolated from seeds of plants grown on the Cd-contaminated soil (Truyens *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, these results do not meet the expectations based on 'bioavailable' amounts of Cd and Ni at the experimental plots (Table 5.4). For this purpose, we determined Cd and Ni concentrations in *A. capillaris* shoots and seeds from both the control and Cd/Ni-contaminated plot as these directly impact the endophyte metal tolerance. While total Cd and Ni concentrations were much higher in soils from the contaminated plot compared with the control plot, these differences appeared to be much lower when considering Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>-extractable amounts in soils and concentrations in plant shoots and seeds (Table 5.4).

Table 5.4: Cd and Ni content of soil and *A. capillaris* shoot and seed samples from both the control and Cd/Ni-contaminated site. \* = p < 0.05; \*\* = p < 0.01; \*\*\* = p < 0.001 compared to the same metal on the control plot.

Metal	Plot	Soil (total)	Soil (Ca(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> - extractable)	Shoot (total)	Seed (total)
Cd	Control	$2.94 \pm 1.1$	$0.67 \pm 0.018$	$0.77 \pm 0.065$	< 0.25
(mg.kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Cd/Ni	82.4 ± 32.2 <sup>***</sup>	3.90 ± 0.17***	$4.48 \pm 1.44^{**}$	3.90 ± 0.29***
Ni	Control	6.75 ± 1.53	$1.02 \pm 0.040$	$6.89 \pm 0.23$	$10.20 \pm 3.81$
(mg.kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Cd/Ni	160 ± 49.1***	8.05 ± 0.11***	$33.5 \pm 1.1^*$	$24.12 \pm 3.92$

### 5.2 Discussion

The number of cultivable endophytes isolated from *A. capillaris* seeds was on average  $10^6$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed. This is higher than expected as it is generally reported that the number of cultivable endophytes decreases from the rhizosphere to the roots, to stems and leaves, and reaches  $10^2$ - $10^3$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> in seeds (Benizri *et al.*, 2001; Hallmann, 2001). This might be due to the fact that the isolation procedure was carefully optimized and adapted for *A. capillaris* seeds. Especially the minimal strength of the NaClO solution (0.05%) could preserve the bacteria in the seed interior, while at the same time ensuring a sterile seed surface. The number of cfu isolated from Cd/Ni seeds was 7.5 times lower compared to the control seeds, which suggests a reduction in bacterial abundance after long-term metal exposure (Chen *et al.*, 2014).

To our knowledge, this was the first time that *Brevibacillus sp.* was isolated from seeds. *Lysinibacillus sp.* was only isolated from seeds of rapeseed (Croes,

unpublished results). *Pseudomonas sp.* were already isolated from seeds of rapeseed (Granér *et al.*, 2003), spruce (Cankar *et al.*, 2005), coffee (Vega *et al.*, 2006), cactus (Puente *et al.*, 2009b), ash (Donnarumma *et al.*, 2010) and tobacco (Mastretta *et al.*, 2009). Also *Bacillus sp.* were found in seeds of rapeseed (Granér *et al.*, 2003), coffee (Vega *et al.*, 2006) and ash (Donnarumma *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, *Bacillus sp.* have been isolated from seeds of rice (Okunishi *et al.*, 2005; Mano *et al.*, 2006; Kaga *et al.*, 2009), eucalyptus (Ferreira *et al.*, 2008), bean (López-López *et al.*, 2010), grapevine (Compant *et al.*, 2011) and rapeseed (Granér *et al.*, 2003), rice (Okunishi *et al.*, 2005; Kaga *et al.*, 2003), rice (Okunishi *et al.*, 2005; Kaga *et al.*, 2001).

Most of the genera isolated from *A. capillaris* seeds occurred in both control and Cd/Ni seeds. Long *et al.* (2008) suggested 2 possible scenarios for the recruitment of endophytes: (1) bacteria with general growth promoting characteristics that are readily recruited by all plant species and (2) bacteria, once recruited by a particular host, that undergo specific adaptations which result in a finely tuned mutualism. In our case, obviously fine-tuning of phenotypic characteristics of the bacteria occurred and was induced by the presence or absence of Cd and Ni in the soil. Further, *Pseudomonas sp.* occurred in control seeds but not in Cd/Ni seeds which could be related to a contaminant-dependent effect. Frostegård *et al.* (1993) indicated that a relationship exists between changes in the community tolerance pattern and changes in the community species composition due to metal contamination of the soil. However, we did not observe many changes in community composition (Table 5.2), but great differences in metal tolerance between seed endophytes from the control and Cd/Ni-contaminated plot (Table 5.3).

Surprisingly, endophytes from control seeds displayed much more tolerance to 0.2 mM Cd than endophytes from Cd/Ni seeds (99.7% vs. 2.7%), although this difference was lower at higher Cd exposure (5.8% vs. 0%). The excluder mechanisms reported to be developed by *A. capillaris* in response to toxic metal exposure could explain this observation (Symeonidis *et al.*, 1985; Dahmani-Muller *et al.*, 2000). *A. capillaris* is known as a pseudometallophyte, growing on both contaminated and non-contaminated soils, that develops metal exclusion

from aerial parts as a metal tolerance strategy (Turner and Marshall, 1972; Baker, 1987; Dahmani-Muller et al., 2000). On the Cd/Ni contaminated soil, plants could have developed an excluder mechanism preventing the endophytes from being exposed to Cd. Consequently, these endophytes do not need to acquire Cd tolerance. By contrast, development of an excluder mechanism was not expected on the control plot since plants were exposed to low, for plants harmless amounts of Cd which gave the endophytes the opportunity to develop Cd tolerance. However, no evidence for an exclusion mechanism was found. On the contrary, the metal content of shoots from the Cd/Ni-contaminated plot is much higher than that of shoots from the control plot (Table 5.4). Moreover, a very good correlation was found between the  $Ca(NO_3)_2$ -extractable metals in the soils and the metal contents in the shoots (Table 5.4). Also the Cd content in the seeds was still higher for seeds from the contaminated plot compared to seeds from the control plot (Table 5.4). Mechanisms reducing internal 'bioavailability' of the root-to-shoot transported metals can be another explanation for this lower metal tolerance in endophytes associated with plants growing on the metal contaminated plot. It is possible that the plants growing on the contaminated plot developed mechanisms such as vacuolar compartmentalization and phytochelatine complexation (Vögeli-Lange and Wagner, 1996; Sanita di Toppi and Gabbrielli, 1999). Lodewyckx (2001b) also reported a lower metal tolerance for endophytes from roots of Thlaspi caerulescens growing on a heavily contaminated soil compared to those of Brassica napus growing on an uncontaminated garden soil.

Concerning the plant growth promoting characteristics, ACC deaminase activity was found in a major part of the isolated cultivable endophytes from Cd/Ni seeds. This might be due to the elevated Cd and Ni concentrations in the roots of plants growing on the contaminated soil. Bacterial ACC deaminase is normally present in the cell in low levels until it is induced. As its induction is a slow and complex process, bacterial ACC deaminase can lower harmful stress ethylene levels in the plant without affecting the small early peak of ethylene production that is important to activate plant defense responses (Glick and Stearns, 2011). By consequence, seed endophytes with ACC deaminase activity can allow the plant to establish itself better during the early stages of growth (Glick *et al.*, 1998). In addition, plants or seeds that are colonised by ACC deaminase-

producing bacteria were reported to be more resistant to the deleterious effects of stress ethylene that is synthesized in harmful conditions such as the presence of toxic metals (Burd et al., 1998; Arteca and Arteca, 2007; Dell'Amico et al., 2008). Beside ACC-deaminase activity, the production of siderophores and IAA was also increased in the endophytic strains from Cd/Ni seeds compared to control seeds. On metal-contaminated soils, siderophores are important for acquiring sufficient Fe, as metal contamination is often associated with Fe deficiency due to the competition between toxic metal ions and Fe for uptake (Wallace et al., 1992; Dimpka et al., 2008). Siderophores can also protect bacteria, and their host plant, against metal toxicity as they bind the metal ions in the extracellular medium and prevent their diffusion into the cell (Schalk et al., 2011). IAA can promote root growth and induces proliferation and elongation of root hairs, which results in a larger root surface that positively influences water and nutrient uptake (Patten and Glick, 2002). Moreover, a high percentage of the endophytes isolated from Cd/Ni seeds were able to solubilize phosphate despite the absence of organic acid production. This implies that phosphate is solubilized through the secretion of extracellular phosphatases rather than the production of organic acids (Jorquera et al., 2008). These endophytes can thus increase the phosphate uptake by the plant and hence stimulate its growth (Kim et al., 1998; Gyaneshwar et al., 2002). The abovementioned findings are in line with results of a study on field grown Brassica napus where plants were grown from the same seed stock on both uncontaminated control and Cd/Zn contaminated field sites (Croes et al., 2013). In this study, they found that the majority of Cd/Zn tolerant strains showing phosphate solubilization,  $N_2$  fixation, IAA production and ACC deaminase activity were found in the rhizosphere and roots of plants growing on the Cd/Zn contaminated field. Also the seed endophytes from Arabidopsis thaliana showed high Cd tolerance, IAA production and ACC deaminase activity when plants were grown on a Cd contaminated soil (Truyens et al., 2013; chapter 4).

### 5.3 Conclusion

Long-term growth on a Cd/Ni-contaminated field site induced changes in the seed endophytic community of *Agrostis capillaris*. These changes were mainly on

the level of community characteristics rather than community composition. The results obtained here are not completely in agreement with the results obtained with the lab-induced Cd selection pressure in *Arabidopsis thaliana* described in the previous chapter. While bacterial ACC deaminase activity appeared to be very important in coping with Cd stress in both *A. thaliana* and *A. capillaris*, Cd tolerance was found in most endophytes from Cd-exposed *A. thaliana* seeds but was almost absent in endophytes from Cd/Ni-exposed *A. capillaris* seeds. This can be attributed to the pseudometallophyte nature of *A. capillaris*: metal exclusion from aerial parts as well as metal compartmentalization and complexation prevent the development of metal tolerance mechanisms in endophytes present in *A. capillaris*.

### CHAPTER 6 The effects of the growth substrate on cultivable and total endophytic communities of *Arabidopsis thaliana*

Truyens S, Beckers B, Thijs S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 201x. The effects of the growth substrate on cultivable and total endophytic communities of Arabidopsis thaliana. Submitted to Plant and Soil.

In this chapter, we studied the effect of 2 frequently used substrates for production of *Arabidopsis thaliana* seeds on the cultivable and total seed endophytic communities of this model plant. Bacteria present in sand (bacteria-poor) and a mixture of sand and potting soil (bacteria-rich) were identified and compared with the endophytes present in the seeds that were harvested from plants grown on these substrate types. Furthermore, endophytic communities of plants grown from these seeds were compared to determine if the substrate type still has an effect on the establishment of the plant bacterial community.

### 6.1 Results and discussion

The total bacterial communities of soil, seed, radicle and leaf samples were determined using 454 pyrosequencing. Sequencing of the 2 amplicon libraries generated a total of 283146 reads with an average read length of 403 bp. After quality trimming and assigning the reads to the different samples, a total of 145526 high quality reads remained. For the 22 samples (soil, seeds, radicles and leaves) together 93202 high quality bacterial reads were finally recovered. The rarefaction curves indicated that subsampling at 2000 sequences per sample was sufficient (Fig. 6.1). This was also confirmed by the Good's coverage estimator, which was between 95.8% and 99.9% for all samples (Table 6.1). The observed number of OTUs, the inverse Simpson diversity index and the Chao richness estimator were generally higher in potting soil and plant samples originating from potting soil (Table 6.1). These parameters were also higher for soil and leaf samples compared to seed and radicle samples (Table 6.1).



Figure 6.1: Rarefaction curves for soil (blue), seed (red), radicle (yellow), and leaf (green) samples. Dotted lines are samples from sand; full lines are samples from potting soil. The vertical line indicates the number of sequences (2000) subsampled from each sample for further analysis.

Table 6.1: Good's coverage estimator, number of OTUs (Sobs), inverse Simpson diversity index and Chao richness estimator at similarity level 97%. Values are based on 1000 subsamplings of 2000 sequences per sample. S = sand, PS = potting soil. \*\* = p < 0.01, \*\*\* = p < 0.001 compared to the same matrix but other substrate. a = p < 0.05, b = p < 0.01 and c = p < 0.001 compared to the same substrate but different matrix (indicated in capital letter: S = soil, L = leaf).

Matrix	Substrate	Coverage ± stdev	Sobs ± stdev	InvSimpson ± stdev	Chao ± stdev
Soil	S	97.9 ± 0.26	175.3 ± 4.15	$12.3 \pm 0.44$	202.8 ± 11.4
301	PS	95.8 ± 0.31	$251.1 \pm 4.49^{**}$	$31.6 \pm 0.78$	$312.4 \pm 14.6^{**}$
Sood	S	99.6 ± 0.11	$20.8 \pm 1.92^{cSL}$	$1.7 \pm 0.03^{cS}$	$29.4 \pm 9.00^{Cs,bL}$
Seeu	PS	99.6 ± 0.10	22.6 ± 1.77 <sup>cSL</sup>	$3.3 \pm 0.05^{**,cL}$	$29.6 \pm 7.48^{cSL}$
Dadiala	S	99.9 ± 0.08	9.4 ± 1.51 <sup>cSL</sup>	1.1 ± 0.01 <sup>cSL</sup>	13.8 ± 5.96 <sup>cSL</sup>
Radicie	PS	99.8 ± 0.07	$12.4 \pm 1.27 ^{cSL}$	$2.3 \pm 0.04^{***, cS, aL}$	$16.5 \pm 4.97^{cSL}$
Loof	S	99.2 ± 0.15	49.9 ± 2.37	$2.2 \pm 0.03$	64.1 ± 9.48
Lear	PS	99.3 ± 0.12	$56.7 \pm 1.75$	$9.4 \pm 0.14^{**}$	69.0 ± 7.30

The higher microbial presence in potting soil compared to sand is expected since microbial growth in sand is usually resource-limited and addition of organic matter rapidly induces growth (Wardle, 1992). Tiquia *et al.* (2002) found that soil amended with composted yard waste had a higher total microbial biomass than unamended soil. This was confirmed in our counts of the cultivable bacterial community: the total number of cultivable cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> isolated from sand and potting soil were respectively 6.7 x 10<sup>4</sup> and 1.6 x 10<sup>5</sup> (Table 6.2). The higher number of cultivable bacteria present in potting soil also resulted in higher numbers of cfu isolated from seeds harvested from plants grown on potting soil compared to seeds harvested from sand-grown plants. After

emergence of the radicle this difference disappeared. Also community sizes of cultivable bacteria in leaves from both seed types were very similar (Table 6.2).

	Cfu.g <sup>-1</sup>				
	Sand Potting so				
Soil	6.7 x 10 <sup>4</sup>	1.6 x 10⁵			
Seeds	5.6 x 10⁵	3.4 x 10 <sup>7**</sup>			
Radicles	6.1 x 10 <sup>7</sup>	2.3 x 10 <sup>7</sup>			
Leaves	4.0 x 10 <sup>4</sup>	2.9 x 10 <sup>4</sup>			

Table 6.2: Amounts of cultivable bacteria (cfu.g<sup>-1</sup>) for the different matrices. \*\* = p < 0.01 compared to the same matrix but other substrate.

The composition of the cultivable bacterial community isolated from sand was less diverse compared to the community isolated from potting soil. It consisted mainly of *Bacillus* (66%) and *Micrococcus* (33.3%) with a minor share of *Staphylococcus* (0.7%) (Fig. 6.2A). The bacterial community present in potting soil was also dominated by *Bacillus* (23.1%), but in addition also *Streptomyces* (22.1%) and *Cellulomonas* (17.2%) were abundant (Fig. 6.2A). Looking at the total bacterial community present in soil, many more genera could be detected as expected based on the results of the cultivable community, especially in sand samples (Fig. 6.2B).

Although the cultivable bacterial community in sand is very different from that in potting soil, the communities isolated from seeds harvested on these 2 substrate types were highly similar (Fig. 6.2A). Pseudomonas and Rhizobium comprised a large part of the cultivable community in both seed types: respectively 58.9% and 41.1% in seeds harvested from plants grown on sand and 43.8% and 16.1% in seeds harvested from potting soil-grown plants. In seeds harvested on potting soil also Stenotrophomonas (36.9%) and Variovorax (3.2%) were found. Moreover, the total bacterial communities of seeds were very different from the soil ones and were dominated by the same genera as the cultivable bacterial communities (Fig. 6.2A+B). From seeds harvested from sand- and potting soilgrown plants respectively 11.9% and 7.5% of the total bacterial community was composed of *Rhizobium* and respectively 5.4% and 6.0% of *Pseudomonas*. Several other authors found that, although there is similarity between soil and rhizospheric bacterial communities, there is a disparity between the rhizospheric and endophytic communities (Gottel et al., 2011; Lundberg et al., 2012; Croes et al., 2013). Also Green et al. (2006) found that root bacterial community

### Chapter 6

profiles differed significantly from those in the initial potting substrate. They suggested that persistence was a result of rhizosphere competence rather than abundance in the potting substrate. Rhizosphere competence of soil bacteria together with other plant characteristics could determine which bacteria will be able to colonize the plant and finally the seeds. Bulgarelli *et al.* (2013) suggested a 2-step selection model where plant root exudates drive a community shift in the rhizosphere, and where fine-tuning of the endosphere is accomplished by host-controlled mechanisms such as the innate immune system.

After germination, the bacterial community present in the radicle emerging from seeds harvested from sand-grown plants was similar to that of seeds harvested from plants growing on potting soil (Fig. 6.2A+B). Moreover, these communities were very similar to those isolated from the ungerminated seeds (Fig. 6.2A+B). In the cultivable community of the radicle from seeds harvested from plants grown on sand only *Pseudomonas* was found, while in the total community also Rhizobium (11.4%) was shown to be an important component. The cultivable community in the radicle emerging from germinating seeds harvested on potting soil consisted of Pseudomonas (37.2%), Rhizobium (42.8%) and Stenotrophomonas (20%). Pseudomonas (4.6%), Rhizobium (10.8%) and Stenotrophomonas (8.6%) were also found as the main constituents of the total bacterial community in this sample.

In contrast, the bacterial community present in the leaves of 3-week old plants was very different from the seed and radicle endophytic communities (Fig. 6.2A+B). Nevertheless, the bacterial communities isolated from leaves of plants grown from seeds harvested on sand and those harvested on potting soil were very similar. They had several cultivable bacterial genera in common: *Hydrocarboniphaga* (42% and 30%), *Pimelobacter* (20.4% and 20.6%), *Sphingobacteriaceae* (8.3% and 11.2%), *Variovorax* (5.6% and 4.9%), *Sphingopyxis* (4.6% and 4.4%), *Runella* (2.9% and 4.4%), *Pedobacter* (1.7% and 2.3%) and *Pseudomonas* (0.9% and 7.5%). *Hydrocarboniphaga* (1.9% and 2.4%), *Runella* (2.3% and 1.2%) and *Pseudomonas* (2.3% and 3.1%) were also important components of the total bacterial community. In addition, 8.8% of the total bacterial community in leaves from seeds harvested on sand was composed of *Varibaculum*. The above mentioned findings suggest that the major

part of the leaf endophytic community was derived from the environment while only a minor part was derived from the seeds. This is in accordance with the findings of Normander and Prosser (2000) where barley was mainly colonized by soil-borne and not seed-borne bacteria. Also Ringelberg *et al.* (2012) found a contribution of the growing medium to the mature plant endophytic community, although in addition to the contribution of seeds. Remarkably, *Rhizobium*, a diazotroph, was one of the most abundant genera in this study. Several other studies have indicated that *Rhizobium* is able to endophytically colonize plants thereby increasing seedling vigour and plant growth (Biswas *et al.*, 2000; Chi *et al.*, 2005; García-Fraile *et al.*, 2012). Also *Pseudomonas* was found to be a prominent member of the bacterial community, especially in seeds and radicles. *Pseudomonas* is abundant in nature and known to be able to increase plant host fitness (Mercado-Blanco and Bakker, 2007; Gómez-Lama Cabanás *et al.*, 2014; Kloepper *et al.*, 1980b).

*Rhizobium, Methylobacterium* and *Pseudomonas,* which are 3 of the top 13 most abundant genus-level OTUs from leaf samples, were also found to be part of the *A. thaliana* leaf community by Bodenhausen *et al.* (2013). Also the core bacterial community on the cuticle of *A. thaliana* ecotype Landsberg erecta bears resemblance to our leaf endophytic community: *Methylobacterium, Rhizobiales* and *Sphingomonadales* are part of both communities (Reisberg *et al.*, 2013). A large part of the core community of *A. thaliana* roots consists of members of the *Rhizobiaceae, Caulobacteriaceae, Pseudomonadaceae* and *Xanthomonadaceae* (Lundberg *et al.*, 2012; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012). Members of these families were also isolated from the radicles of our seedlings: *Rhizobium, Brevundimonas, Pseudomonas* and *Stenotrophomonas* (Fig. 6.2B).



Figure 6.2: Relative abundances (%) of the isolated genera in each compartment (S = sand, PS = potting soil). A. Cultivable bacterial community. B. Total bacterial community: top 10 of most abundant genus-level OTUs of each sample are shown. The upper white part of the bars represents the remaining part of the community.

It appeared that for plants grown on the 2 different substrate types the seed and radicle endophytic communities are very similar, while the leaf endophytic community is again different. These observations were confirmed by the NMDS plot of the cultivable communities: the samples formed 4 groups based on their genera composition: (1) sand, (2) potting soil, (3) seeds and radicles from sand as well as potting soil, and (4) leaves from both sand and potting soil (Fig. 6.3A). The PERMANOVA also indicated that the highest amount of variation was explained by the compartment from which the bacteria were isolated ( $R^2 = 0.56$ ; p = 0.001) and not by the substrate type ( $R^2 = 0.06$ ; p = 0.04). For the total bacterial community, 3 main groups were formed: (1) sand and potting soil, (2) seeds and radicles from both sand and potting soil, and (3) leaves from sand as well as potting soil (Fig. 6.3B). The PERMANOVA again indicated that most of the variation was explained by the compartment where the bacteria were isolated from ( $R^2 = 0.57$ ; p = 0.001) and not by the substrate type ( $R^2 = 0.05$ ; p = 0.03).



Figure 6.3: NMDS plot of the cultivable (A) and total (B) bacterial communities isolated from the different compartments. Brown = soil samples, blue = seed and radicle samples, green = leaf samples. S = sand, PS = potting soil. Each number on the NMDS plot corresponds to an isolated bacterial genus or OTU as indicated in table S6.1 and S6.2.

### 6.2 Conclusion

We demonstrated that 2 different substrate types, frequently used for the production of *A. thaliana* seeds and containing distinct bacterial communities, delivered *A. thaliana* plants with seeds containing very similar endophytic communities. This indicates that the plant possesses selection mechanisms determining which bacteria can become seed endophytes. Johnston-Monje *et al.* (2014) pointed out that the establishment of the bacterial endophytic community is not only based on passive entry from soil, but also on selective soil uptake and vertical transmission from one generation to the next. They demonstrated that maize plants are able to select similar bacteria from diverse

soils. Also Lundberg *et al.* (2012) showed that a limited number of bacterial taxa are responsible for the establishment of the endophytic microbiome of *A. thaliana* roots across diverse soils.

The bacterial endophytic communities present after radicle emergence were also very similar to one another as well as to the seed endophytic communities. In contrast, the communities isolated from leaves of plants grown from these seeds (on the same substrate) did not resemble the communities present in the seeds, but were nevertheless very similar to each other suggesting that they are mainly composed of bacteria originating from the environment.

Finally, a BLAST of the 16S rDNA sequences of the cultivable bacteria with the OTU sequences of the corresponding pyrosequencing sample showed that matches were found for all cultivable bacteria from seed and radicle samples. In leaf samples, matches (> 97% identity) were found for 14 out of 21 sequences. Five 16S rDNA sequences showed 88 to 94% identity with the corresponding sequences. OTU The 16S rDNA sequences of Stenotrophomonas and Thiomargarita isolated from leaves were not retrieved from the OTU sequence database of leaf samples. Our data indicate that isolation and identification of the cultivable endophytic bacteria gives a good estimate of the most important members of the total community: key members of the total endophytic community were also detected in the cultivable endophytic community. This is in accordance with the findings of Hodgson (2010) concerning fungal endophytes of forbs. She reported that in herbaceous plants, such as *Plantago lanceolate*, PCR methods followed by T-RFLP produced an identical number of OTUs as identified by culturing.

### Supplementary data

Table S6.1: Genera of the cultivable community corresponding to the numbers used on the NMDS plot of figure 6.3A.

1	Nocardioides
2	Thiomargarita
3	Pedobacter
4	Chitinophaga
5	Sphingobacteriaceae
6	Cellulomonas
7	Streptomyces
8	Micrococcus
9	Pimelobacter
10	Agromyces
11	Humibacter
12	Microbacterium
13	Variovorax
14	Pseudomonas
15	Moraxella
16	Hydrocarboniphaga
17	Rhodanobacter
18	Stenotrophomonas
19	Staphylococcus
20	Bacillus
21	Devosia
22	Mesorhizobium
23	Sphingomonas
24	Sphingopyxis
25	Sphingobium
26	Terrimonas
27	Novosphingobium
28	Runella
29	Paenibacillus
30	Rhizobium
31	Sphingobacterium

1	Uc <i>Acidipilia</i>	120	Anaerovorax
2	Uc Granulicella	121	Uc Gracilibacteriaceae
3	Uc Talmatobacter	122	Clostridium_XIVa
4	Uc Acidobacteria_Gp1	123	Roseburia
5	Uc Acidobacteria_Gp2	124	Uc Lachnospiraceae
6	Uc Bryobacter	125	Desulfosporosinus
7	Uc Candidatus Solibacter	126	Uc Peptococcaceae_1
8	Uc Acidobacteria_Gp3	127	Clostridium_XI
9	Holophaga	128	Clostridium_111
10	Uc Holophagaceae	129	Ethanoligenes
11	Uc Acidobacteria	130	Uc Ruminococcaceae
12	Illumatobacter	131	Uc Clostridiales
13	Uc Acidimicrobiaceae	132	Uc Firmicutes
14	Actinomyces	133	Ignavibacterium
15	Varibaculum	134	Nitrospira
16	Uc Actinomycetaceae	135	Uc Planctomycetaceae
17	Brevibacterium	136	Asticcacaulus
18	Cellulomonas	137	Brevundimonas
19	Uc Cellulomonadaceae	138	Phenylobacterium
20	Corynebacterium	139	Uc Caulobacteraceae
21	Turicella	140	Uc Hyphomonadaceae
22	Demeguina	141	Aurantimonas
23	Brachybacterium	142	Afipia
24	Blastococcus	143	Bosea
25	Phycicoccus	144	Bradyrhizobium
26	Uc Intrasporanciaceae	145	Uc Bradyrhizobiaceae
27	Angustibacter	146	Cucumibacter
28	Quadrispaera	147	Devosia
29	Aarococcus	148	Hyphomicrobium
30	Agromyces	149	Pedomicrobium
31	Curtobacterium	150	Rhodomicrobium
32	Leifsonia	151	Lic Hyphomicrobiaceae
32	Microbacterium	152	Methylobacterium
34	Microcella	152	Microviraa
35	Pathavibacter	154	Aminobacter
26	Zimmormannolla	155	Mosorbizobium
37	Lic Microbacteriaceae	156	Phyllobacterium
30	Arthrobacter	157	Lic Phyllobacteriaceae
30	Micrococcus	158	Kaistia
40	Pothia	150	Phizohium
40 41	Uc Micrococcaceae	160	Uc Rhizobiaceae
41	Dactylosporancium	161	Bauldia
+∠ ∕\?	Le Micromonosporações	162	Degudalahrve
43	Mycobacterium	162	r seuuliali ys Yanthohactar
44	Mycrobactoriacoac	164	Nanthobacteracoao
40	Nakamuralla	104	Un Dhizohialan
40	Nakamu ena Gordonia	100	Du RIIIZUDIAIES
4/	Guluullia Nocardia	100	raiduulus
48	NUCAFAIA	167	
49	rimeiobacter	168	Aciuocella Belnenia
50	UU NUCALUIUUUACEAE Krihalla	109	Dell'Idpid
51	KI IDEIIA	170	
52	iviarmoricola	1/1	Azospirilium
53	Nocardioides	172	Dongia
54	Pimelobacter	173	UC Rhodospirillaceae
55	Uc Nocadioidaceae	174	Uc Rhodospirillales
56	Uc Promicromonosporaceae	175	Porphyrobacter
57	Friedmanniella	176	Blastomonas
58	Microlunatus	177	Novosphingobium
59	Propionibacterium	178	Sphingobium

Table S6.2: OTUs of the total community corresponding to the numbers used on the NMDS plot of figure 6.3B. Uc = unclassified.

60	Lic Propionibacteriaceae	179	Sphingomonas
61	Actinomycetospora	180	Uc Sphingomonadaceae
62	Pseudonocardia	100	Uc Sphingomonadales
62	Le Psoudonocardiacoao	101	Uc Alphaprotochactoria
03	Charlehthya	102	De Alphapi dieobaciel la
64	Sponchinga	103	
65	Streptomyces	184	Uc Alicaligenaceae
66		185	Burkholderia
6/	Microbispora	186	Limnobacter
68	Actinoaliomurus	187	Uc Burkholderlaceae
69	Uc Inermomonosporaceae	188	Aquabacterium
70	Uc Actinomycetales	189	Uc Burkholderiaceae_incertae_sedis
/1	Uc Bifidobacteriaceae	190	Acidovorax
72	Gaiella	191	Delftia
73	Rubrobacter	192	Polaromonas
74	Conexibaacter	193	Uc Comamonadaceae
75	Patulibacter	194	Massilia
76	Uc Solirubrobacterales	195	Duganella
77	Uc Actinobacteria	196	Uc Oxalobacteraceae
78	Uc Actinobacteria	197	Uc Burkholderiales
79	Uc Armatimonadetes_Gp5	198	Thiobacillus
80	Dysgomonas	199	Methylophilus
81	Prevotella	200	Uc Methylophilaceae
82	Adhaeribacter	201	Leeia
83	Larkinella	202	Uc Neisseriaceae
84	Runella	203	Methyloversatilis
85	Capnocytophaga	204	Shinella
86	Chryseobacterium	205	Zoogloea
87	Flavobacterium	206	Uc Rhodocyclaceae
88	Moheibacter	207	Uc Betaproteobacteria
89	Uc Flavobacteriaceae	208	Bdellovibrio
90	Chitinophaga	209	Geobacter
91	Sediminibacterium	210	Cystobacter
92	Terrimonas	211	Uc Nannocystaceae
93	Uc Chitinophagaceae	212	Uc Polyangiaceae
94	Uc Sphingobacteriacae	213	Uc Myxococcales
95	Uc Bacteroidetes	214	Uc Deltaproteobacteria
96	Uc Saccharibacteria	215	Marinobacter
97	Uc Parachlamydiaceae	216	Rheinheimera
98	Simkania	217	Escherichia/Shigella
99	Uc Simkaniaceae	218	Uc Enterobacteriaceae
100	Uc Ktedonobacteriales	219	Acinetobacter
101	Deinococcus	220	Enhvdrobacter
102	Alicyclobacillus	221	Cellvibrio
103	Tumebacillus	222	Pseudomonas
104	Uc Bacillaceae 1	223	Uc Pseudomonadaceae
105	Paenibacullus	224	Hydrocarbinophaga
106	Uc Paenibacillaceae 1	225	Nevskia
107	Ammoninhilus	226	Uc Sinobacteraceae
108	Chryseomicrobium	227	Dokdonella
100	Bacillus	228	Lysobacter
110	Stanhylococcus	229	Stenotrophomonas
111	Uc Staphylococcacea	230	Xanthomonas
112	Uc Bacillales	231	Uc Xanthomonadaceae
113	Aerococcus	232	Uc Xanthomonadales
114	Streptococcus	232	Uc Gammaproteobacteria
115	Uc Bacilli	234	Uc Proteobacteria
116	Clostridium sensu stricto	234	Uc Subdivision 3
117	Ovobacter	235	Prostherohacter
112	Pentoninholus	230	Lic Verrucomicrohia
119	Soehngenia	237	
	Sooningenia		

## SECTION 2 Inoculation experiments

### Abstract

Bacterial endophytes can possess plant growth promoting characteristics that can be exploited during phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils. Inoculation with these endophytes can increase plant biomass and metal uptake from soil in order to increase phytoremediation efficiency.

We studied the effects of inoculation with seed endophytes isolated from *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *Agrostis capillaris* on plant growth and Cd uptake. Several promising seed endophytes were selected for inoculation based on the results of the phenotypic screening (chapters 4 and 5).

Inoculation of *A. thaliana* with its seed endophytes on vertical agar plates or in a hydroponic culture could lead to improved plant growth during Cd exposure, although results were not consistent (chapter 7). Therefore, we investigated several factors possibly involved in bacterial colonization and inoculation success (chapter 8). Different bacterial growth stages are associated with changes in motility, chemotactic behavior and pectinase activity which could influence the plant colonizing capacity of the inoculated endophytes.

Inoculation of hydroponically grown *A. capillaris* with its seed endophytes improved plant growth and/or increased Cd uptake (chapter 7). This can be advantageous for plant establishment and growth during phytostabilization and phytoextraction of metal-contaminated soils.

Seed endophytes seem to possess the potential to contribute to a more efficient phytostabilization and phytoextraction of metal-contaminated areas, but further optimization of the inoculation process is needed to obtain a more consistent and reproducible inoculation outcome.

### CHAPTER 7 Plant growth promoting capacity of selected seed endophytes of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *Agrostis capillaris*

Parts of this chapter were published in:

Truyens S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2013. Changes in the population of seed bacteria of transgenerationally Cd-exposed Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Biology 15: 971-981.

Truyens S, Jambon I, Croes S, Janssen J, Weyens N, Mench M, Carleer R, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2014. The effect of long-term Cd and Ni exposure on seed endophytes of Agrostis capillaris and their potential application in phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils. International Journal of Phytoremediation 16(7-8): 643-659.

### 7.1 Introduction

As a consequence of both the growing population and industrial technology, large areas of our planet are contaminated with various toxic compounds (Glick, 2010). Many of the current remediation technologies include the removal of soil to landfill sites or contaminant extraction through chemical or physical methods. These technologies are rapid but costly and disturb the physical, chemical and biological properties of the soil. An alternative and sustainable approach could be phytoremediation: the use of plants and their associated microorganisms to remove, degrade or sequester hazardous substances from the environment (Cunningham and Berti, 1993).

The most critical metals contaminating soil and water systems are lead, zinc, cadmium, selenium, chromium, cobalt, copper, nickel and mercury (Glick, 2003). The sources of this contamination are the metal smelting industry, residues from metalliferous mining, combustion of fossil fuel, and waste incineration, as well as some pesticides and fertilizers used in agriculture (Vassilev *et al.*, 2004). For the removal of toxic metals either decontamination as well as stabilization strategies can be applied.

### Chapter 7

Phytoextraction involves the uptake of contaminants via the roots and translocation to the harvestable plant parts (Chaney, 1983). In addition to metal removal, these plants can produce biomass with an added economic value. The biomass itself can be used for the production of bioenergy or, in case the market value is high, metals recovered from the harvested biomass can be sold (Vassilev et al., 2004). The concept of phytoextraction was initially based on the use of hyperaccumulating plants, which can take up and tolerate extraordinary levels of metals. The criterion of hyperaccumulation of Cd is 100 mg.kg<sup>-1</sup> in the aboveground dry mass (Reeves and Baker, 2000). Another approach is based on the use of high biomass-producing plants. According to Blaylock and Huang (2000) plants that yield 20 tons.ha<sup>-1</sup>.year<sup>-1</sup> with a concentration of the targeted metal of about 1% of the harvestable dry mass are needed for successful phytoextraction. Metal availability, metal uptake and translocation, and phytotoxicity are the main limiting factors for the application of phytoextraction (Weyens et al., 2009a). Plant-associated bacteria can be used to improve the efficiency of phytoextraction: they can produce siderophores which on the one hand deliver sufficient Fe to counteract the Fe depletion in the plant due to high levels of metals, and on the other hand can bind the toxic metals. (Glick, 2003; Dimpka et al., 2009a). The latter not only diminishes phytotoxicity but also increases translocation of the metals to aboveground plant parts. Plantassociated bacteria can also promote plant growth, and by consequence metal uptake, by producing phytohormones or by alleviating metal-induced stress by degrading the ethylene precursor ACC (Glick, 2010). In addition, they can also possess or be equipped with metal tolerance systems that work according to one of these basic mechanisms: (1) active extrusion of the metal ion from the cell, (2) complexation by thiol-containing molecules or (3) reduction to a less toxic oxidation state (Nies, 1999). Burd et al. (1998) demonstrated that a Ni-resistant ACC deaminase-producing bacterium could decrease the toxicity of Ni to canola plants. Kuffner et al. (2010) observed increases in Cd and Zn accumulation in leaves of Salix caprea after inoculation with an endophytic Microbacterium strain. More recently, Ma et al. (2015) demonstrated that the hyperaccumulator Sedum plumbizincicola harbors metal-resistant endophytes that increase biomass production and metal uptake after inoculation.

Phytostabilization reduces the environmental risks associated with contaminated soils by decreasing metal bioavailability using a combination of plants and soil amendments (Vangronsveld *et al.*, 1995). The vegetative cover protects the soil from wind and water erosion and reduces water percolation through the soil in order to diminish leaching of the contaminant to the groundwater (Vangronsveld *et al.*, 1995). In addition, phytostabilization renders the site aesthetically pleasing and enhances biodiversity by restoring the local ecosystem (Vassilev *et al.*, 2004). Vásquez *et al.* (2006) used lupine plants for Cd phytostabilization as these crops decreased the soluble Cd fractions by binding the metal to root nodule cell walls and by increasing the acid soil pH, probably due to citrate excretion. Moreover, inoculation with beneficial plant-associated bacteria can help plants to cope with contaminants and increase the efficiency of phytostabilization. Grandlic *et al.* (2008) reported that plant growth-promoting bacteria enhanced the revegetation of metal-rich mine tailings and minimized the need for compost amendment.

Seed endophytes occupy a special niche among the plant-associated bacteria as they are transmitted from one plant generation to the next. Mastretta *et al.* (2009) already demonstrated that inoculation of tobacco with its seed endophytes improved plant growth and reduced metal phytotoxicity in case of Cd pollution. Kolbas *et al.* (2015) found that inoculation of sunflower with a seed extract of Cu-tolerant *Agrostis capillaris* increased shoot and root dry weight upon Cu exposure.

In this chapter, isolated seed endophytes with promising characteristics for plant growth promotion under metal-stressed conditions were tested in several inoculation experiments. *Arabidopsis thaliana* grown on vertical agar plates was inoculated with different seed endophytes in order to monitor root growth responses upon exposure to Cd. *A. thaliana* and *A. capillaris* were also grown in a hydroponic culture and inoculated with different seed endophytes to determine the effects on plant growth and metal uptake during Cd exposure.

87

### 7.2 Materials and methods

### 7.2.1 Range finding experiment

### Vertical agar plates

A. thaliana Col-0 seeds were surface-sterilized for 1 min in 0.1% NaClO with 0.1% Tween 80, washed in sterile deionized water and dried in a laminar air flow. Seeds were stored at 4°C to ensure a homogenous germination. Seeds were planted with a sterile toothpick in 12 x 12 cm transparent plates on 40 mL of solid medium (1% agar) (Remans et al., 2006). The growth medium of the vertical agar plates was based on a 50-fold dilution of Gamborg's B5-medium (Zhang and Forde, 1998). It contained 0.5 mM KNO<sub>3</sub>, 0.02 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.02 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.022 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.94 µM MnSO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.02 mM (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 90 nM KI, 0.97 nM H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>, 0.14 nM ZnSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O, 2 nM CuSO<sub>4</sub>.5H<sub>2</sub>O, 20.6 nM Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O, 2.6 nM CoSO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O, 3.6 µM FeCl<sub>3</sub>, 2.56 mM MES and 15 mM sucrose. After 6 days, plants were transferred to plates with the same growth medium but without sucrose and with the appropriate amount of CdSO<sub>4</sub> to obtain plates with 0, 3, 5, 7 or 10 µM Cd. Plates were incubated in a growth chamber at day/night temperatures of 22/18°C with a 12 h light/12 h dark regime, a relative humidity of 65% and a photosynthetic active radiation (PAR) of 170 µmol.m<sup>-2</sup>.s<sup>-1</sup> at the shoot level. Light was provided by Philips GreenPower LED modules. A combination of blue, red and far-red modules was used to obtain a spectrum simulating the PAR in sunlight. Primary root length of 18 day-old plants was determined using the computer program Optimas6 (Media Cybernetics, Rockville, MD, USA).

### Hydroponic culture

A. thaliana and A. capillaris were grown in a hydroponic system as described by Smeets *et al.* (2008), except that sand was used instead of rock wool. A. thaliana Col-O seeds were surface-sterilized for 1 min in 0.1% NaClO (supplemented with 0.1% Tween 80) and incubated at  $4^{\circ}$ C to ensure a homogenous germination. For A. capillaris, commercially available seeds were used that were surface-sterilized for 30 s in 0.05% NaClO (supplemented with

0.1% Tween 80). Plants were exposed to 0, 3, 5, 7 and 10  $\mu$ M CdSO<sub>4</sub> in case of *A. thaliana* and to 0, 5, 10, 15, 30 and 50  $\mu$ M CdSO<sub>4</sub> in case of *A. capillaris*, and this throughout the entire experiment. New modified 1/10 (*A. thaliana*) or 1/5 (*A. capillaris*) Hoagland solution (Smeets *et al.*, 2008) with or without Cd was provided twice every week to maintain nutrient availability. Plants were grown under the same conditions as in the previous paragraph. After 3 (*A. thaliana*) or 4 (*A. capillaris*) weeks, root and shoot weight were determined. For each condition 9 (*A. thaliana*) or 30 (*A. capillaris*) biological replicates were used.

### 7.2.2 Growth promotion screening tests and inoculation experiments

### Vertical agar plates

Seed endophytes were selected based on their phenotypical characteristics and tested for plant growth promotion on vertical agar plates. *A. thaliana* Col-0 seeds were sterilized, planted and cultivated as described above. After 6 days, plants were transferred to agar plates that were smeared with 400  $\mu$ L of a bacterial suspension containing 10<sup>8</sup> cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup> (Table 7.1). For each endophyte tested, 15 biological and 3 technical replicates were used. Non-inoculated plants were used as a control (50 biological and 10 technical replicates). One week after inoculation, all plants were transferred to new non-inoculated agar plates. All plates used during this experiment contained 2  $\mu$ M Cd applied as CdSO<sub>4</sub>. From day 6 until day 19 after sowing, root length was recorded each day. Primary root length was determined using the computer program Optimas6 (Media Cybernetics, Rockville, MD, USA).

Endophytes that improved root growth in the screening test were used in a more elaborate inoculation experiment. This experiment proceeded in the same way as the screening test, except that plants were transferred after 6 days to plates containing 0, 2 or 10  $\mu$ M Cd smeared with a bacterial suspension of 10<sup>6</sup> cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup>. Moreover, plants from both control and Cd seeds were used. Cd seeds were harvested from plants that had been exposed to 2  $\mu$ M Cd during several generations, while control seeds were harvested from plants that were grown in parallel but that were never exposed to Cd. One week after inoculation, all plants were transferred to new non-inoculated agar plates containing 0, 2 or 10  $\mu$ M Cd. For each condition 15 biological and 3 technical replicates were used.

Table 7.1: For each bacterium, the corresponding number that is used on the graphs, the genus, the accession number of the closest reference strain, the seed type it was isolated from and the phenotypic traits are given. + = trait is present. IAA = indole-3-acetic acid, OA = organic acids, ACCD = 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid deaminase.

No.	Genus Accession no.	Seed type	0.4 mM Cd	0.8 mM Cd	0.6 mM Zn	0.4 mM Cu	Siderophores	IAA	OA	ACCD	Acetoin	N <sub>2</sub> fixation	Phosphate	Phytate
1	<i>Rhizobium</i> FJ719352	Control	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+
2	Sphingomonas AY563441	Control	+	+			+	+	+	+		+		+
3	<i>Rhizobium</i> FJ719352	Control	+	+			+	+	+	+		+		+
4	Sphingomonas AY563441	Control	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+		+
5	Sphingomonas HM629444	Control	+	+	+	+		+	+	+		+		+
6	<i>Rhizobium</i> FJ719352	Cd	+	+			+	+	+	+		+		+
7	<i>Bacillus</i> EU888579	Cd	+	+			+	+	+	+				+
8	<i>Rhizobium</i> FJ719352	Cd	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+
9	<i>Rhizobium</i> FJ719352	Cd	+	+	+		+	+	+	+				+
10	<i>Rhizobium</i> FJ719352	Cd	+	+			+	+	+	+				+
11	<i>Bacillus</i> EU888579	Cd	+	+	+	+	+			+		+	+	

### Hydoponic culture

Seed endophytes of *A. thaliana* with promising characteristics for plant growth promotion under Cd stress were tested in a hydroponic system as described above. During the first week of plant growth, bacteria were present in the modified 1/10 Hoagland nutrient solution (Smeets *et al.*, 2008) at a final concentration of  $10^6$  cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup> (Table 7.1). All plants were exposed to 2  $\mu$ M CdSO<sub>4</sub> throughout the entire experiment. After 3 weeks, root and shoot weight, root length and rosette diameter were determined. For each condition, 2 technical and 20 (inoculated) or 40 (non-inoculated) biological replicates were used.

The best plant growth promoter from the screening test was used in a more extensive inoculation experiment: *A. thaliana* plants from both control and Cd

seeds were grown hydroponically as described previously and exposed to 0, 2 or 5  $\mu$ M CdSO<sub>4</sub> throughout the entire experiment. Bacteria were added to the modified 1/10 Hoagland solution (Smeets *et al.*, 2008) during the first week of plant growth. After 3 weeks, root and shoot weight, root length and rosette diameter were determined.

Seed endophytes of *A. capillaris* with the most promising characteristics for plant growth promotion under Cd stress were also tested in a hydroponic system. Two *Pantoea* strains isolated from control seeds and 1 *Bacillus* strain isolated from Cd/Ni seeds were selected for inoculation based on their phenotypic traits (Table 7.2). Bacteria were added to the 1/5 Hoagland nutrient solution (Smeets *et al.*, 2008) at a final concentration of  $10^5$  cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup>. Plants were exposed to 0 or 10  $\mu$ M CdSO<sub>4</sub> throughout the entire experiment. Fresh 1/5 Hoagland solution with or without Cd was provided twice per week. After 4 weeks of growth, root and shoot length and weight were determined. For each condition 2 technical and 25 biological replicates were used.

Table 7.2: For each bacterium, the corresponding number that is used on the graphs, the genus, the accession number of the closest reference strain, the seed type it was isolated from and the phenotypic traits are given. + = trait is present. Sid = siderophores, IAA = indole-3-acetic acid, OA = organic acids, ACCD = 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid deaminase, P = phosphate solubilization.

No.	Genus Accession no.	Seed type	0.2 mM Cd	Sid	IAA	OA	ACCD	Acetoin	۵
1	Bacillus	Cd/Ni	+	+	+		+	+	+
	DQ523500								
2	Pantoea Contr			т	-		-		+
	EU598802		Ŧ	т	Ŧ		т		т
3	Pantoea	Control	+		+	+	+	+	
	FJ357836								+

### Re-isolation

Colonization was confirmed by re-isolation of the endophytes from *A. thaliana* and *A. capillaris* roots as these are the main entry route for colonization. Roots were surface-sterilized by immersing them in 0.1% NaClO supplemented with 0.1% Tween 80 during 5 min. Next, roots were thoroughly washed in sterile

deionized water and the last rinsing water was incubated on solid 869 medium (Mergeay *et al.*, 1985) to check sterility of the surface. Samples were crushed in a sterile mortar containing 500  $\mu$ L sterile 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Dilutions 0 and 10<sup>-1</sup> were plated on 1/10 869 medium (Mergeay *et al.*, 1985) and incubated at 30°C during 1 week. The number of cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> fresh weight (FW) isolated from inoculated plants was compared with that of non-inoculated controls. Only inoculated conditions showing plant growth promotion were used for re-isolation. For each condition, 2 replicates were used.

### 7.2.3 Metal extraction

Cd content was determined in *A. thaliana* and *A. capillaris* roots and shoots grown in the hydroponic culture. To determine the total metal contents, 50 to 200 mg crushed shoots or roots were transferred to glass tubes. Extraction was performed using acid (2x HNO<sub>3</sub> Suprapur, 1x HCl Suprapur) and heat (110°C). Samples were dissolved in 0.5 mL 20% HCl and 4.5 mL Millipore water. Cd content was determined using inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES).

### 7.2.4 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in SAS 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Normal distribution of the data was analysed with the Shapiro-Wilk test and transformations were applied when necessary to approximate normality. Homoscedasticity of variances was checked using a residuals plot. Significant differences were evaluated with an analysis of variances (ANOVA) and post-hoc comparisons were carried out using the Dunnett's test or Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test. If normality could not be reached, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis Rank Sum test and Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum test for post-hoc comparisons were used.
#### 7.3 Results

## 7.3.1 Range finding experiment

#### Arabidopsis thaliana

Arabidopsis thaliana was grown on vertical agar plates and in a hydroponic culture, and exposed to different Cd concentrations in order to determine its Cd sensitivity. *A. thaliana* plants showed a gradual reduction in root length on vertical agar plates (Fig. 7.1A), and in root (Fig. 7.1B) and shoot weight in a hydroponic culture (Fig. 7.1C) with increasing Cd concentrations. Cd content in roots and shoots grown in the hydroponic culture was comparable after exposure to 3 and 5  $\mu$ M Cd. Exposure to 7 and 10  $\mu$ M Cd increased root Cd content approximately 3-fold compared to 3 and 5  $\mu$ M Cd, while shoot Cd content was significantly reduced (Fig. 7.1D).



Figure 7.1: Root length (cm) on vertical agar plates (A), and root (B) and shoot (C) weight (mg) and Cd content (D) (mg.g<sup>-1</sup> dry weight) in a hydroponic culture of *A. thaliana* upon exposure to different Cd concentrations. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01, \*\*\* = p < 0.001.

# Agrostis capillaris

Agrostis capillaris growing in a hydroponic system was exposed to 0, 5, 10, 15, 30 and 50  $\mu$ M Cd to determine a sublethal Cd concentration. 10  $\mu$ M Cd was chosen as a suitable concentration to work with in further experiments as it reduced root weight, shoot weight, root length and shoot length with 30 to 50% (Fig. 7.2).



Figure 7.2: Root (A) and shoot (B) weight (mg), and root (C) and shoot (D) length (cm) of A. capillaris exposed to different Cd concentrations. \*\*\* = p < 0.001.

#### 7.3.2 Growth promotion screening tests and inoculation experiments

#### Arabidopsis thaliana

Eleven different seed endophytes (Table 7.1) were tested for their ability to promote root growth of *A. thaliana* on vertical agar plates with 2  $\mu$ M Cd. Two *Bacillus* strains (endophyte 7 and 11) and 1 *Rhizobium* strain (endophyte 6)

increased primary root length by approximately 20% compared to the noninoculated condition (Fig. 7.3). Re-isolation of the inoculated bacteria from the roots confirmed that colonization was successful: respectively 0, 4.2 x  $10^5$ , 1.4 x  $10^6$  and 6.9 x  $10^6$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> FW were re-isolated from non-inoculated plants and plants inoculated with seed endophytes 6, 7 and 11.



Figure 7.3: Primary root length of *A. thaliana* (relative to non-inoculated control) 2 weeks after inoculation with different seed endophytes on vertical agar plates with 2  $\mu$ M Cd. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01, \*\*\* = p < 0.001 compared to non-inoculated control. The numbers of the bacteria correspond to the bacteria in table 7.1.

Seed endophyte 11 (*Bacillus sp.*) was chosen for further inoculation experiments based on the results in the growth promotion screening test (Fig. 7.3). Growth promoting abilities were tested in plants from control seeds and from Cd seeds. Moreover, plants were exposed to 0, 2 or 10  $\mu$ M Cd. Surprisingly, root length was only increased significantly in the case of control seeds exposed to 2  $\mu$ M Cd (Fig. 7.4).



Figure 7.4: Primary root length (cm) of *A. thaliana* grown on vertical agar plates and exposed to 0, 2 or 10  $\mu$ M Cd. \* = p < 0.05.

In the hydroponic culture, *A. thaliana* was inoculated with 5 different seed endophytes and exposed to 2  $\mu$ M Cd. Inoculation with endophyte 2 (*Sphingomonas sp.*) doubled the root weight, increased the shoot weight and root length by approximately 50%, and increased rosette diameter by approximately 20% (Fig. 7.5). Inoculation with endophyte 7 (*Bacillus sp.*) led to an increase in root weight by approximately 50% and an increase in shoot weight, root length and rosette diameter of between 10% and 30% (Fig. 7.5). Endophyte 10 (*Rhizobium sp.*) increased shoot weight by approximately 30% (Fig. 7.5B). Re-isolation of the inoculated bacteria from the roots confirmed that colonization was successful: respectively 6.6 x 10<sup>4</sup> and 7.4 x 10<sup>3</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> FW were re-isolated from roots of plants inoculated with endophyte 2 and 7.



Figure 7.5: Effect of inoculation with selected seed endophytes in an *A. thaliana* hydroponic culture on root (A) and shoot (B) weight, root length (C) and rosette diameter (D) upon exposure to 2  $\mu$ M Cd relative to non-inoculated controls. Numbers on the graph correspond to the bacteria in table 7.1. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01, \*\*\* = p < 0.001 compared to non-inoculated controls.

Also in the hydroponic set-up, *A. thaliana* control and Cd plants were inoculated with a promising seed endophyte from the screening test and exposed to 0, 2 or

5  $\mu$ M Cd. Compared to the non-inoculated condition, endophyte 2 (*Sphingomonas sp.*) had a significant positive effect on root weight of Cd plants exposed to 2  $\mu$ M Cd (Fig. 7.6A), on shoot weight of control and Cd plants exposed to 2 and 5  $\mu$ M Cd (Fig. 7.6B), on root length of Cd plants exposed to 0 and 2  $\mu$ M Cd (Fig. 7.6C), and on rosette diameter of Cd plants exposed to 5  $\mu$ M Cd (Fig. 7.6D). The increases in these parameters were smaller than could be expected based on the growth promotion screening test (Fig. 7.5). Inoculation with endophyte 2 did not affect Cd content of roots and shoots (data not shown).



Figure 7.6: The effect of inoculation on root (A) and shoot (B) weight (mg), root length (cm) (C) and rosette diameter (cm) (D) of *A. thaliana* in a hydroponic culture exposed to 0, 2 or 5  $\mu$ M Cd. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01, \*\*\* = p < 0.001.

#### Agrostis capillaris

Also for *A. capillaris*, 3 endophytes with promising traits for improving phytoextraction efficiency were selected to inoculate plants growing in a hydroponic culture (Table 7.2). For the 3 inoculated endophytes, their successful colonization was illustrated by the higher number of bacteria (on average 50 times higher) that were re-isolated from inoculated plants compared to non-inoculated control plants. Inoculation of *A. capillaris* plants with endophytes 1 (*Bacillus sp.*) and 2 (*Pantoea sp.*) improved plant growth when they were not exposed to Cd. Inoculation with endophyte 1 led to a significantly increased root weight, from 23.0  $\pm$  2.7 mg to 37.4  $\pm$  3.3 mg, and a significantly increased shoot length, from 14.5  $\pm$  0.41 cm to 16.7  $\pm$  0.40 cm (Fig. 7.7A+D).





Figure 7.7: Root (A) and shoot (B) weight (mg), and root (C) and shoot (D) length (cm) from *A. capillaris* plants exposed to 0 or 10  $\mu$ M Cd. The numbers in the legend correspond to the bacteria in table 7.2. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01, \*\*\* = p < 0.001.

Inoculation with endophyte 2 significantly increased root weight from  $23.0 \pm 2.7$  mg to  $61.9 \pm 5.4$  mg, shoot weight from  $95.3 \pm 9.3$  mg to  $143.0 \pm 10.1$  mg, root length from  $9.3 \pm 0.37$  cm to  $10.9 \pm 0.36$  cm and shoot length from  $14.5 \pm 0.41$  cm to  $16.5 \pm 0.46$  cm (Fig. 7.7). When plants were exposed to  $10 \mu$ M Cd, none of the inoculated endophytes was able to significantly improve shoot or root length and weight.

Nevertheless, the Cd concentration was significantly higher in roots of plants inoculated with endophyte 3 (*Pantoea sp.*) than in those of non-inoculated plants (Fig. 7.8A). Also the Cd content in shoots was higher in plants inoculated with endophyte 1 and 2 compared to non-inoculated shoots (Fig. 7.8B).



Figure 7.8: Cd content (mg.g<sup>-1</sup> dry weight) of inoculated *A. capillaris* roots (A) and shoots (B) exposed to 10  $\mu$ M Cd. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.001 compared to non-inoculated plants.

#### 7.4 Discussion and conclusion

Several of the selected seed endophytes were shown to be able to improve growth of *A. thaliana*. This indicates that seeds of *A. thaliana* contain bacteria that are beneficial for seedling establishment and growth. However, the *in vitro* phenotypic characteristics were not always a suitable indicator for *in vivo* plant growth promotion. Becerra-Castro *et al.* (2012) already mentioned that the *in vitro* plant growth promoting traits of rhizobacteria isolated from pseudometallophytes growing on Pb/Zn mine tailings not always correlated with their *in vivo* effects after inoculation in willow. Also Weyens *et al.* (2013) mentioned that *in vitro* tests for plant growth promoting characteristics of yellow lupine-associated bacteria were not sufficient to predict *in vivo* plant growth

promotion upon Cd exposure. More recently, Janssen *et al.* (2015) also found that, although the inoculated bacteria showed many beneficial traits in *in vitro* tests, they did not enhance biomass production of willow growing on a Cd/Zn/Pb-contaminated soil.

The results of the inoculation experiments with *A. thaliana* were always below expectations based on the outcomes from the growth promotion screening tests. Only 1 example of an inoculation experiment on vertical agar plates and 1 example of an inoculation experiment in hydroponics are shown above, but these experiments were repeated many times and with several variations in Cd concentration, inoculum size and inoculum composition. Unfortunately, the obtained results were mostly not repeatable. This could indicate that several uncontrolled factors, such as the growth stage of the bacteria or the developmental stage of the plant at the moment of inoculation, could have an important influence on the obtained result. This will be investigated in more depth in chapter 8.

The seed endophytes selected for inoculation of *A. capillaris* improved plant growth and/or increased Cd uptake. The endophytes present in the inoculated plants possibly sequestered Cd, making it less available for its host (Dimpka *et al.*, 2009b). This could explain the higher Cd concentrations in inoculated plants without apparent signs of phytotoxicity. These findings indicate that inoculation of *A. capillaris* with its seed endophytes could be beneficial for its establishment during both phytoextraction and phytostabilization of metal-contaminated soils. Also Mastretta *et al.* (2009) reported an increased Cd uptake after inoculation with bacterial seed endophytes. Inoculation with seed endophytes could be of particular interest as they can be transmitted via the seeds from one generation to the next. Consequently, high numbers of beneficial bacteria could already be present in the very early developmental stages of the plant. Nevertheless, optimization of the inoculation protocol could also lead here to a more consistent and reproducible inoculation outcome.

# CHAPTER 8 Features affecting colonization and inoculation success

#### 8.1 Introduction

The use of plant-associated bacteria as inoculants in agricultural or environmental biotechnology applications, including phytoremediation, requires efficient plant colonization. Several features, such as the degree of motility, chemotactic behavior, production of biocontrol agents and secretion of cell-wall degrading enzymes, influence the colonizing ability of bacteria in the rhizosphere.

Bacteria have developed various mechanisms to mediate their movement. Swimming and swarming are both effectuated by rotating flagella. Swimming is performed by individual bacterial cells moving in a liquid environment, while swarming is defined as a multicellular movement over a surface (Jarrel and McBride, 2006; Kearns, 2010). Many bacteria also move without the aid of flagella. Twitching motility is powered by the extension and retraction of type IV pili (Kearns, 2010). In some bacteria, pilus retraction results in smooth movement, called gliding (Jarrel and McBride, 2006). Other bacteria glide using focal adhesion complexes instead of pili (Kearns, 2010). Sliding is a passive form of movement that occurs when a colony is spreading, driven by the outward pressure of cell growth. This does not rely on an extracellular motor but uses surfactants that reduce surface tension (Kearns, 2010).

Gillis et al. (2012) demonstrated that the amount of flagella could be correlated with swarming motility in Bacillus thuringiensis. Moreover, Bergara et al. (2003) found a link between flagellar biosynthesis and bacterial growth stage: in rich complex media, some genes involved in flagellar biosynthesis are repressed during early exponential growth by a DNA-binding protein CodY. When nutrients become limiting, such as in the stationary growth phase or during growth in minimal media, this repression is relieved (Bergara et al., 2003). Several studies have already shown that bacterial motility can be important for efficient root colonization after inoculation. example, For Capdevila et al. (2004)demonstrated that a biocontrol *Pseudomonas* strain needed its wild-type motility properties to competitively colonize the alfalfa rhizosphere. Also Shelud'ko et al. (2009) found that a non-swarming mutant of *Azospirillum* possessed a lower capacity of wheat root adsorption. Moreover, de Weert *et al.* (2002) reported that the role of bacterial motility in tomato root colonization by a *Pseudomonas fluorescence* strain was based on chemotaxis towards root exudates. Chemotaxis allows bacteria to rapidly approach chemically favourable environments, such as the rhizosphere, by integrating environmental signals and adapting flagellar rotation accordingly (Bren and Eisenbach, 2000).

Bacteria can also gain a selective advantage over other microorganisms during root colonization by producing metabolites involved in biocontrol. The production of siderophores makes it possible to competitively acquire ferric iron, an essential but low bioavailable element for growth of all living organisms (Whipps, 2001). Bacterial siderophores can scavenge iron from fungal siderophores as these have a lower affinity for iron (Compant et al., 2005; Loper and Buyer, 1991) or they can draw iron from heterologous siderophores produced by other bacteria (Raaijmakers et al., 1995). Bacteria can also attack other microorganisms by producing lytic enzymes such as chitinases or proteases (Kamensky et al., 2003). Besides entry via natural openings and wounds, some endophytic bacteria can actively colonize plant roots by producing cell-wall degrading enzymes, such as pectinase and glucanase (Plazinksi and Rolfe, 1985; Verma et al., 2001; Sessitsch et al., 2004). The production of siderophores, proteases, pectinases as well as glucanases have been shown to be correlated with the bacterial growth stage, with maximum levels usually detected during the late exponential and/or early stationary phases (Oberkotter and Rosenberg, 1978; Membré and Burlot, 1994; Liles et al., 2000; Oleksy et al., 2004; Gaonkar et al., 2012). In this chapter, the effect of the bacterial growth stage on the success of inoculation was studied by looking for a correlation between growth stage and bacterial motility, chemotactic behavior, the cell-wall degrading enzyme pectinase, plant growth promoting capacity and colonization efficiency.

# 8.2 Materials and methods

Endophyte 7, a Cd-tolerant *Bacillus sp.* isolated from *Arabidopsis thaliana* seeds (Table 7.1), was used in the next experiments as this endophyte demonstrated plant growth promoting properties during previous inoculations of *A. thaliana*.

## 8.2.1 Growth curve

Endophyte 7 (*Bacillus sp.*) was grown overnight in 869 medium (Mergeay *et al.*, 1985). This culture was diluted 1/50 in fresh 869 medium and incubated at 30°C and 100 rpm. At regular time intervals, culture aliquots were used for measuring the absorption at 660 nm. At  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.3, 0.7, 1.1, 1.6 and 2.4 samples were taken for further analyses.

# 8.2.2 Bacterial motility and chemotaxis

The capillary assay to determine bacterial motility and chemotaxis was based on Adler (1973) and Mazumder et al. (1999) (Fig. 8.1). Briefly, a 2 cm 25 gauge needle with a 0.254 mm internal diameter was attached to a 1 mL syringe containing 100 µL of the compound to be tested for chemotaxis. Important root exudates of A. thaliana were used as test compounds (Chaparro et al., 2013): 100 mM glucose, 100 mM glycerol, 30 mM alanine and 50 mM lactate. All compounds were dissolved in chemotaxis buffer containing 10 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and 0.1 mM disodiumEDTA at pH 7 (Liu and Parales, 2008). To test for motility, syringes were filled with chemotaxis buffer only. Next, the needle was inserted into a 100 µL pipette tip containing 60 µL of the bacterial suspension. Bacterial suspensions were prepared by centrifuging (4000 rpm, 10 min) 10 mL of culture of the appropriate  $OD_{660nm}$  (0.3, 0.7, 1.1, 1.6, 2.4) and resuspending the pellet in chemotaxis buffer until an OD<sub>660nm</sub> of 0.5 was reached. After 45 min incubation at room temperature, the content of the syringe was diluted 10<sup>-2</sup> in 10 mM sterile MgSO<sub>4</sub> and plated on 1/10 869 medium (Mergeay *et al.*, 1985). Motility of the bacteria was expressed as the number of cfu counted on the plates. To determine if a test compound was a chemoattractant, the relative chemotactic response (RCR) was calculated as the ratio of bacteria that entered the test capillary with the attractant to that in the capillary without the attractant. Results were expressed as the mean of 2 separate assays.



Figure 8.1: Experimental set-up used for determining bacterial motility and chemotaxis. Adapted from Mazumder *et al.* (1999).

#### 8.2.3 Pectinase assay

Pectinase activity was determined spectrophotometrically using an assay adapted from Worthington (2011). Bacterial cultures at the appropriate OD<sub>660nm</sub> were centrifuged (4000 rpm, 10 min) and 2 mL supernatant was added to 3 mL 0.5% pectin substrate. 2 mL culture medium added to 3 mL 0.5% pectin substrate was used as a sample blank. 0.5 mL of a pectinase solution (dilution series from 3.5 U.mL<sup>-1</sup> to 0.1 U.mL<sup>-1</sup> in 0.1 M citric acid/phosphate buffer, pH 5) added to 3 mL 0.5% pectin substrate was used to make a standard curve. 1 U corresponds to the amount of enzyme which liberates 1 µmol galacturonic acid from polygalacturonic acid per minute at pH 4 and 50°C. 0.5 mL buffer added to 3 mL 0.5% pectin substrate was used as a standard curve blank. All assay tubes were incubated for 60 min at 37°C and put on ice to stop the reaction. From each tube 50  $\mu$ L was added to 1 mL color reagent A (40 g Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, 16 g glycine and 0.45 g CuSO<sub>4</sub>.5H<sub>2</sub>O in 1 I H<sub>2</sub>O) and 1 mL color reagent B (1.2 g neocuprine-HCl in 1 L H<sub>2</sub>O). Tubes were incubated in a water bath at 95°C for 13 min and cooled on ice. After adding 1 mL  $H_2O_1$ , absorbance was read at 450 nm against a water blank. For each sample or positive control, 3 technical replicates were measured.

# 8.2.4 Plant growth promotion and colonization efficiency

To correlate bacterial growth stage at the time of inoculation with plant growth promoting capacity, *A. thaliana* was grown on vertical agar plates prepared as described in 7.2.1. One week-old plants were transferred to plates containing 0 or 3  $\mu$ M CdSO<sub>4</sub>. These plates were smeared with 400  $\mu$ L bacterial suspension of the desired OD<sub>660nm</sub> (0.3, 0.7, 1.1, 1.6, 2.4) at a concentration of 10<sup>4</sup> cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup>. At each OD, culture aliquots were plated on 1/10 869 medium (Mergeay *et al.*, 1985) to count the numbers of cfu. Primary root length was determined with Optimas6 (Media Cybernetics, Rockville, MD, USA) 2 weeks after inoculation and compared to the non-inoculated control. For each condition, 3 technical and 15 biological replicates were used. To correlate bacterial growth stage to colonization efficiency, the numbers of bacteria that could be re-isolated from *A. thaliana* roots were determined as described in 7.2.2. The numbers of cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> fresh weight (FW) are expressed as an average of 2 replicates.

A. thaliana was also grown in a hydroponic culture as described in 7.2.1. Plants were inoculated at the time of sowing by adding bacteria at the appropriate  $OD_{660nm}$  (0.3, 0.7, 1.1, 1.6, 2.4) to the Hoagland nutrient solution. The final concentration of bacteria in the Hoagland solution was  $10^4$  cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup>. Sterile water was used to prepare the Hoagland solution to eliminate external addition of bacteria in order to facilitate re-isolation of the inoculated bacteria. Root and shoot weight, root length and rosette diameter were recorded 3 weeks after inoculation. For each condition, 10 biological replicates were used. To determine colonization efficiency, bacteria were re-isolated from roots as described in 7.2.2. Cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> FW is expressed as an average of 2 replicates.

# 8.2.5 BOX-PCR fingerprinting

To determine which of the re-isolated bacteria are the same as the inoculated bacterial strain, BOX-PCR was performed on the re-isolated colonies that morphologically resembled the inoculated bacteria. Genomic DNA was extracted using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen). Each PCR reaction contained 1x High Fidelity PCR buffer, 2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 200  $\mu$ M of each dNTP, 400 nM BOX-A1R primer (CTACGGCAAGGCGACGCTGACG) (Versalovic *et al.*, 1994), 1 U Taq DNA Polymerase, 1  $\mu$ L DNA template and RNase free water until a total volume of 50

μL. Cycling conditions were 5 min 94°C, 35 cycles of 1 min 94°C, 1.5 min 50°C and 8 min 68°C, and a final incubation step of 8 min 68°C. The resulting fragments were separated on a 1.5% agarose gel.

#### 8.2.6 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed in R 3.1.1 (R Core Team, 2014). Normal distribution of the data was analysed using the Shapiro-Wilk test and homoscedasticity of variances was checked using a residuals plot. Significant differences were evaluated with a one-way analysis of variances (ANOVA) and post-hoc comparisons were carried out using the Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test or Dunnet's test.

#### 8.3 Results and discussion

A culture of endophyte 7 (*Bacillus sp.*) was sampled at different time points between the late lag and late exponential phase for determining motility and chemotactic behavior, pectinase activity, and plant growth promotion and colonization capacity (Fig. 8.2).



Figure 8.2: Growth curve of endophyte 7 (*Bacillus sp.*). Arrows indicate sampling points.

Motility and chemotaxis towards important root exudates of *A. thaliana* were tested in different growth stages of the bacterial culture. Motility of the bacteria was slightly higher during the early growth stages: on average 1.7 to 2.2 x  $10^6$  cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup> were recovered from the syringes at OD<sub>660nm</sub> of 0.3 and 0.7 compared to 1.2 to 1.4 x  $10^6$  cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup> at OD<sub>660nm</sub> of 1.1, 1.6 and 2.4 (Table 8.1). The

relative chemotactic response (RCR) appeared to be higher in later growth stages, especially towards glucose at  $OD_{660nm}$  of 1.1, 1.6 and 2.4, towards glycerol at  $OD_{660nm}$  of 1.6, and towards alanine at  $OD_{660nm}$  of 2.4 (Table 8.1). Lactate induced no response in the later growth stages ( $OD_{660nm}$  of 1.6 and 2.4) or even a negative chemotactic response during the early growth stages ( $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.3, 0.7 and 1.1) (Table 8.1).

Table 8.1: Motility (cfu.mL<sup>-1</sup>) and relative chemotactic response (RCR) towards glucose, glycerol, alanine and lactate in the different bacterial growth stages.

00	Motility	RCR							
<b>OD</b> 660nm	(cfu.mL <sup>−1</sup> )	Glucose	Glycerol	Alanine	Lactate				
0.3	1.7 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	1	1.3	0.8	0.4				
0.7	2.2 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	1	0.9	0.7	0.2				
1.1	1.2 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	2	0.8	0.8	0.6				
1.6	1.4 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.4	1.8	0.9	1.1				
2.4	1.2 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.5	0.8	1.2	1				

Pectinase activity was very high in the growth stage with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.3 compared to all other growth stages that were tested, reaching  $0.012 \pm 0.00067$  U per  $10^6$  cfu (Fig. 8.3). No significant differences between  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.7, 1.1 and 1.6 were detected. Bacteria at an  $OD_{660nm}$  of 2.4 showed a significantly lower pectinase activity compared to all previous growth stages, reaching only 0.00044  $\pm$  0.000079 U per  $10^6$  cfu (Fig. 8.3). Pectinolytic enzymes can facilitate entry of the bacteria in the plant and thus increase colonization success (Sessitsch *et al.*, 2012). Nevertheless, pectinase activity is not always directly proportional to plant growth, as pectinolytic enzymes are often associated with pathogenicity. Bacteria with pectinolytic activity might be involved in diseases such as soft rots, dry rots, wilts, blights and leafspots (Bateman and Millar, 1966; Potrykus *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 8.3: Pectinase activity (U/10<sup>6</sup> cfu) in the different bacterial growth stages. \*\*\* = p < 0.001.

To determine whether the observed differences affect colonization capacity and plant growth, *A. thaliana* was inoculated with the strain at different growth stages. On vertical agar plates without Cd, inoculated *A. thaliana* plants grew faster during the 1<sup>st</sup> week compared to the non-inoculated controls, although no differences in primary root length could be detected at the end of the experiment (data not shown). Moreover, only minor differences in the number of cfu re-isolated from roots could be detected. As expected, no bacteria were re-isolated from the non-inoculated control plants. The cfu re-isolated from roots increased from inoculation with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.3 to 1.6, but was the lowest at  $OD_{660nm}$  of 2.4 (data not shown).

On vertical agar plates with 3  $\mu$ M Cd, 2 to 5 times more bacteria could be reisolated from the roots than on plates without Cd. This is in accordance with the work of Weyens *et al.* (2013) on lupine plants where the amount of re-isolated bacteria was significantly higher after Cd exposure. The amount of re-isolated bacteria was between 1.44 x 10<sup>7</sup> and 5.62 x 10<sup>7</sup> cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> FW (Table 8.2). The samples of the re-isolation of OD<sub>660nm</sub> of 0.7 were contaminated with a fungus making an accurate count of the numbers of cfu unfeasible. The primary root lengths were not statistically different but showed a trend where the roots of plants inoculated with OD<sub>660nm</sub> of 0.3, 0.7 and 1.1 were longer: between 8.09 ± 0.35 and 8.56 ± 0.49 cm compared to 7.88 ± 0.58 cm in the non-inoculated controls (Table 8.2). Roots of plants inoculated with OD<sub>660nm</sub> of 1.6 and 2.4 were respectively 7.64 ± 0.40 cm and 6.93 ± 0.26 cm, and thus tended to be shorter than the non-inoculated controls. There does not seem to exist a straightforward correlation between the primary root length and the number of cfu re-isolated from roots, although the least bacteria were re-isolated from the shortest roots (at  $OD_{660nm}$  of 2.4) (Table 8.2).

Table 8.2: Primary root length (cm) and number of  $cfu.g^{-1}$  fresh weight (FW) re-isolated from roots of *A. thaliana* on vertical agar plates with 3  $\mu$ M Cd and after inoculation with different bacterial growth stages. NI = not inoculated, SE = standard error, nd = not determined.

OD <sub>660nm</sub>	Root length ± SE (cm)	Cfu.g <sup>−1</sup> FW
NI	$7.88 \pm 0.58$	0
0.3	8.17 ± 0.73	5.62 x 10 <sup>7</sup>
0.7	8.09 ± 0.35	nd
1.1	$8.56 \pm 0.49$	4.01 x 10 <sup>7</sup>
1.6	$7.64 \pm 0.40$	5.33 x 10 <sup>7</sup>
2.4	$6.93 \pm 0.26$	1.44 x 10 <sup>7</sup>

In the hydroponic culture, clear differences were observed between plants inoculated with the strain at different growth stages. Root weight, shoot weight and rosette diameter were significantly increased in plants inoculated with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.3, 1.6 and 2.4 compared to the non-inoculated controls (Table 8.3). Also root length was significantly increased in plants inoculated with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 1.6 and 2.4 compared to the non-inoculated controls (Table 8.3).

For the non-inoculated plants, none of the re-isolated colonies matched the inoculated bacterial strain as was shown by BOX-PCR fingerprinting. For the plants inoculated with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.3, up to 12.60% of the re-isolated colonies appeared to be matching the inoculated bacterial strain (Table 8.3). Only very low numbers of the inoculated bacterial strain could be recovered from plants inoculated with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.7, while intermediate values were obtained for plants inoculated with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 1.1, 1.6 and 2.4 (Table 8.3).

The lowest percentage of colonization was linked with the smallest plants  $(OD_{660nm} \text{ of } 0.7 \text{ in Table 8.3})$ . However, an increase in colonization by the inoculated strain was not linearly correlated to an increase in plant growth. The highest percentage of colonization was observed after inoculation with  $OD_{660nm}$  of 0.3, the bacterial growth stage that was also associated with the highest pectinase activity (Fig. 8.3), indicating that this could be used as a mechanism to increase plant colonization.

Table 8.3: Root weight (mg), shoot weight (mg), root length (cm), rosette diameter (cm)
and percentage of re-isolated colonies matching the inoculated bacterial strain of plants
grown in a hydroponic culture and inoculated with different bacterial growth stages. a = p
< 0.05, b = p $< 0.01$ , c = p $< 0.001$ compared to non-inoculated controls (NI). SE =
standard error.

OD <sub>660nm</sub>	Root weight ± SE (mg)	Shoot weight ± SE (mg)	Root length ± SE (cm)	Rosette diameter ± SE (cm)	Re-isolated matching inoculated (%)
NI	7.60 ± 1.13	$31.5 \pm 2.55$	$6.83 \pm 0.53$	$2.43 \pm 0.08$	0
0.3	$17.9 \pm 2.32^{\circ}$	$51.8 \pm 4.73^{\circ}$	$8.01 \pm 0.25$	$2.88 \pm 0.10^{a}$	$12.60 \pm 4.01$
0.7	$7.10 \pm 0.89$	$30.9 \pm 2.28$	$7.71 \pm 0.57$	$2.46 \pm 0.088$	$0.74 \pm 0.19$
1.1	$9.50 \pm 0.86$	$47.4 \pm 3.20^{a}$	$8.29 \pm 0.45$	$2.87 \pm 0.11^{a}$	3.11
1.6	$25.0 \pm 2.79^{c}$	$54.8 \pm 4.87^{\circ}$	$11.81 \pm 0.59^{\circ}$	$2.96 \pm 0.12^{b}$	2.89 ± 2.37
2.4	$22.7 \pm 1.64^{\circ}$	$60.0 \pm 3.08^{\circ}$	$11.81 \pm 0.20^{\circ}$	$3.06 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$	$4.34 \pm 0.96$

#### 8.4 Conclusion

Inoculation at different growth stages of the bacterial culture has different effects on plant growth. However, due to the limited number of bacterial traits that were investigated, it is difficult to correlate differences in bacterial growth stage with changes in plant responses. Each bacterial growth stage clearly has its own characteristics, which could lead to a change in colonizing ability and thus in plant response after inoculation. There are many other features besides motility, chemotactic behavior and pectinase activity, which might affect inoculation success. Further experiments, studying for example the production of siderophores or lytic enzymes, are needed to unravel the effect of the growth stage of the bacterial inoculum on colonization success.

The experiments conducted on vertical agar plates allowed an accurate count of the re-isolated bacteria as this is a sterile system where no external bacteria are introduced. In the hydroponic culture, sterile water was used to minimize external addition of bacteria in order to facilitate the re-isolation of the inoculated bacteria. Our use of (nearly) sterile plant growth systems is an over simplification ruling out any form of biocontrol mechanisms that could contribute to rhizosphere and endosphere competence. In a pot experiment or even field situation, re-isolation of the inoculated bacteria would be much more difficult, but differences between plants inoculated with bacteria in a different growth stage could be more distinguishable because of competition with other microorganisms. Optimization of the entire inoculation procedure is important to obtain a more consistent and reproducible inoculation outcome. This could accelerate the use of bacteria as inoculants in many agricultural or environmental biotechnological applications.

# CHAPTER 9 General discussion, conclusion and future perspectives

Transgenerational signaling through maternally derived compounds or epigenetic mechanisms allows plants to adapt in a fast and efficient manner to biotic and abiotic stresses. Recently, the plant microbiome emerged as a novel trait that extends the capacity of plants to adapt to the environment (Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2013). Vertically transmitted bacteria are ideally placed to prepare the next generation of plants for specific conditions already present in the maternal environment. This makes them ideal candidates for use in different agricultural, industrial or environmental applications. Nevertheless, knowledge on their fate and function during the life cycle of plants is still limited. The overall goal of this thesis was to get a better understanding of the factors that shape seed endophytic communities and the importance of seed endophytes for plant growth and development.

First of all, we searched for a seed surface sterilization protocol that ensures a profound surface sterilization but also preserves a high number of cfu and morphologically distinct colony types that are located in the seed interior. The standard seed sterilization protocol for *A. thaliana*, 1 min rinsing in 70% ethanol followed by 10 min in 1.2% NaClO solution (Balcells, 1993), appeared to be too harsh, possibly destroying most of the seed endophytes. A reduction of the incubation time in and the strength of the NaClO solution was required to reliably isolate the cultivable seed endophytes (Table 4.1). Also for *A. capillaris* seeds, a very mild sterilization protocol was adequate. With the optimized protocol, we were able to isolate between  $10^6$  and  $10^7$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> seed (Table 5.1). This is much higher than expected as the number of cultivable endophytes isolated from seeds is usually between  $10^2$  and  $10^3$  cfu.g<sup>-1</sup> (Benizri *et al.*, 2001; Hallmann, 2001).

In the first part of this thesis, cultivation-dependent techniques and nextgeneration sequencing were used to understand how different factors affect the bacterial community present in seeds. We investigated the effect of long-term Cd exposure on the seed endophytic community of *A. thaliana. Rhizobium* and Pseudomonas appeared to be tightly associated with A. thaliana seeds, while other isolates were specialized endophytes that were selectively taken up (Table 4.2, 4.4). Rhizobium and Pseudomonas are often found colonizing a wide range of plants and are known to contribute to plant growth and health (Biswas et al., 2000; Chi et al., 2005; Mercado-Blanco and Bakker, 2007; Gómez-Lama Cabanás et al., 2014). Nevertheless, Rhizobium appeared to be the only genus that was consistently transferred from generation to generation via the seed (Table 4.2, Fig. 9.1). Based on the data of the total community, Aeromicrobium and Pseudonocardia were identified as indicator species in Cd seeds (Table 4.5). In general, selection for transfer to the next generation of plants appeared to be based more on phenotypic characteristics than on the genera that were present. Selection in Cd seeds was mainly based on the presence of ACC deaminase activity and Cd tolerance, while IAA production was an important trait in both control as well as Cd seeds (Table 4.6, Fig. 9.1). ACC deaminase hydrolyzes ACC into ammonia and a-ketobutyrate thereby lowering the amount of stressinduced ethylene (Glick et al., 1998; Hontzeas et al., 2006). Metal-tolerant bacteria often secrete the metal ions after uptake and precipitate them on the bacterial cell wall. This decreases the internal availability of the metals and by consequence protects the bacteria as well as their host plant against toxicity (Nies, 1999; Lodewyckx et al., 2001a; Weyens et al., 2009b). Bacterial IAA plays a major role in the development of the host plant root system leading to an improved nutrient uptake (Dobbelaere et al., 1999; Patten and Glick, 2002; Long et al., 2008; Masciarelli et al., 2013). The presence of bacteria with these properties in the seeds allows the plant to benefit from their traits during the early developmental stages without being dependent on the external environment as a donor.

Also in *A. capillaris* seeds, plant- and contaminant-dependent effects on the cultivable bacterial community were found. We did not observe many differences in community composition between seeds from the Cd/Ni contaminated and the control site (Table 5.2), but fine-tuning of the phenotypic characteristics of the bacteria, induced by the presence or absence of Cd and Ni in the soil, seemed to have occurred (Table 5.3). Again, bacterial ACC deaminase activity appeared to be very important in coping with metal stress (Fig. 9.1). Surprisingly, Cd tolerance was almost absent in endophytes from Cd/Ni-exposed *A. capillaris* 

seeds. The development of metal tolerance mechanisms in these endophytes was possibly not required due to metal exclusion from aerial parts as well as metal compartmentalization and complexation as a consequence of the pseudometallophyte nature of *A. capillaris* (Turner and Marshall, 1972; Baker, 1987; Vögeli-Lange and Wagner, 1996; Sanita di Toppi and Gabbrielli, 1999; Dahmani-Muller *et al.*, 2000).

Further evidence for the selection of endophytes was obtained by growing plants on 2 different substrate types. Despite the different bacterial composition of the substrates, the harvested seeds contained very similar endophytic communities (Fig. 6.2, 6.3). Their presence in the seeds is probably more a consequence of rhizosphere competence and not so much of abundance in the substrate (Green *et al.*, 2006). Again, a strong association of *Rhizobium* and *Pseudomonas* with *A. thaliana* seeds was observed (Fig. 6.2, 9.1). After sowing the seeds from the 2 different origins on the same substrate type, it appeared that the bacterial community present in the leaves was mainly derived from the environment and not from the seed (Fig. 6.2, 6.3). Elucidation of the respective contribution of the growing medium and the seeds to the mature plant endophytic community is needed. Probably, bacteria are recruited from the environment during plant growth to complement the endophytic community already derived from the seeds. Consequently, the seed endophytes of the next generation can again be selected from this community.

The identification of plant-associated bacteria via culture-independent techniques remains very challenging and several aspects of the workflow can generate differences in the obtained community composition. Our choice of DNA extraction kit was based on a comparison of different commercially available kits (Beckers, 2015), as the DNA preparation method can already influence the composition of the analysed bacterial communities (Morgan *et al.*, 2010). Subsequently, we performed a pyrosequencing test run to select the most appropriate primerset combination for our analysis in order to obtain a high taxonomic coverage while minimizing coamplification of host DNA. In the present study, we used primers 799F and 1193R to sequence the V5-V7 hypervariable region of the 16S rDNA can lead to different results concerning bacterial OTU richness and evenness (Wang and Qian, 2005; Engelbrektson,

2010). Moreover, the OTU with the highest number of sequences is not always the most abundant, as 16S rRNA operon copy numbers vary depending on the species (Bodenhausen *et al.*, 2013). Unfortunately, it was not possible to take this into account as identification on species level would be required. Finally, during the data analysis, we applied strict quality trimming on the amplicons and used a clustering threshold of 97% to reduce sequencing errors which otherwise can inflate diversity estimates (Kunin *et al.*, 2010). A definition of minimal experimental standards would be convenient to minimize the introduction of bias in the final result and to maximize the comparison and integration of data obtained by different studies.

Remarkably, it appeared that the genera that appeared most abundant in the cultivable endophytic community, mainly *Rhizobium* and *Pseudomonas*, coincide with the genera frequently detected during the culture-independent analysis. This indicates that our endophyte isolation procedure provided a representative image concerning the genera most abundantly present in the total bacterial community. Nevertheless, to ensure that also low-abundant bacteria are covered, a lot of colonies need to be picked. Moreover, during cultivation, fast-growing bacteria can mask the presence of slow-growing ones. To culture every cfu present in a sample, the limited dilution approach can be used: the sample is diluted in 96 well plates with liquid growth medium until every well receives a single bacterial cell, which will form a clonal population (Goodman *et al.*, 2011). These cultures can then be identified by sequencing of the 16S rDNA.

Future experiments should shed more light on how endophytes are selected by the plant to be incorporated into the seeds. This process probably already starts at the root-soil interface where plant root exudates drive a shift in the rhizospheric community (Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2013). The endophytic community can be fine-tuned by host-controlled mechanisms, such as interactions with the plant innate immune system, and by external factors, such as the presence of certain contaminants in the plant (Siciliano *et al.*, 2001; Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2013). However, the exact processes underlying these mechanisms are not yet known. Moreover, information concerning the specific functions of seed endophytes during plant development and growth remains limited. Sequencing of the full metagenome could identify enriched functional genes instead of enriched bacterial OTUs. Functions that are useful to the plant could be shared by several

bacterial species or each species could make its own specific contribution (Rott, 2012).



Figure 9.1: Seed endophytic communities of laboratory-grown *A. thaliana* and field-grown *A. capillaris* were studied. Selection of seed endophytes was primarily based on phenotypic characteristics such as ACC deaminase activity, IAA production and Cd tolerance. The only genus that was consistently transferred over generations was *Rhizobium* in *A. thaliana* seeds. Inoculation with selected seed endophytes improved plant growth and increased Cd uptake which could be beneficial during metal phytostabilization and phytoextraction. Increasing the inoculation success remains a future challenge.

In the second part of this thesis, the importance of bacterial seed endophytes for seedling establishment and plant growth was investigated. The effect of inoculation with the isolated seed endophytes on the growth and/or Cd uptake of their host was studied in order to evaluate their possible contribution to bacteria-assisted phytoremediation. Seed endophytes were selected based on their phenotypic traits and tested in a small-scale screening experiment before being applied in a more elaborate inoculation experiment.

We found that inoculation of *A. thaliana* with several of its seed endophytes on vertical agar plates or in a hydroponic culture led to improved plant growth upon Cd exposure (Fig. 7.3–7.6, 9.1). However, results of consecutive experiments were often below our expectations based on the initial screening experiment (Fig. 9.1). Variations in Cd concentration, inoculum size or inoculum composition did not resolve this problem. Recently, Bulgarelli *et al.* (2013) stated that the survival and colonization potential in the rhizosphere is often overlooked when

#### Chapter 9

identifying plant growth promoting bacteria. Features such as motility, chemotaxis, attachment, growth and stress resistance contribute to the rhizosphere competence, which is a key factor for the successful application of plant growth promoting bacteria (Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2013). We demonstrated that different bacterial growth stages were associated with changes in motility, chemotactic behavior, pectinase activity and colonizing capacity (Table 8.1–8.3, Fig. 8.3). Nevertheless, we were not able to robustly correlate the differences in bacterial growth stage with differences in plant responses. Future experiments should also take into account the production of biocontrol agents such as siderophores, lytic enzymes and antibiotics. Our use of (nearly) sterile plant growth systems is an oversimplification, on the one hand allowing accurate re-isolation of the inoculated bacteria, but on the other hand ruling out any form of biocontrol mechanisms and competition that could contribute to rhizosphere and endosphere competence.

Inoculation of hydroponically grown *A. capillaris* with its seed endophytes resulted in a significantly improved plant growth if plants were not exposed to Cd (Fig. 7.7, 9.1). After inoculation of Cd-exposed plants, no effect on plant growth was observed but Cd uptake was significantly increased (Fig. 7.7, 7.8, 9.1). The endophytes present in the inoculated plants probably sequestered Cd, making it less available for its host (Dimpka *et al.*, 2009b), thereby allowing higher Cd concentrations in inoculated plants without apparent signs of phytotoxicity. This indicates that the establishment and growth of *A. capillaris* during phytostabilization and phytoextraction of Cd-contaminated soils might be enhanced by inoculation of the plants with their seed endophytes (Fig. 9.1). Grasses are good candidates for phytoremediation as they have the advantage of a rapid biomass production, extensive root growth and adaptability, and low management costs (Sabreen and Sugiyama, 2008). Grasses belonging to the *Agrostis* genus have been repeatedly used during phytostabilization trials (reviewed in Vangronsveld *et al.*, 2009).

The inoculated seed endophytes of *A. thaliana* and *A. capillaris* were selected based on their phenotypic characteristics. It appeared that these characteristics did not always allow to reliably predict the behavior of the respective strains *in planta* during Cd exposure (Fig. 9.1). Kuffner *et al.* (2010) found that metal mobilization experiments predicted the effects of bacteria inoculated in *Salix* 

*caprea* more reliably than the standard tests for plant growth promoting traits. It would be useful to include this test in order to estimate the potential effect of a bacterial strain on phytoextraction efficiency. However, it remains necessary to test the bacteria in small-scale inoculation experiments, preferably first on a sterile substrate and afterwards in non-sterile soil, before classifying them as phytoextraction improvers (Weyens *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, inoculation of *A. thaliana* mutants impaired in perception of plant growth promoting factors could deliver interesting information concerning the exact mechanisms behind specific plant-bacteria interactions (Rott, 2012).

The selection of inoculants in our experiments was limited to the cultivable fraction of the bacterial endophytes. Recently, Kolbas *et al.* (2015) used crude seed extracts of a Cu-tolerant *A. capillaris* to inoculate sunflower in order to increase Cu tolerance and phytoextraction on a Cu-contaminated soil. This allows inclusion of the effects of the uncultivable fraction of the bacterial community. In addition, a compositional analysis of the filtered seed extract would enable identification of the components that contribute to the observed plant responses (Kolbas *et al.*, 2015).

We have been making attempts to study the colonization and migration pattern of the seed endophytes after inoculation. Seed endophyte 6, a *Rhizobium* strain isolated from *A. thaliana* seeds (Table 7.1) has been labelled with green fluorescent protein (gfp). After inoculation in its host, the gfp-labelled bacterium has only been detected in the root cortex (Fig. 9.2) and not in the xylem vessels. Further experiments using different strains, culturing conditions or labels, are needed to investigate how the inoculated bacteria become part of the seed endophytic community and ultimately if they can be retraced in the next generation of plants.



Figure 9.2: Localization of a gfp-labelled *Rhizobium* strain (green) in the roots of *A. thaliana* (blue). Scale bar: 20 µm.

In conclusion, plants appear to be able to select which bacteria will become seed endophytes. These bacteria are vertically transmitted to benefit the next generation of plants by providing plant growth and health promoting properties. The importance of seed endophytes is still often overlooked during the production of high quality seeds and seed storage, as preservation of the seed endophytes could contribute to an improved germination capacity, seedling establishment and plant growth. Moreover, seeds could be an excellent niche for the discovery of bacteria with useful characteristics. Seeds of economically important crops, such as maize, rice or rapeseed, could be an unprecedented source of endophytes applicable in biocontrol, biofertilization, bioenergy production and bioremediation.

#### Appendix A

Sequencing of all 7 amplicon libraries generated a total of 799429 raw reads with an average of 114204  $\pm$  12031 per library before quality trimming and assigning the reads to the different samples. The average length of the reads prior to trimming was 348  $\pm$  139 bp, 349  $\pm$  105 bp, 392  $\pm$  105 bp, 361  $\pm$  129 bp, 405  $\pm$  96 bp, 401  $\pm$  101 bp and 364  $\pm$  105 bp for respectively primerset combination 1 until 7.

The homology between bacterial 16S rDNA, chloroplastidal 16S rDNA and mitochondrial 18S rDNA sequences makes the identification of plant-associated bacteria via culture-independent techniques very challenging. Therefore, all primerset combinations (Table 3.1) were compared for the average number of chloroplastidal 16S rDNA, mitochondrial 18S rDNA and bacterial 16S rDNA sequences they amplified from seeds and radicles. Primerset combination 5 and 7 did not amplify chloroplastidal 16S rDNA sequences (Table A1). All other primerset combinations amplified high amounts of chloroplastidal 16S rDNA sequences (between 60.9% and 99.9% of the total sequences obtained), except for primerset combination 4 and 6 used on the radicles where respectively 19.5% and 38.9% of the total sequences obtained were assigned to chloroplastidal sequences (Table A1). The number of mitochondrial 18S rDNA sequences that was coamplified was low for all primerset combinations (Table A1). Only primerset combinations 3 and 4 used on seed samples returned slightly higher amounts of mitochondrial 18S rDNA sequences, accounting for respectively 5.8% and 20.6% of the total sequences obtained (Table A1). The number of bacterial 16S rDNA sequences was high in radicle samples amplified with primerset combinations 4 until 7, accounting for 61.1% to 100% of the total sequences obtained (Table A1). However, the use of primerset combination 5 did not lead to amplification in the seeds. Primerset combination 7 also performed well on seeds where 98% of the obtained sequences were assigned to bacterial 16S rDNA sequences (Table A1).

Table A1: Number of chloroplastidal 16S rDNA, mitochondrial 18S rDNA and bacterial 16S rDNA sequences obtained with the different primerset combinations (1-7) in seeds and radicles. Values are averages of 1 or 3 biological replicates ± standard error. Values between brackets represent the average percentage of chloroplastidal/mitochondrial/bacterial sequences compared to the total number of sequences obtained. Different letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between primerset combinations of the same row.

Chloroplastidal	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Seed	$2895 \pm 328^{a}$	$3042 \pm 456^{a}$	2697 ± 73 °	1692 ± 214 <sup>a</sup>	-	3079 °	0 <sup>b</sup>
	(85.6)	(99.9)	(94.1)	(78.6)		(96.7)	(0)
Radicle	$3929 \pm 333^{a}$	$3635 \pm 21^{a}$	$2074 \pm 340^{b}$	$781 \pm 63^{cd}$	0 °	$1485 \pm 131^{bd}$	0 <sup>ce</sup>
	(71.3)	(89.0)	(60.9)	(19.5)	(0)	(38.9)	(0)
Mitochondrial	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Seed	$16 \pm 7.8^{a}$	$2.7 \pm 1.5^{a}$	167 ± 29 <sup>b</sup>	$444 \pm 47^{b}$	-	0 <sup>a</sup>	36 <sup>a</sup>
	(0.48)	(0.09)	(5.8)	(20.6)		(0)	(2.0)
Radicle	$9.3 \pm 2.8^{a}$	$3.7 \pm 0.9^{a}$	31 ± 8 <sup>b</sup>	92 ± 8 °	0 <sup>a</sup>	$0.33 \pm 0.3^{a}$	$5.7 \pm 0.9^{a}$
	(0.17)	(0.09)	(0.90)	(2.3)	(0)	(0.009)	(0.24)
Bacterial	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Seed	470 <sup>a</sup>	$0.67 \pm 0.33^{a}$	$0.67 \pm 0.33^{a}$	$17 \pm 5.7^{a}$	-	103 <sup>a</sup>	1784 <sup>b</sup>
	(13.9)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.79)		(3.2)	(98.0)
Radicle	$1569 \pm 170^{a}$	$446 \pm 90^{b}$	$1302 \pm 15^{ab}$	$3126 \pm 183^{\circ}$	$2981 \pm 51^{\circ}$	2337 ± 140 ac	$2346 \pm 534^{ac}$
	(28.4)	(10.9)	(38.2)	(78.2)	(100)	(61.1)	(99.8)

Based on low coamplification of chloroplastidal and mitochondrial sequences and high retrieval of bacterial sequences, primerset combinations 4, 5 and 7 were selected for further analysis. Bacterial 16S rDNA sequences generated by these primerset combinations were subsampled at 1285 sequences. For seed samples, this analysis was only performed for primerset combination 7 as the number of bacterial sequences amplified was very low for primerset combination 4 and primerset combination 5 did not lead to any amplification at all. The Good's coverage estimate was very high for all primerset combinations used on seed and radicle samples (Table A2). In the radicles, the observed number of OTUs was comparable for all primerset combinations, while this appeared to be higher in seeds (Table A2). The inverse Simpson diversity index of primerset combination 4 was significantly lower compared to the other primerset combinations. However, in general, all inverse Simpson diversity indices were low but this could be inherent to the sample matrix (Table A2).

Table A2: Good's coverage estimates, observed number of OTUs (Sobs) and inverse Simpson diversity indices of radicle samples amplified with primerset combinations 4, 5 and 7 and seed samples amplified with primerset combination 7. Different letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) for the same matrix.

Matrix	No.	Coverage (%) ± Stdev	Sobs ± Stdev	Inv. Simpson ± Stdev
Seed	7	0.997 ± 0.00330	45.1 ± 2.00	$2.4 \pm 1.76$
Radicle	4	0.995 ± 0.00022	12.0 ± 1.45	$1.9 \pm 0.18^{a}$
	5	0.997 ± 0.00080	11.6 ± 1.86	$2.4 \pm 0.12^{b}$
	7	0.997 ± 0.00042	$13.7 \pm 1.60$	$2.6 \pm 0.10^{b}$

At the phylum level, the majority of the OTUs in seeds and radicles were assigned consistently by all 3 primerset combinations to Alphaproteobacteria (62.94% to 75.47%) and Deltaproteobacteria (3.65% to 36.48%) (Table A3). The number of phyla detected was higher in seed samples compared to radicle samples, especially when using primerset combination 7 (Table A3). The number of unclassified sequences is low for all 3 primerset combinations in both sample types, ranging from 0.014% to 1.03% (Table A3).

Dhylum	Se	ed	Radicle					
Phylum	4	7	4	5	7			
Acidobacteria	0	0.027	0	0	0			
Actinobacteria	1.89	7.68	0	0	0			
Bacteroidetes	3.77	3.10	0	0	0			
Alphaproteobacteria	75.47	54.86	67.81	65.38	62.94			
Betaproteobacteria	3.77	0.19	0.14	0.18	0.41			
Gammaproteobacteria	0	0.082	0	0	0			
Deltaproteobacteria	13.21	3.65	31.92	34.36	36.48			
Firmicutes	0	1.80	0	0.011	0			
TM7	0	27.09	0	0	0			
Unclassified	1.89	1.03	0.064	0.067	0.014			

Table A3: Phylum distribution (%) of sequences obtained from seeds and radiclesamplified with primerset combinations 4, 5 and 7.

OTU abundances generated with primerset combinations 4, 5 and 7 used on seed and radicle samples were compared using non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (NMDS). Replicates from each primerset combination grouped together, except for replicate a of primerset combination 4 used on seeds which separated from the other 2 replicates (Figure A1). This indicates that the primerset combinations produced repeatable results, but also that the choice of the primerset combination influenced the obtained result.

Based on the above mentioned findings, primerset combination 7 appeared to be the most suitable for our analysis and was used during the final run.



Figure A1: NMDS plot of the OTUs obtained with the 3 replicates (a-c) of the different primerset combinations used on seeds (A) and radicles (B). Blue = primerset combination 4, brown = primerset combination 5, green = primerset combination 7. Each number on the plot corresponds to an OTU as indicated in table A4.

Table A4: O	TUs (	corresponding	to	the	numbers	used	on	the	NMDS	plot	of fig	ure	A1.	Uc	=
					unclassif	ied.									

1	Bryobacter	37	Uc Bradyrhizobiaceae
2	Rubrobacter	38	Uc Hyphomicrobiaceae
3	Corynebacterium	39	Uc Rhizobiales
4	Blastococcus	40	Uc Sphingomonadaceae
5	Microbacterium	41	Uc Alphaproteobacteria
6	Nocardioides	42	Variovorax
7	Propionibacterium	43	Shinella
8	Actinomycetospora	44	Uc Burkholderiaceae
9	Pseudonocardia	45	Uc Rhodocyclaceae
10	Kitasatospora	46	Uc Burkholderiales
11	Uc Geodermatophilaceae	47	Uc Comamonadaceae
12	Uc Kineosporiaceae	48	Uc Betaproteobacteria
13	Uc Microbacteriaceae	49	Uc Myxococcales
14	Uc Actinomycetales	50	Serratia
15	Uc Actinobacteria	51	Marinobacter
16	Sediminibacterium	52	Pseudomonas
17	Chryseobacterium	53	Stenotrophomonas
18	Cloacibacterium	54	Uc Enterobacteriaceae
19	Uc Cytophagaceae	55	Uc Pseudomonadaceae
20	Uc Porphyromonodaceae	56	Uc Sinobacteraceae
21	Uc Chitinophagaceae	57	Uc Xanthomonadaceae
22	Uc Sphingobacteriales	58	Uc Xanthomonadales
23	Uc Flavobacteriales	59	Uc Gammaproteobacteria
24	Uc Bacteroidetes	60	Uc Proteobacteria
25	Brevundimonas	61	Bacillus
26	Afipia	62	Staphylococcus
27	Bosea	63	Enterococcus
28	Methylobacterium	64	Weissella
29	Beijerinckia	65	Streptococcus
30	Ensifer	66	Uc Lactobacillales
31	Rhizobium	67	Uc Bacilli
32	Uc Rhizobiaceae	68	Uc Ruminococcaceae
33	Roseomonas	69	Uc Firmicutes
34	Sphingomonas	70	TM7 genus incertae sedis
35	Uc Rhodobacteraceae	71	Uc Bacteria
36	Uc Caulobacteraceae		

- Adams PD, Kloepper JW. 2002. Effect of host genotype on indigenous bacterial endophytes of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). Plant and Soil 240: 181-189.
- Adler J. 1973. A method for measuring chemotaxis and use of the method to determine optimum conditions for chemotaxis by *Escherichia coli*. Journal of General Microbiology 74: 77-91.
- Agarwal VK, Sinclair JB. 1996. Principles of seed pathology. Lewis Publication, Boca Raton.
- Ali S, Duan J, Charles TC, Glick BR. 2014. A bioinformatics approach to the determination of genes involved in endophytic behavior in *Burkholderia spp.* Journal of Theoretical Biology 343: 193–198.
- Amann RI, Ludwig W, Schleifer KH. 1995. Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. Microbiological Reviews 59: 143-169.
- Argueso C, Ferreira F, Kieber J. 2009. Environmental perception avenues: the interaction of cytokinin and environmental response pathways. Plant, Cell and Environment 32: 1147-1160.
- Arkhipova T, Prinsen E, Veselov S, Martinenko V, Melentiev A, Kudoyarova G. 2007. Cytokinin producing bacteria enhance plant growth in drying soil. Plant Soil 292: 305–315.
- Arteca RN, Arteca JM. 2007. Heavy-metal-induced ethylene production in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Journal of Plant Physiology 164: 1480-1488.
- Azevedo JL, Araújo WL. 2007. Diversity and applications of endophytic fungi isolated from tropical plants, p 189-207. In: Ganguli BN, Deshmukh SK (eds), Fungi: multifaceted microbes. CRC press, Boca Raton.
- Bacilio-Jiménez M, Aguilar-Flores S, del Valle MV, Pérez A, Zepeda A, Zenteno E. 2001. Endophytic bacteria in rice seeds inhibit early colonization of roots by *Azospirillum brasilense*. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33: 167-172.
- Bacilio-Jiménez M, Aguilar-Flores S, Ventura-Zapata E, Pérez-Campos E, Bouqelet S, Zenteno E. 2003. Chemical characterization of root exudates from rice (*Oryza sativa*) and their effects on the chemotactic response of endophytic bacteria. Plant and Soil 249: 271–277
- Bacon CW, Hinton DM. 1996. Isolation and culture of endophytic bacteria and fungi, p 413-421. In: Hurst CJ, Knudsen GR, McInerney MJ, Stetzenbach C, Walter MV (eds), Manual of environmental microbiology. ASM Press, Washington.
- Badri DV, Quintana N, El Kassis EG, Kim HK, Choi YH, Sugiyama A, Verpoorte R, Martinoia E, Manter DK, Vivanco JM. 2009. An ABC transporter mutation alters root exudation of phytochemicals that provoke an overhaul of natural soil microbiota. Plant Physiology 151: 2006-2017.

- Bal HB, Das S, Dangar TK, Adhya TK. 2013. ACC deaminase and IAA producing growth promoting bacteria from the rhizosphere soil of tropical rice plants. Journal of Basic Microbiology 53(12): 972-984.
- Baker KF, Cook RJ. 1974. Biological control of plant pathogens. American Phytopathology Society, WH Freeman, San Francisco.
- Baker AJM. 1987. Metal tolerance. New Phytologist 106: 93-111.
- Balcells L. 1993. A method for sterilizing *Arabidopsis* seed. In: Flanders D, Dean C (eds), Arabidopsis: the complete guide. The Cambridge Laboratory, Norwich.
- Basnayake WVS, Birch RG. 1995. A gene from *Alcaligenes denitrificans* that confers albicidin resistance by reversible antibiotic binding. Microbiology 141: 551–560.
- Bateman DF, Millar R. 1966. Pectic enzymes in tissue degradation. Annual Review of Phytopathology 4: 119-144.
- Becerra-Castro C, Monterroso C, Prieto-Fernández A, Rodriguez-Lamas L, Loureiro-Viñas M, Acea MJ, Kidd PS. 2012. Pseudometallophytes colonising Pb/Zn mine tailings: a description of the plant-microorganism-rhizosphere soil system and isolation of metal-tolerant bacteria. Journal of Hazardous Materials 217-218: 350-359.
- Beckers B. 2015. Modified lignin biosynthesis in field-grown *Populus tremula x alba*: Host genotype effects on the plant-associated bacterial microbiome. PhD thesis, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium.
- Belimov AA, Hontzeas N, Safronova VI, Demchinskaya SV, Piluzza G, Bullitta S, Glick BR. 2005. Cadmium-tolerant plant growth-promoting bacteria associated with the roots of Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* L. Czern.). Soil Biology & Biochemistry 37: 241–250.
- Benhamou N, Kloepper JW, Quadt-Hallman A, Tuzun S. 1996. Induction of defense-related ultrastructural modifications in pea root tissue inoculated with endophytic bacteria. Plant Physiology 112: 919-929.
- Benizri E, Baudoin, E, Guckert A. 2001. Root colonization by inoculated plant growth rhizobacteria. Biocontrol Science and Technology 11: 557-574.
- Berg G, Krechel A, Ditz M, Sikora RA, Ulrich A, Hallmann J. 2005. Endophytic and ectophytic potato-associated bacterial communities differ in structure and antagonistic function against plant pathogenic fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 51: 215-229.
- Berg G, Smalla K. 2009. Plant species and soil type cooperatively shape the structure and function of microbial communities in the rhizosphere. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 68: 1-13.
- Bergara F, Ibarra C, Iwamasa J, Patarroyo J, Aguilera R,Márquez-Magaña L. 2003. CodY is a nutritional repressor of flagellar gene expression in *Bacillus subtilis*. Journal of Bacteriology 185: 3118-3126.
- Biswas JC, Ladha JK, Dazzo FB, Yanni YG, Rolfe BG. 2000. Rhizobial inoculation influences seedling vigor and yield of rice. Agronomy Journal 92: 880–886.

- Blaylock M, Huang J. 2000. Phytoextraction of metals. In: Raskin I, Ensley B (eds), Phytoremediation of toxic metals: using plants to clean up the environment. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Bodenhausen N, Horton MW, Bergelson J. 2013. Bacterial communities associated with the leaves and the roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. PLoS ONE 8(2): e56329.
- Boddey M, de Oliveira OC, Urquiaga S, Reis VM, de Oliveira FL, Baldani VLD, Döbereiner J. 1995. Biological nitrogen fixation associated with sugarcane and rice: contributions and prospects for improvement. Plant and Soil 174: 195–209.
- Boisson J, Mench M, Sappin-Didier V, Solda P, Vangronsveld J. 1998. Shortterm *in situ* immobilization of Cd and Ni by beringite and steel shots application to long-term sludged plots. Agronomie 18: 347-359.
- Bokulich NA, Thorngate JH, Richardson PM, Mills DA. 2014. Microbial biogeography of wine grapes is conditioned by cultivar, vintage, and climate. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111: E139–E148.
- Bottini R, Cassán F, Piccoli P. 2004. Gibberellin production by bacteria and its involvement in plant growth promotion and yield increase. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 65: 497-503.
- Bren A, Eisenbach M. 2000. How signals are heard during bacterial chemotaxis: protein-protein interactions in sensory signal propagation. Journal of Bacteriology 182: 6865-6873.
- Bressan M, Roncato M, Bellvert F, Comte G, el Zahar Haichar F, Achouak W, Berge O. 2009. Exogenous glucosinolate produced by *Arabidopsis thaliana* has an impact on microbes in the rhizosphere and plant roots. The ISME Journal 3: 1243-1257.
- Buckley D, Schmidt T. 2002. Exploring the diversity of soil in a microbial rain forest, p 183-208. In: Staley J, Reysenbach A (eds), Biodiversity of Microbial Life. Wiley, New York.
- Bulgarelli D, Rott M, Schlaeppi K, Ver Loren van Themaat E, Ahmadinejad N, Assenza F, Rauf P, Huettel B, Reinhardt R, Schmelzer E, Peplies J, Gloeckner F, Amann R, Eickhorst T, Schulze-Lefert P. 2012. Revealing structure and assembly cues for *Arabidopsis* root-inhabiting bacterial microbiota. Nature 488: 91-95.
- Bulgarelli D, Schlaeppi K, Spaepen S, Ver Loren van Themaat E, Schulze-Lefert P. 2013. Structure and functions of the bacterial microbiota of plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology 64: 807-838.
- Burd GI, Dixon DG, Glick BR. 1998. A plant growth-promoting bacterium that decreases nickel toxicity in seedlings. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64: 3663-3668.
- Cankar K, Kraigher H, Ravnikar M, Rupnik M. 2005. Bacterial endophytes from seeds of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karts). FEMS Microbiology Letters 244: 341-345.

- Capdevila S, Martínez-Granero F, Sánchez-Contreras M, Rivilla R, Martín M. 2004. Analysis of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* F113 genes implicated in flagellar filament synthesis and their role in competitive root colonization. Microbiology 150: 3889–3897.
- Camacho Carvajal MM. 2001. Molecular characterization of the roles of type 4 pili, NDH-I and PyrR in rhizosphere colonization of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* WCS365. PhD thesis, University Leiden, Leiden, The Netherlands.
- Cartieaux F, Thibaud M, Zimmerli L, Lessard P, Sarrobert C, David P, Gerbaud A, Robaglia C, Somerville S, Nussaume L. 2003. Transcriptome analysis of *Arabidopsis* colonized by a plant-growth promoting rhizobacterium reveals a general effect on disease resistance. Plant Journal 36: 177-188.
- Cavalcante JJ, Vargas C, Noqueira EM, Vinagre F, Schwarcz K, Baldani JI, Ferreira PC, Hemerly AS. 2007. Members of the ethylene signaling pathway are regulated in sugarcane during the association with nitrogen-fixing endophytic bacteria. Journal of Experimental Botany 58: 673–686.
- Chaney R. 1983 Plant uptake of inorganic waste constituents, p 50-76. In: Parr P, Marsh P, Kla J (eds), Land treatment of hazardous wastes. Noyes Data, Park Ridge.
- Chaparro JM, Badri DV, Bakker MG, Sugiyama A, Manter DK, Vivanco JM. 2013. Root exudation of phytochemicals in *Arabidopsis* follows specific patterns that are developmentally programmed and correlate with soil microbial functions. PLoS ONE 8(2): e55731.
- Chee-Sanford JC, Williams MM, Davis AS, Sims GK. 2006. Do microorganisms influence seed-bank dynamics? Weed Science 54(3): 575-587.
- Chen C, Bélanger RR, Benhamou N, Paulitz TC. 2000. Defence enzymes induced in cucumber roots by treatments with plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and *Pythium aphanidermatum*. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 56: 13-23.
- Chen J, He F, Zhang X, Sun X, Zheng J, Zheng J. 2014. Heavy metal pollution decreases microbial abundance, diversity and activity within particle-size fractions of a paddy soil. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 87(1): 164-181.
- Chelius MK, Triplett EW. 2001. The diversity of Archaea and Bacteria in association with the roots of *Zea mays* L. Microbial Ecology 41: 252-263.
- Chi F, Shen S, Cheng H, Jing Y, Yanni YG, Dazzo FB. 2005. Ascending migration of endophytic rhizobia, from roots to leaves, inside rice plants and assessment of benefits to rice growth physiology. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(11): 7271-7278.
- Ciardi JA, Tieman DM, Lund ST, Jones JB, Stall RE, Klee HJ. 2000. Response to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. vesicatoria in tomato involves regulation of Ethylene Receptor Gene Expression 1. Plant Physiology 123: 81-92.
- Compant S, Duffy B, Nowak J, Clément C, Barka E. 2005. Use of plant growth-promoting bacteria for biocontrol of plant diseases: principles, mechanisms of action, and future prospects. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(9): 4951–4959.
- Compant S, Clément C, Sessitsch A. 2010. Plant growth-promoting bacteria in the rhizo- and endosphere of plants: Their role, colonization, mechanisms involved and prospects for utilization. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42: 669-678.
- Compant S, Mitter B, Coli-Mull JG, Gangl H, Sessitsch A. 2011. Endophytes of grapevine flowers, berries, and seeds: identification of cultivable bacteria, comparison with other plant parts, and visualization of niches of colonization. Microbial Ecology 62: 188-197.
- Connolly EL, Guerinot ML. 2002. Iron stress in plants. Genome Biology 3(8): reviews 1024.1-reviews 1024.4.
- Coombs JT, Franco CMM. 2003. Isolation and identification of Actinobacteria from surface-sterilized wheat roots. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69(9): 5603-5608.
- Cottyn B, Regalado E, Lanoot B, De Cleene M, Mew TW, Swings J. 2001. Bacterial populations associated with rice seed in the tropical environment. Phytopathology 91: 282–292.
- Croes S, Weyens N, Janssen J, Vercampt H. Carleer R, Vangronsveld J. 2013. Bacterial communities associated with *Brassica napus* L. grown on trace element-contaminated and non-contaminated fields: a genotypic and phenotypic comparison. Microbial Biotechnology 6(4): 371-384.
- Crowley D. 2006. Microbial siderophores in the plant rhizosphere, p 169-198.
  In: Barton L, Abadia J (eds), Iron nutrition in plants and rhizopheric microorganisms. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Cunningham SD, Berti WR. 1993. Remediation of contaminated soils with green plants: an overview. In Vitro Cellullar and Developmental Biology 29: 207-212.
- Cunningham JE, Kuiack C. 1992. Production of citric and oxalic acids and solubilization of calcium phosphate by *Penicillium bilaii*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58: 1451-1458.
- Dahmani-Muller H, van Oort F, Gélie B, Balabane M. 2000. Strategies of heavy metal uptake by three plant species growing near a metal smelter. Environmental Pollution 109: 231-238.
- Daniel R. 2005. The metagenomics of soil. Nature Reviews Microbiology 3(6): 470–478.
- Davies PJ. 1995. The plant hormones: their nature, occurrence, and functions, p 13-38. In: Davies PJ (ed), Plant hormones: physiology, biochemistry and molecular biology. Kluwer, Boston.
- De Cáceres M, Legendre P. 2009. Associations between species and groups of sites: indices and statistical inference. Ecology 90: 3566-3574.
- De Datta SK, Buresh RJ. 1989. Integrated nitrogen management in irrigated rice. Advances in Soil Science 10: 143–169.
- Dell'Amico E, Cavalca L, Andreoni V. 2008. Improvement of *Brassica napus* growth under cadmium stress by cadmium-resistant rhizobacteria. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 40: 74–84.

- Delmotte N, Knief C, Chaffron S, Innerebner G, Roschitzki B, Schlapbach R, Von Mering C, Vorholt JA. 2009. Community proteogenomics reveals insights into the physiology of phyllosphere bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106(38): 16428-16433.
- De Weert S, Vermeiren H, Mulders IH, Kuiper I, Hendrickx N, Bloemberg GV, Vanderleyden J, De Mot R, Lugtenberg BJ. 2002. Flagella-driven chemotaxis towards exudates components is an important trait for tomato root colonization by *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions. 15: 1173–1180.
- Dent KC, Stephen JR, Finch-Savage WE. 2004. Molecular profiling of microbial communities associated with seeds *of Beta vulgaris* subsp. Vulgaris (sugar beet). Journal of Microbiological Methods 56: 17-26.
- Díaz-Raviña M, Bååth E. 1996. Development of metal tolerance in soil bacterial communities exposed to experimentally increased metal levels. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62: 2970-2977.
- Díaz-Raviña M, Bååth E, Frostegård A. 1994. Multiple heavy metal tolerance of soil bacterial communities and its measurement by a thymidine incorporation technique. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60: 2238–2247.
- Dimpka C, Svatos A, Dabrowska P, Schmidt A, Boland W, Kothe E. 2008. Involvement of siderophores in the reduction of metal-induced inhibition of auxin synthesis in *Streptomyces spp.* Chemosphere 74: 19-25.
- Dimpka C, Merten D, Svatos A, Büchel G, Kothe E. 2009a. Metal-induced oxidative stress impacting plant growth in contaminated soil is alleviated by microbial siderophores. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41: 154-162.
- Dimpka C, Weinand T, Asch F. 2009b. Plant-rhizobacteria interactions alleviate abiotic stress conditions. Plant, Cell and Environment 32: 1682-1694.
- Ding G, Pronk GJ, Babin D, Heuer H, Heister K, Kögel-Knabner I, Smalla K. 2013. Mineral composition and charcoal determine the bacterial community structure in artificial soils. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 86: 15-25.
- Dobbelaere S, Croonenborghs A, Thys A, Van de Broek A, Vanderleyden J. 1999. Phytostimulatory effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* wild type and mutant strain altered in IAA production on wheat. Plant and Soil 212(2): 153-162.
- Doornbos RF, Geraats BPJ, Kuramae EE, Van Loon LC, Bakker PAHM. 2011. Effects of jasmonic acid, ethylene, and salicylic acid signaling on the rhizosphere bacterial community of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 24(4): 395–407.
- Dong YH, Xu JL, Li XZ, Zhang LH. 2000. AiiA, an enzyme that inactivates the acylhomoserine lactone quorum-sensing signal and attenuates the virulence of *Erwinia carotovora*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97: 3526–3531.
- Dong ZM, Canny MJ, McCully ME, Roboredo MR, Cabadilla CF, Ortega E, Rodes R. 1994. A nitrogen-fixing endophyte of sugarcane stems. A new role for the apoplast. Plant Physiology 105: 1139–1147.

- Donnarumma F, Capuana M, Vettori C, Petrini G, Giannini R, Indorato C, Mastromei G. 2010. Isolation and characterisation of bacterial colonies from seeds and in vitro cultures of *Fraxinus spp.* from Italian sites. Plant Biology. 13: 169-176.
- Drummond AJ, Ashton B, Buxton S, Cheung M, Cooper A, Duran C, Field M, Heled J, Kearse M, Markowitz S, Moir R, Stones-Havas S, Sturrock S, Thierer T, Wilson A. 2011. Geneious v5.4. URL: http://www.geneious.com/.
- Duffy BK. 2001. Competition, p 243-244. In: Maloy OC, Murray TD (eds), Encyclopedia of plant pathology. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Dunleavy JM. 1989. *Curtobacterium plantarum sp.* nov. is ubiquitous in plant leaves and is seed transmitted in soybean and corn. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 39(3): 240-249.
- Ebeltagy A, Nishioka K, Suzuki H, Sato T, Sato Y, Morisaki H, Mitsui H, Minamisawa K. 2000. Isolation and characterization of endophytic bacteria from wild and traditionally cultivated rice varieties. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 46: 617–629.
- Engelbrektson A, Kunin V, Wrighton KC, Zvenigorodsky N, Chen F, Ochman H, Hugenholtz P. 2010. Experimental factors affecting PCR-based estimates of microbial species richness and eveness. The ISME Journal 4: 642-647.
- Espinosa-Urgel M, Salido A, Ramos J. 2000. Genetic analysis of functions involved in adhesion of *Pseudomonas putida* to seeds. Journal of Bacteriology 182: 2363–2369.
- Ewald PW. 1987. Transmission modes and evolution of the parasitismmutualism continuum. Annals of the New York Academy of Science 503: 295–306.
- Ferreira A, Quecine MC, Lacava PT, Oda S, Azevedo JL, Araújo WL. 2008. Diversity of endophytic bacteria from *Eucalyptus* species seeds and colonization of seedlings by *Pantoea agglomerans*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 287: 8-15.
- Fierer N, Jackson RB. 2006. The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103: 626-631.
- Frostegård A, Tunlid A, Bååth E. 1993. Phospholipid fatty acid composition, biomass, and activity of microbial communities from two soil types experimentally exposed to different heavy metals. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59: 3605-3617.
- Fürnkranz M, Lukesch B, Müller H, Huss H, Grube M, Berg G. 2012. Microbial diversity inside pumpkins: microhabitat-specific communities display a high antagonistic potential against phytopathogens. Microbial Ecology 63: 418-428.
- Gagne-Bourgue F, Aliferis KA, Seguin P, Rani M, Samson R, Jabaji S. 2013. Isolation and characterization of indigenous endophytic bacteria associated with leaves of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.) cultivars. Journal of Applied Microbiology 114: 836-853.

- Gaonkar T, Nayak PK, Garg S, Bhosle S. 2012. Siderophore-producing bacteria from a sand dune ecosystem and the effect of sodium benzoate on siderophore production by a potential isolate. The Scientific World Journal. doi: 10.1100/2012/857249.
- Garabet S, Ryan J, Wood M. 1998. Nitrogen and water effects on wheat yield in a Mediterranean-type climate. II. Fertilizer-use efficiency with labelled nitrogen. Field Crops Research 58: 213–221.
- García-Fraile P, Carro L, Robledo M, Ramírez-Bahena M, Flores-Félix J, Fernández MT, Mateos PF, Rivas R, Igual JM, Martínez-Molina E, Peix Á, Velázquez E. 2012. *Rhizobium* promotes non-legumes growth and quality in several production steps: towards a biofertilization of edible raw vegetables healthy for humans. PLoS ONE 7(5): e38122.
- Gilbert JA, van der Lelie D, Zarraonaindia I. 2014. Microbial terroir for wine grapes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111(1): 5-6.
- Gillis A, Dupres V, Delestrait G, Mahillon J, Dufrëne Y. 2012. Nanoscale imaging of *Bacillus thuringiensis* flagella using atomic force microscopy. Nanoscale 4: 1585-1591.
- Glick BR, Penrose DM, Li J. 1998. A model for the lowering of plant ethylene concentrations by plant growth-promoting bacteria. Journal of Theoretical Biology 190: 63–68.
- Glick BR. 2003. Phytoremediation: synergistic use of plants and bacteria to clean up the environment. Biotechnology Advances 21: 383-393.
- Glick BR, Todorovic B, Czarny J, Cheng Z, Duan J, McConkey B. 2007. Promotion of plant growth by bacterial ACC deaminase. Critical Reviews in Plant Science 26: 227-242.
- Glick BR. 2010. Using soil bacteria to facilitate phytoremediation. Biotechnology Advances 28: 367-374.
- Glick BR, Stearns J. 2011. Making phytoremediation work better: maximizing a plant's growth potential in the midst of adversity. International Journal of Phytoremediation 13: 4-16.
- Gómez-Lama Cabanás C, Schilirò E, Valverde-Corredor A, Mercado-Blanco J. 2014. The biocontrol endophytic bacterium *Pseudomonas fluorescens* PICF7 induces systemic defense responses in aerial tissues upon colonization of olive roots. Frontiers in Microbiology 5(5): 427.
- Goodman AL, Kallstrom G, Faith JJ, Reyes A, Moore A, Dantas G, Gordon JI. 2011. Extensive personal human gut microbiota culture collections characterized and manipulated in gnotobiotic mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108(15): 6252-6257.
- Gopalaswamy G, Kannaiyan S. 2000. The xylem of rice is colonized by *Azorhizobium caulinodans*. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 267: 103–107.
- Gordon S, Weber R. 1951. Colorimetric estimation of indoleacetic acid. Plant Physiology 26: 192-195.

- Gottel NR, Castro HF, Kerley M, Yang Z, Pelletier DA, Podar M, Karpinets T, Uberbacher E, Tuskan GA, Vilgalys R, Doktycz MJ, Schadt CW. 2011. Distinct microbial communities within the endopshere and rhizosphere of *Populus deltoides* roots across contrasting soil types. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77(17): 5934-5944.
- Grandlic CJ, Mendez MO, Chorover J, Machado B, Maier RM. 2008. Plant growth-promoting bacteria for the phytostabilization of mine tailings. Environmental Science and Technology 42(6): 2079-2084.
- Granér G, Persson P, Meijer J, Alstrom S. 2003. A study on microbial diversity in different cultivars of *Brassica napus* in relation to its wilt pathogen, *Verticillium longisporum*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 224: 269-276.
- Green SJ, Inbar E, Michel FC, Hadar Y, Minz D. 2006. Succession of bacterial communities during early plant development: transition from seed to root and effect of compost amendment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72(6): 3975-3983.
- Grichko VP, Glick BR. 2001. Amelioration of flooding stress by ACC deaminase-containing plant growth-promoting bacteria. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 39: 11-17.
- Gutiérrez-Mañero FJ, Ramos-Solano B, Probanza A, Mehouachi J, Tadeo FR, Talon M. 2001. The plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria *Bacillus pumilus* and *Bacillus licheniformis* produce high amounts of physiologically active gibberellins. Physiologia Plantarum 111(2): 206-211.
- Gyaneshwar P, Kumar GN, Parekh LJ, Poole PS. 2002. Role of soil microorganisms in improving P nutrition of plants. Plant and Soil 245: 83–93.
- Haichar F, Marol C, Berge O, Rangel-Castro JI, Prosser JI, Balesdent J, Heulin T, Acouak W. 2008. Plant host habitat and root exudates shape soil bacterial community structure. The ISME journal 2: 1221-1230.
- Hallmann J, Quadt-Hallmann A, Mahaffee WF, Kloepper JW. 1997. Bacterial endophytes in agricultural crops. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 43: 895-914.
- Hallmann J. 2001. Plant interactions with endophytic bacteria, p 87-119. In: Jeger MJ, Spence NJ (eds), Biotic interactions in plant-pathogen associations. CABI Publishing, Wallingford.
- Hardoim PR, Hardoim CCP, van Overbeek LS, van Elsas JD. 2012. Dynamics of seed-borne rice endophytes on early plant growth stages. PLoS ONE 7(2): e30438.
- Hein JW, Wolfe GV, Blee KA. 2008. Comparison of rhizosphere bacterial communities in *Arabidopsis thaliana* mutants for systemic acquired resistance. Microbial Ecology 55: 333-343.
- Herman JJ, Sultan SE. 2011. Adaptive transgenerational plasticity in plants: case studies, mechanisms, and implications for natural populations. Frontiers in Plant Science 2: 1-10.
- Hershey DM, LuX, ZZi J, Peters RJ. 2014. Functional conservation of the capacity for ent-kaurene biosynthesis and an associated operon in certain *Rhizobia*. Journal of Bacteriology 196(1): 100-106.

- Hill NS, Bouton JH, Hiatt EE, Kittle B. 2005. Seed maturity, germination, and endophyte relationships in tall fescue. Crop Science 45: 859-863.
- Hill NS, Roach PK. 2009. Endophyte survival during seed storage: Endophyte-host interactions and heritability. Crop Science 49: 1425–1430.
- Hodgson S. 2010. Foliar fungal endophyte dynamics in herbaceous hosts. PhD thesis, Royal Holloway University of London, London, UK.
- Hogervorst J, Plusquin M, Vangronsveld J, Nawrot T, Cuypers A, Van Hecke E, Roels H, Carleer R, Staessen J. 2007. House dust as possible route of environmental exposure to cadmium and lead in the adult general population. Environmental Research 103: 30-37.
- Holland MA, Polacco JC. 1994. PPFMs and other covert contaminants: is there more to plants physiology than just plants? Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 45: 197–209.
- Hontzeas N, Hontzeas C, Glick B. 2006. Reaction mechanisms of the bacterial enzyme 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase. Biotechnology Advances 24: 420-426.
- Hood MA, van Dijk KV, Nelson EB. 1998. Factors affecting attachment of *Enterobacter cloacae* to germinating cotton seed. Microbial Ecology 36: 101–110.
- Hurek T, Reinhold-Hurek B, Van Montagu M, Kellenberger E. 1994. Root colonization and systemic spreading of *Azoarcus sp.* strain BH72 in grasses. Journal of Bacteriology 176: 1913-1923.
- Idriss EE, Makarewicz O, Farouk A, Rosner K, Greiner R, Bochow H, Richter T, Borriss R. 2002. Extracellular phytase activity of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FZB45 contributes to its plant-growth promoting effect. Microbiology 148: 2097-2109.
- Ikeda S, Fuji S, Sato T, Ytow N, Ezura H, Minamisawa K, Fujimura T. 2006. Community analysis of seed-associated microbes in forage crops using culture-independent methods. Microbes and Environments 21(2): 112-121.
- Inceoğlu O, Al-Soud WA, Falcão Salles J, Semenov AV, van Elsas JD. 2011. Comparative analysis of bacterial communities in a potato field as determined by pyrosequencing. PLoS ONE 6(8): e23321.
- Innerebner G, Knief C, Vorholt JA. 2011. Protection of *Arabidopsis thaliana* against leaf-pathogenic *Pseudomonas syringae* by *Sphingomonas* strains in a controlled model system. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77(10): 3202-3210.
- Islam MR, Sultana T, Joe MM, Yim W, Cho CJ, Sa T. 2013. Nitrogen-fixing bacteria with multiple plant growth-promoting activities enhance growth of tomato and red pepper. Journal of Basic Microbiology 53(12): 1004-1015.
- Ivanoff SS. 1933. Stewart's wilt disease of corn, with emphasis on the life history of *Phytomonas stewartii* in relation to pathogenesis. Journal of Agricultural Research 47: 749-770.
- James EK, Gyaneshwar P, Manthan N, Barraquio WL, Reddy PM, Ianetta PPM, Olivares FL, Ladha JK. 2002. Infection and colonization of rice seedlings by

the plant growth-promoting bacterium *Herbaspirillum seropedicae* Z67. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 15: 894-906.

- Janssen J, Weyens N, Croes S, Beckers B, Meiresonne L, Van Peteghem P, Carleer R, Vangronsveld J. 2015. Phytoremediation of metal contaminated soil using willow: exploiting plant-associated bacteria to improve biomass production and metal uptake. International Journal of Phytoremediation 17(11): 1123-1136.
- Jarrel K, McBride M. 2006. The surprisingly diverse ways that prokaryotes move. Nature Reviews 6: 466-476.
- Jha P, Norsworthy JK, Riley MB, Bridges W. 2010. Shade and plant location effects on germination and hormone content of palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) seed. Weed Science 58: 16–21.
- Johannes F, Porcher E, Teixeira FK, Saliba-Colombani V, Simon M, Agier N, Bulski A, Albuisson J, Heredia F, Audigieri P, Bouchez D, Dillmann C, Guerche P, Hospital F, Colot V. 2009. Assessing the impact of transgenerational epigenetic variation on complex traits. PLoS Genetics 5(6): e1000530.
- Johnston-Monje D, Raizada MN. 2011. Conservation and diversity of seed associated endophytes in *Zea* across boundaries of evolution, ethnography and ecology. PLoS ONE 6: e20396.
- Johnston-Monje D, Mousa WK, Lazarovits G, Raizada MN. 2014. Impact of swapping soils on the endophytic bacterial communities of pre-domesticated, ancient and modern maize. BMC Plant Biology 14: 233.
- Jorquera M, Hernández M, Rengel Z, Marschner P, de la Luz Mora M. 2008. Isolation of culturable phosphobacteria with both phytate-mineralization and phosphate-solubilization activity from the rhizosphere of plants grown in a volcanic soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 44: 1025-1034.
- Kaga H, Mano H, Tanaka F, Watanabe A, Kaneko S, Morisaki H. 2009. Rice seeds as sources of endophytic bacteria. Microbes and Environments 24: 154-162.
- Kamensky M, Ovadis M, Chet I, Chernin L. 2003. Soil-borne strain IC14 of *Serratia plymuthica* with multiple mechanisms of antifungal activity provides biocontrol of *Botrytis cinerea* and *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* diseases. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35: 323–331.
- Kearns D. 2010. A field guide to bacterial swarming motility. Nature Reviews Microbiology 8: 634-644.
- Kearse M, Moir R, Wilson A, Stones-Havas S, Cheung M, Sturrock S, Buxton S, Cooper A, Markowitz S, Duran C, Thierer T, Ashton B, Mentjies P, Drummond A. 2012. Geneious Basic: an integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. Bioinformatics 28(12): 1647-1649.
- Khan AL, Wagas M, Kang SM, Al-Harassi A, Hussain K, Al-Rahawi A, Al-Khiziri S, Ullah I, Ali J, Jung HY, Lee IJ. 2014. Bacterial endophyte *Sphingomonas sp.* LK11 produces gibberellins and IAA and promotes tomato plant growth. Journal of Microbiology 52(8): 689-695.

- Kim KY, Jordan D, McDonald DA. 1998. Effect of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae on tomato growth and soil microbial activity. Biology and Fertility of Soils 26: 79–87.
- Klindworth A, Pruesse E, Schweer T, Peplies J, Quast C, Horn M, Glöckner FO. 2013. Evaluation of general 16S ribosomal RNA gene PCR primers for classical and next-generation sequencing-based diversity studies. Nucleic Acids Research 41(1): e1.
- Klironomos JN. 2002. Feedback with soil biota contributes to plant rarity and invasiveness in communities. Nature 417: 67–70.
- Kloepper JW, Leong J, Teintze M, Schroth MN. 1980a. *Pseudomonas* siderophores: a mechanism explaining disease-suppressive soils. Current Microbiology 4: 317-320.
- Kloepper JW, Schroth MN, Miller TD. 1980b. Effects of rhizosphere colonization by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria on potato plant development and yield. Phytopathology 70: 1078–1082.
- Kniskern JM, Traw MB, Bergelson J. 2007. Salicylic acid and jasmonic acid signaling defense pathways reduce natural bacterial diversity on *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 20(12): 1512-1522.
- Kolbas A, Kidd P, Guinberteau J, Jaunatre R, Herzig R, Mench M. 2015. Endophytic bacteria take the challenge to improve Cu phytoextraction by sunflower. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 22: 5370-5382.
- Koornneef M, Meinke D. 2010. The development of *Arabidopsis* as a model plant. The Plant Journal 61: 909-921.
- Kremer RJ. 1987. Identity and properties of bacteria inhabiting seeds of selected broadleaf weed species. Microbial Ecology 14: 29-37.
- Kuffner M, De Maria S, Puschenreiter M, Fallmann K, Wieshammer G, Gorfer M, Strauss J, Rivelli AR, Sessitsch A. 2010. Culturable bacteria from Zn- and Cd-accumulating *Salix caprea* with differential effects on plant growth and heavy metal availability. Journal of Applied Microbiology 108(4): 1471-1484.
- Kukkurainen S, Leino A, Vähämiko S, Kärkkäinen HR, Ahanen K, Sorvari S. 2005. Occurence and location of endophytic bacteria in garden and wild strawberry. HortScience 40: 348–352.
- Kunin V, Engelbrektson A, Ochman H, Hugenholtz P. 2010. Wrinkles in the rare biosphere: pyrosequencing errors can lead to artificial inflation of diversity estimates. Environmental Microbiology 12(1): 118-123.
- Lee TK, Van Doan T, Yoo K, Choi S, Kim C, Park J. 2010. Discovery of commonly existing anode biofilm microbes in two different wastewater treatment MFCs using FLX Titanium pyrosequencing. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 87: 2335-2343.
- Lee YS, Tindwa H, Lee YS, Naing KW, Hong SH, Nam Y, Kim KY. 2012. Biocontrol of anthracnose in pepper using chitinase, beta-1,3 glucanase, and 2-furancarboxaldehyde produced by *Streptomyces cavourensis* SY224. Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 22(10): 1359-1366.

- Li J, Ovakim D, Charles T, Glick, B. 2000. An ACC deaminase minus mutant of *Enterobacter cloacae* UW4 no longer promotes root elongation. Current Microbiology 41: 101-105.
- Liles MR, Scheel TA, Cianciotto NP. 2000. Discovery of a nonclassical siderophore, legiobactin, produced by strains of *Legionella pneumophila*. Journal of Bacteriology 182(3): 749-757.
- Lindsay, WL. 1995. Chemical reactions in soils that affect iron availability to plants, p 7-14. In: Abadia J (ed), Iron nutrition in soils and plants. Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- Liu Y, Zuo S, Xu L, Zou Y, Song W. 2012. Study on diversity of endophytic bacterial communities in seeds of hybrid maize and their parental lines. Archives of Microbiology 194: 1001–1012.
- Liu Y, Zuo S, Zou Y, Wang J, Song W. 2013. Investigation on diversity and population succession dynamics of endophytic bacteria from seeds of maize (*Zea mays* L., Nongda108) at different growth stages. Annals of Microbiology 63: 71–79.
- Liu X, Parales RE. 2008. Chemotaxis of *Escherichia coli* to pyrimidines: a new role for the signal transducer tap. Journal of Bacteriology 190(3): 972-979.
- Lodewyckx C, Taghavi S, Mergeay M, Vangronsveld J, Clijsters H, van der Lelie D. 2001a. The effect of recombinant heavy metal-resistant endophytic bacteria on heavy metal uptake by their host plant. International Journal of Phytoremediation 3: 173–187.
- Lodewyckx C. 2001b. A potential role for bacterial endophytes in phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soils. PhD thesis, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium.
- Long HH, Schmidt DD, Baldwin IT. 2008. Native bacterial endophytes promote host growth in a species-specific manner; phytohormone manipulations do not result in common growth responses. PLoS ONE 3: e2702.
- Loper JE, Buyer JS. 1991. Siderophores in microbial interactions on plant surfaces. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 4(1): 5-13.
- Loper JE, Henkels MD. 1999. Utilization of heterologous siderophores enhances levels of iron available to *Pseudomonas putida* in the rhizosphere. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65: 5357-5363.
- López-López A, Rogel MA, Ormeño-Orrillo E, Martinez-Romero J, Martinez-Romero E. 2010. *Phaseolus vulgaris* seed-borne endophytic community with novel bacterial species such as *Rhizobium endophyticum sp.* nov. Systemic and Applied Microbiology 33: 322-327.
- Lopez-Velasco G, Carder PA, Welbaum GE, Ponder MA. 2013. Diversity of the spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) spermosphere and phyllosphere bacterial communities. FEMS Microbiology Letters 346: 146–154.
- Lundberg D, Lebeis S, Herrera Paredes S, Yourstone S, Gehring J, Malfatti S, Tremblay J, Engelbrektson A, Kunin V, Glavina del Rio T, Edgar R, Eickhorst T, Ley R, Hugenholtz P, Green Tringe S, Dangl J. 2012. Defining the core *Arabidopsis thaliana* root microbiome. Nature 488: 86-90.

- Ma Y, Oliveira RS, Nai F, Rajkumar M, Luo Y, Rocha I, Freitas H. 2015. The hyperaccumulator *Sedum plumbizincicola* harbors metal-resistant endophytic bacteria that improve its phytoextraction capacity in multi-metal contaminated soil. Journal of Environmental Management 156: 62-69.
- Masciarelli O, Urbani L, Reinoso H, Luna V. 2013. Alternative mechanism for the evaluation of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) production by *Azospirillum brasilense* strains and its effect on the germination and growth of maize seedlings. Journal of Microbiology 51(5): 590-597.
- Madmony A, Chernin L, Pleban S, Peleg E, Riov J. 2005. *Enterobacter cloacae*, an obligatory endophyte of pollen grains of Mediterranean pines. Folia Microbiologica 50: 209–216.
- Mahaffee WF, Kloepper JW. 1997. Bacterial communities of the rhizosphere and endorhiza associated with field-grown cucumber plants inoculated with a plant growth-promoting rhziobacterium or its genetically modified derivative. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 43: 344-353.
- Malfanova N, Lugtenberg BJJ, Berg G. Bacterial endophytes: who and where, and what are they doing there?, p 391-403. In: de Bruijn FJ (ed), Molecular microbial ecology of the rhizosphere. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken.
- Mano H, Tanaka F, Watanabe A, Kaga H, Okunishi S, Morisaki H. 2006. Culturable surface and endophytic bacterial flora of the maturing seeds of rice plants (*Oryza sativa*) cultivated in a paddy field. Microbes and Environment 2: 86-100.
- Mastretta C. 2007. The potential role of plant-associated bacteria in metal uptake and metal translocation in *Nicotiana tabacum*. PhD thesis, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium.
- Mastretta C, Taghavi S, van der Lelie D, Mengoni A, Galardi F, Gonelli C, Barac T, Boulet J, Weyens N, Vangronsveld J. 2009. Endophytic bacteria from seeds of *Nicotiana tabacum* can reduce Cd phytotoxicity. International Journal of Phytoremediation 11: 252-267.
- Mathesius U, Mulders S, Goa M, Teplitski M, Caetano-Anollés G, Rolfe BG, Bauer WD. 2003. Extensive and specific responses of a eukaryote to bacterial quorum-sensing signals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America 100: 1444–1449.
- Mazumder R, Phelps TJ, Krieg NR, Benoit RE. 1999. Determining chemotactic responses by two subsurface microaerophiles using a simplified capillary assay method. Journal of Microbiological Methods 37: 255-263.
- McAllister SM, Davis RE, McBeth JM, Tebo BM, Emerson D, Moyer CL. 2011. Biodiversity and emerging biogeography of the neutrophilic iron-oxidizing Zetaproteobacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77: 5445-5457.
- Membré JM, Burlot PM. 1994. Effects of temperature, pH, and NaCl on growth and pectinolytic activity of *Pseudomonas marginalis*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60(6): 2017-2022.
- Mercado-Blanco J, Bakker PAHM. 2007. Interactions between plants and beneficial *Pseudomonas spp.*: exploiting bacterial traits for crop protection. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 92: 367-389.

- Mergeay M, Nies D, Schlegel HG, Gerits J, Charles P, Van Gijsegem F. 1985. *Alcaligenes eutrophus* CH34 is a facultative chemolithotroph with plasmidbound resistance to heavy metals. Journal of Bacteriology 162: 328–334.
- Metz J, Liancourt P, Kigel J, Harel D, Stemberg M, Tielbörger K. 2010. Plant survival in relation to seed size along environmental gradients: a long-term study from semi-arid and Mediterranean annual plant communities. Journal of Ecology 98(3): 697-704.
- Micallef SA, Shiaris MP, Colón-Carmona A. 2009a. Influence of *Arabidopsis thaliana* accessions on rhizobacterial communities and natural variation in root exudates. Journal of Experimental Botany 60(6): 1729-1742.
- Micallef SA, Channer S, Shiaris MP, Colón-Carmona A. 2009b. Plant age and genotype impact the progression of bacterial community succession in the *Arabidopsis* rhizosphere. Plant Signaling & Behavior 4(8): 777-780.
- Molina L, Constantinescu F, Reimmann C, Duffy B, Défago G. 2003. Degradation of pathogen quorum-sensing molecules by soil bacteria: a preventive and curative biological control mechanism. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 45: 71–81.
- Molina MA, Godoy P, Ramos-González MI, Muñoz N, Ramos J, Espinosa-Urgel M. 2005. Role of iron and the TonB system in colonization of corn seeds and roots by *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. Environmental Microbiology 7: 443– 449.
- Molina MA, Ramos J, Espinosa-Urgel M. 2006. A two-partner secretion system is involved in seed and root colonization and iron uptake by *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. Environmental Microbiology 8: 639–647.
- Mondoni A, Orsenigo S, Donà M, Balestrazzi A, Probert RJ, Hay FR, Petraglia A, Abeli T. 2014. Environmentally induced transgenerational changes in seed longevity: maternal and genetic influence. Annals of Botany 113(7): 1257-1263.
- Morgan JL, Darling AE, Eisen JA. 2010. Metagenomic sequencing of an in vitro-simulated microbial community. PLoS ONE 5(4): e10209.
- Mukhopadhyay K, Garrison N, Hinton D, Bacon C, Khush G, Peck H, Datta N. 1996. Identification and characterization of bacterial endophytes of rice. Mycopathologia 134: 151-159.
- Mundt JO, Hinkle NF. 1976. Bacteria within ovules and seeds. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 32: 694-698.
- Muthukumarasamy R, Revathi G, Lakshminarasimhan C. 1999. Diazotrophic associations in sugar cane cultivation in South India. Tropical Agriculture 76: 171–178.
- Nelson EB. 2004. Microbial dynamics and interactions in the spermosphere. Phytopathology 42: 271–309.
- Nies DH. 1999. Microbial heavy-metal resistance. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 51: 730-750.
- Normander B, Prosser AI. 2000. Bacterial origin and community composition in the barley phytosphere as a function of habitat and presowing conditions. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(10): 4372-4377.

- Oberkotter LV, Rosenberg FA. 1978. Extracellular endo-beta-1,4-glucanase in *Cellvibrio vulgaris*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 36(1): 205-209.
- Oehrle NW, Karr DB, Kremer RJ, Emerich DW. 2000. Enhanced attachment of *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* to soybean through reduced root colonization of internally seedborne microorganisms. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 46: 600–606.
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, Legendre P, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simspon GL, Solymos P, Stevens MHH, Wagner H. 2014. Vegan: Community ecology package. R package version 2.2-0. http://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=vegan.
- Okunishi S, Sako K, Mano H, Imamura A, Morisaki H. 2005. Bacterial flora of endophytes in the maturing seed of cultivated rice (*Oryza sativa*). Microbes and Environments 20: 168-177.
- Oleksy A, Golonka E, Bańbula A, Szmyd G, Moon J, Kubica M, Greenbaum D, Bogyo M, Foster TJ, Travis J, Potempa J. 2004. Growth phase-dependent production of a cell wall-associated elastinolytic cysteine proteinase by *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. Biological Chemistry 385: 525–535.
- Ordentlich A, Elad Y, Chet I. 1988. The role of chitinase of *Serratia marcescens* in biocontrol of *Sclerotium rolfsii*. Phytopathology 78: 84–88.
- Ortíz-Castro R, Valencia-Cantero E, López-Bucio J. 2008. Plant growth promotion by *Bacillus megaterium* involves cytokinin signaling. Plant Signaling & Behavior 3: 263-265.
- Patten CL, Glick BR. 1996. Bacterial biosynthesis of indole-3-acetic acid. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 42: 207–220.
- Patten CL, Glick BR. 2002. Role of *Pseudomonas putida* indoleacetic acid in development of the host plant root system. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68: 3795–3801.
- Pérez-Ramírez NO, Rogel MA, Wang E, Castellanos JZ, Martínez-Romero E. 1998. Seeds of *Phaseolus vulgaris* bean carry *Rhizobium etli*. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 26(4): 289-296.
- Perry DA, 1978. Report of the vigour test committee 1974– 1977. Seed Science and Technology 6: 159– 181.
- Pharis RP, King RW. 1985. Gibberellins and reproductive development in seed plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 36: 517–568.
- Pirttilä AM, Laukkanen H, Pospiech H, Myllylä R, Hohtola A. 2000. Detection of intracellular bacteria in the buds of Scotch pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) by *in situ* hybridization. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 3073-3077.
- Plazinski J, Rolfe B. 1985. Analysis of the pecteolytic activity of *Rhizobium* and *Azospirillum* strains isolated from *Trifolium repens*. Journal of Plant Physiology 120: 181-187.
- Pleban S, Ingel F, Chet I. 1995. Control of *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Sclerotium rolfsii* in the green house using endophytic *Bacillus sp.* European Journal of Plant Pathology 101: 665-672.
- Porteous-Moore F, Barac T, Borremans B, Oeyen L, Vangronsveld J, van der Lelie D, Campbell C, Moore E. 2006. Endophytic bacterial diversity in poplar

trees growing on a BTEX-contaminated site: the characterisation of isolates with potential to enhance phytoremediation. Systemic and Applied Microbiology 29: 539-556.

- Potrykus M, Sledz W, Golanowska M, Slawiak M, Binek A, Motyka, A, Zoledowska S, Czajkowksi R, Lojkowsja E. 2014. Simultaneous detection of major blackleg and soft rot bacterial pathogens in potato by multiplex polymerase chain reaction. Annals of Applied Biology 165: 474-487.
- Prithiviraj B, Bais HP, Jha AK, Vivanco JM. 2005. *Staphylococcus aureus* pathogenicity on *Arabidopsis thaliana* is mediated either by a direct effect of salicylic acid on the pathogen or by SA-dependent, NPR1-independent host responses. The Plant Journal 42: 417–432.
- Puente ME, Li CY, Bashan Y. 2009a. Endophytic bacteria in cacti seeds can improve the development of cactus seedlings. Environmental and Experimental Botany 66: 402-408.
- Puente ME, Li CY, Bashan Y. 2009b. Rock-degrading endophytic bacteria in cacti. Environmental and Experimental Botany 66: 389–401.
- R Core Team. 2014. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL: http://www.R-project.org.
- Raaijmakers JM, Vandersluis I, Koster M, Bakker PAHM, Weisbeek PJ, Schippers B. 1995. Utilization of heterologous siderophores and rhizosphere competence of fluorescent *Pseudomonas spp.* Canadian Journal of Microbiology 41: 126–135.
- Raaijmakers JM, Vlami M, de Souza JT. 2002. Antibiotic production by bacterial biocontrol agents. Antonie Leeuwenhoek 81: 537–547.
- Raghothama KG. 1999. Phosphate acquisition. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 50: 665-693.
- Rajjou L, Gallardo K, Debeaujon I, Vandekerckhove J, Job C, Job D. 2004. The effect of alpha-amanitin on the *Arabidopsis* seed proteome highlights the distinct roles of stored and neosynthesized mRNAs during germination. Plant Physiology 134: 1598–1613.
- Rasmann S, De Vos M, Jander G. 2012. Ecological role of transgenerational resistance against biotic threats. Plant Signaling & Behavior 7: 447–449.
- Ramamoorthy V, Viswanathan R, Raguchander T, Prakasam V, Smaiyappan R. 2001. Induction of systemic resistance by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria in crop plants against pests and diseases. Crop Protection 20: 1–11.
- Rand FV, Cash LC. 1933. Bacterial wilt of corn. USDA Technical Bulletins 362: 1-22.
- Reddy NR, Pierson MD, Sathe SK, Salunkhe DK. 1989. Phytases in cereals and legumes. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Reeves R, Baker A. 2000. Metal accumulating plants, p 193-229. In: Raskin I, Ensley B (eds), Phytoremediation of toxic metals: using plants to clean up the environment. John Wiley & Sons, New York.

- Reisberg EE, Hildebrandt U, Riederer M, Hentschel U. 2012. Phyllosphere bacterial communities of trichome-bearing and trichomeless *Arabidopsis thaliana* leaves. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 101: 551-560.
- Reisberg EE, Hildebrandt U, Riederer M, Hentschel U. 2013. Distinct phyllosphere bacterial communities on *Arabidopsis* wax mutant leaves. PLoS ONE 8(11): e78613.
- Remans T, Nacry P, Pervent M, Girin T, Tillard P, Lepetit M, Gojon A. 2006. A central role for the nitrate transporter NRT2.1 in the integrated morphological and physiological responses of the root system to nitrogen limitation in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiology 140: 909-921.
- Richardson AE. 1994. Soil micro-organisms and phosphorus availability, p 50-62. In: Pankhurst CE, Doube BM, Gupta VVSR, Grace PR (eds), Soil biota management in sustainable farming systems. CSIRO Publishing, Clayton.
- Richardson A, Hadobas P, Hayes J, O'Hara C, Simpson R. 2001. Utilization of phosphorus by pasture plants supplied with myo-inositol hexaphosphate is enhanced by the presence of soil micro-organisms. Plant and Soil 229: 47-56.
- Rijavec T, Lapanje A, Dermastia M, Rupnik M. 2007. Isolation of bacterial endophytes from germinated maize kernels. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 3(6): 802-808.
- Ringelberg D, Foley K, Reynolds CM. 2012. Bacterial endophyte communities of two wheatgrass varieties following propagation in different growing media. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 58: 67–80.
- Roberts DP, Dery DP, Yucel I, Buyer J, Holtman MA, Kobayashi DY. 1999. Role of pfkA and general carbohydrate catabolism in seed colonization by *Enterobacter cloacae*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65: 2513– 2519.
- Roberts DP, Baker CJ, McKenna L, Liu S, Buyer JS, Kobayashi DY. 2009. Influence of host seed on metabolic activity of *Enterobacter cloacae* in the spermosphere. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41: 754–761.
- Robison MM, Shah S, Tamot B, Pauls KP, Moffatt BA, Glick BR. 2001. Reduced symptoms of *Verticillium* wilt in transgenic tomato expressing a bacterial ACC deaminase. Molecular Plant Pathology 2: 135-145.
- Rodriguez RJ, Henson J, Van Volkenburgh E, Hoy M, Wright L, Beckwith F, Kim Y, Redman RS. 2008. Stress tolerance in plants via habitat-adapted symbiosis. The ISME Journal 2: 404-416.
- Romick T, Fleming H. 1998. Acetoin production as an indicator of growth and metabolic inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Journal of Applied Microbiology 84: 18-24.
- Rosenblueth M, Martínez-Romero E. 2006. Bacterial endophytes and their interactions with hosts. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 19: 827–837.
- Rosenblueth M, López-López A, Martínez J, Rogel MA, Toledo I, Martínez-Romero I. 2010. Seed bacterial endophytes: common genera, seed-to-seed variability and their possible role in plants. Acta Horticulturae 938: 39-48.

- Rott M. 2012. Structure and assembly cues of *Arabidopsis* root-inhabiting bacterial communities and comparative genomics of selected *Rhizobium* members. PhD thesis, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany.
- Rudgers JA, Afkhami ME, Rúa MA, Davitt AJ, Hammer S, Huguet VM. 2009. A fungus among us: broad patterns of endophyte distribution in the grasses. Ecology 90: 1531–1539.
- Ruiz D, Agaras B, Werra P, Wall LG, Valverde C. 2011. Characterization and screening of plant probiotic traits of bacteria isolated from rice seeds cultivated in Argentina. The Journal of Microbiology 49(6): 902-912.
- Rungin S, Indananda C, Suttiviriya P, Kruasuwan W, Jaemsaeng R, Thamchaipenet A. 2012. Plant growth enhancing effects by a siderophore-producing endophytic *Streptomyces* isolated from a Thai jasmine rice plant (*Oryza sativa* L. cv. KDML105). Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 102(3): 463-472.
- Ryan AD, Kinkel LL. 1997. Inoculum density and population dynamics of suppressive and pathogenic *Streptomyces* strains and their relationship to biological control of potato scab. Biological Control 10: 180-186.
- Ryu C, Farag M, Hu C, Reddy M, Wei H, Paré P, Kloepper J. 2003. Bacterial volatiles promote growth in *Arabidopsis*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100: 4927-4932.
- Sabreen S, Sugiyama S. 2008. Cadmium phytoextraction capacity in eigth C3 herbage grass species. Grassland Science 54(1): 27-32.
- Saikkonen K, Saari S, Helander M. 2010. Defensive mutualism between plants and endophytic fungi? Fungal Diversity 41: 101-113.
- Sakai M, Matsuka A, Komura T, Kanazawa S. 2004. Application of a new PCR primer for terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of the bacterial communities in plant roots. Joural of Microbiology Methods 59(1): 81-89.
- Samish Z, Etinger-Tulczynska R. 1963. Distribution of bacteria within the tissue of healthy tomatoes. Applied Microbiology 11: 7-10.
- Sanita di Toppi L, Gabbrielli R. 1999. Response to cadmium in higher plants. Environmental and Experimental Botany 41: 105-130.
- Sanyal SK, De Datta SK. 1991. Chemistry of phosphorus transformations in soil. Advances in Soil Science 16: 1-120.
- Schalk I, Hannauer M, Braud A. 2011. New roles for bacterial siderophores in metal transport and tolerance. Environmental Microbiology 13: 2844-2854.
- Schauer M, Hahn MW. 2005. Diversity and phylogenetic affiliations of morphologically conspicuous large filamentous bacteria occurring in the pelagic zones of a broad spectrum of freshwater habitats. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71: 1931-1940.
- Schenck S, Stotzky G. 1975. Effect on microorganisms of volatile compounds released from germinating seeds. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 21: 1622–1634.
- Schlaeppi K, Dombrowski N, Garrido Otera R, Ver Loren van Themaat E, Schulze-Lefert P. 2014. Quantitative divergence of the bacterial root

microbiota in *Arabidopsis thaliana* relatives. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111(2): 585-592.

- Schlegel HG, Cosson JP, Baker AJM. 1991. Nickel-hyperaccumulating plants provide a niche for nickel-resistant bacteria. Botanica Acta 194: 18–25.
- Schloss PD, Westcott SL, Ryabin T, Hall JR, Hartmann M, Hollister EB, Lesniewski RA, Oakley BB, Parks DH, Robinson CJ, Sahl JW, Stres B, Thallinger GG, Van Horn DJ, Weber CF. 2009. Introducing mothur: Opensource, platform-independent, community-supported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(23): 7537-7541.
- Schwyn B, Neilands JB. 1987. Universal chemical assay for the detection and determination of siderophores. Analytical Biochemistry 160: 47-56.
- Sessitsch A, Reiter B, Berg G. 2004. Endophytic bacterial communities of field-grown potato plants and their plant-growth-promoting and antagonistic abilities. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 50: 239-249.
- Sessitsch A, Hardoim P, Döring J, Weilharter A, Krause A, Woyke T, Mitter B, Hauberg-Lotte L, Friedrich F, Rahalkar M, Hurek T, Sarkar A, Bodrosst L, van Overbeek L, Brar D, van Elsas JD, Reinhold-Hurek B. 2012. Functional characteristics of an endophyte community colonizing rice roots as revealed by metagenomic analysis. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 25: 28–36.
- Sharma A, Johri B. 2003. Growth promoting influence of siderophoreproducing *Pseudomonas* strains GRP3A and PRS9 in maize (*Zea mays* L.) under iron limiting conditions. Microbiology Research 158: 243-248.
- Shelud'ko AV, Shirokov AA, Sokolova MK, Sokolov OI, Petrova LP, Matora LY, Katsy EI. 2010. Wheat root colonization by *Azospirillum brasilense* strains with different motility. Microbiology 79: 688-695.
- Siciliano SD, Fortin N, Mihoc A, Wisse G, Labelle S, Beaumier D, Ouelette D, Roy R, Whyte L, Banks K, Schwab P, Lee, K, Greer C. 2001. Selection of specific endophytic bacterial genotypes by plants in response to soil contamination. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67: 2469-2475.
- Singh PP, Shin YC, Park CS, Chung YR. 1999. Biological control of *Fusarium* wilt of cucumber by chitinolytic bacteria. Phytopathology 89: 92-99.
- Smerda JS, Sedláček I, Páčová Z, Durnová E, Smišková A, Havel L. 2005. *Paenibacillus mendelii sp.* nov., from surface-sterilized seeds of *Pisum sativum* L. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 55: 2351–2354.
- Smeets K, Ruytinx J, Van Belleghem F, Semane B, Lin D, Vangronsveld J, Cuypers A. 2008. Critical evaluation and statistical validation of a hydroponic culture system for *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 46: 212-218.
- Sobolev CS, Orner VA, Arias RS. 2013. Distribution of bacterial endophytes in peanut seeds obtained from axenic and control plant material under field conditions. Plant Soil 371: 367-376.
- Sogin ML, Morrison HG, Huber JA, Mark Welch D, Huse SM, Neal PR, Arrieta JM, Herndl GJ. 2006. Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the

underexplored 'rare biosphere'. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103: 12115-12120.

- Soliman S, Seeda MA, Aly SSM, Gadalla AM. 1995. Nitrogen fixation by wheat plants as affected by nitrogen fertilizer levels and non-symbiotic bacteria. Egyptian Journal of Soil Science 35: 401–413.
- Song WY, Kim HM, Hwang CY, Schaad NW. 2004. Detection of *Acidovorax avenae ssp.* avenae in rice seeds using BIO-PCR. Journal of Phytopathology 152: 667-676.
- Staden R, Beal KF, Bonfield JK. 1999. The Staden Package, 1998. Methods in Molecular Biology 132: 115-130.
- Stearns J, Glick BR. 2003. Transgenic plants with altered ethylene biosynthesis or perception. Biotechnology Advances 21: 193-210.
- Stevenson FJ, Cole MA. 1999. Cycles of soil: carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, sulfur, micronutrients, Wiley, New York.
- Symeonidis L, McNeilly T, Bradshaw AD. 1985. Differential tolerance of three cultivars of *Agrostis capillaris* L. to cadmium, copper, lead, nickel and zinc. New Phytologist 101: 309-315.
- Tanimoto E. 1987. Gibberellin-dependent root elongation in *Lactuca sativa*: recovery from growth retardant-suppressed elongation with thickening by low concentration of GA3. Plant and Cell Physiology 28: 963–973.
- Thewys T, Witters N, Meers E, Vangronsveld J. 2010. Economic viability of phytoremediation of a contaminated agricultural area using energy maize. Part II: economics of anaerobic digestion of metal contaminated maize in Belgium. International Journal of Phytoremediation 12(7): 663-679.
- Timmusk S, Wagner E. 1999. The plant-growth-promoting rhizobacterium *Paenibacillus polymyxa* induces changes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* gene expression: a possible connection between biotic and abiotic stress responses. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 12: 951-959.
- Timmusk S, Paalme V, Pavlicek T, Bergquist J, Vangala A, Danilas T, Nevo E. 2011. Bacterial distribution in the rhizosphere of wild barley under contrasting microclimates. PLoS ONE 6: e17968.
- Tiquia SM, Lloyd J, Herms DA, Hoitink HAJ, Michel FC. 2001. Effects of mulching and fertilization on soil nutrients, microbial activity and rhizosphere bacterial community structure determined by analysis of TRFLPs of PCR-amplified 16S rRNA genes. Applied Soil Ecology 21: 31-48.
- Toyoda H, Hashimoto H, Utsumi R, Kobayashi H, Ouchi S. 1988. Detoxification of fusaric acid by a fusaric acid-resistant mutant of *Pseudomonas solanacearum* and its application to biological control of *fusarium* wilt of tomato. Phytopathology 78: 1307–1311.
- Trân Van V, Berge O, Kê SN, Balandreau J, Heulin T. 2000. Repeated beneficial effects of rice inoculation with a strain of *Burkholderia vietnamiensis* on early and late yield components in low fertility sulphate acid soils of Vietnam. Plant and Soil 218: 273–284.
- Trinick MJ. 1973. Symbiosis between *Rhizobium* and the non-legume, *Trema aspera*. Nature 244: 459–460.

- Tripathi A, Verma S, Chowdhury S, Lebuhn M, Gattinger A, Schloter M. 2006. *Ochrobactrum oryzae sp.* nov., an endophytic bacterial species isolated from deep water rice in India. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 56: 1677-1680.
- Truyens S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2013. Changes in the population of seed bacteria of transgenerationally Cd-exposed *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Biology 15: 971-981.
- Truyens S, Jambon I, Croes S, Janssen J, Weyens N, Mench M, Carleer R, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2014. The effect of long-term Cd and Ni exposure on seed endophytes of *Agrostis capillaris* and their potential application in phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils. International Journal of Phytoremediation 16(7-8): 643-659.
- Turner RG, Marshall C. 1972. The accumulation of zinc by subcellular fractions of roots of *Agrostis tenuis* Sibth. in relation to zinc tolerance. New Phytologist 71: 671-676.
- Vangronsveld J, Van Assche F, Clijsters H. 1995. Reclamation of a bare industrial area contaminated by non-ferrous metals: in situ metal immobilization and revegetation. Environmental Pollution 87: 51-59.
- Vangronsveld J, Herzig R, Weyens N, Boulet J, Adriaensen K, Ruttens A, Thewys T, Vassilev A, Meers E, Nehnevajova E, van der Lelie D, Mench M. 2009. Phytoremediation of contaminated soils and groundwater: lessons from the field. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 16(7): 765-794.
- Van Loon LC, Bakker PAHM, Pieterse CMJ. 1998. Systemic resistance induced by rhizosphere bacteria. Annual Review of Phytopathology 36: 453–483.
- Van Peer R, Niemann GJ, Schippers B. 1991. Induced resistance and phytoalexin accumulation in biological control of *Fusiarum* wilt of carnation by *Pseudomonas sp.* WCS417r. Phytopathology 81: 728-734.
- Vassilev A, Schwitzguebel J, Thewys T, Van Der Lelie D, Vangronsveld J. 2004. The use of plants for remediation of metal-contaminated soils. Scientific World Journal 4: 9-34.
- Vásquez SV, Agha R, Granado A, Sarro MJ, Esteban E, Peñalosa JM, Carpena RO. 2006. Use of white lupin plant for phytostabilization of Cd and As polluted acid soil. Water, Air and Soil Pollution 177: 349-365.
- Vega FE, Pava-Ripoll M, Posada F, Buyer JS. 2006. Endophytic bacteria in *Coffea Arabica* L. Journal of Basic Microbiology 45: 371–380.
- Velázquez E, Rojas M, Lorite MJ, Rivas R, Zurdo-Piñeiro JL, Heydrich M, Bedmar EJ. 2008. Genetic diversity of endopytic bacteria which could be find in the apoplastic sap of the medullary parenchyma of the stem of healthy sugarcane plants. Journal of Basic Microbiology 48: 118-124.
- Verhagen BWM, Trotel-Aziz P, Couderchet M, Höfte M, Aziz A. 2010. *Pseudomonas spp.*-induced systemic resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* is associated with induction and priming of defence responses in grapevine. Journal of Experimental Botany 61(1): 249-260.

- Verma SC, Ladha JK, Tripathi AK. 2001. Evaluation of plant growth promoting and colonization ability of endophytic diazotrophs from deep water rice. Journal of Biotechnology 91: 127-141.
- Versalovic J, Schneider M, de Bruijn FJ, Lupski JR. 1994. Genomic fingerprinting of bacteria using repetitive sequence-based polymerase chain reaction. Methods in Molecular and Cellular Biology 5: 25-40.
- Vessey JK. 2003. Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizers. Plant and Soil 255: 571–586.
- Vinagre F, Vargas C, Schwarcz K, Cavalcante J, Noqueira EM, Baldani JI, Ferreira PC, Hemerly AS. 2006. SHR5: a novel plant receptor kinase involved in plant-N<sub>2</sub>-fixing endophytic bacteria association. Journal of Experimental Botany 57: 559–569.
- Vögeli-Lange R, Wagner GJ. 1996. Relationship between cadmium, glutathione and cadmium-binding peptides (phytochelatins) in leaves of intact tobacco seedlings. Plant Science 114: 11-18.
- Vyas P, Gulati A. 2009. Organic acid production in vitro and plant growth promotion in maize under controlled environment by phosphate-solubilizing fluorescent *Pseudomonas*. BMC Microbiology 9: 174.
- Walbot V, Cullis CA. 1985. Rapid genomic change in plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 36: 367–396.
- Walker MJ, Birch RG, Pemberton JM. 1988. Cloning and characterization of an albicidin resistance gene from *Klebsiella oxytoca*. Molecular Microbiology 2: 443–454.
- Walker JJ, Pace NR. 2007. Phylogenetic composition of Rocky Mountain endolithic microbial ecosystems. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73: 3497-3504.
- Wallace A, Wallace GA, Cha JW. 1992. Some modifications in trace element toxicities and deficiencies in plants resulting from interactions with other element and chelating agents: the special case of iron. Journal of Plant Nutrition 15: 1589–1598.
- Wang Y, Qian P. 2005. Conservative fragments in bacterial 16S rRNA genes and primer design for 16S ribosomal DNA amplicons in metagenomics studies. PLoS ONE 4(10): e7401.
- Wardle DA. 1992. A comparative assessment of factors which influence microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen levels in soil. Biological Reviews 67: 321–358.
- Werner S, Schmülling T. 2009. Cytokinin action in plant development. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 12: 527–538.
- Weyens N, van der Lelie D, Taghavi S, Vangronsveld J. 2009a. Phytoremediation: plant–endophyte partnerships take the challenge. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 20: 248-254.
- Weyens N, van der Lelie D, Taghavi S, Newman L, Vangronsveld J. 2009b. Exploiting plant-microbe partnerships for improving biomass production and remediation. Trends in Biotechnology 27: 591-598.

- Weyens N, Gielen M, Beckers B, Boulet J, van der Lelie D, Taghavi S, Carleer R, Vangronsveld J. 2013. Bacteria associated with yellow lupine grown on a metal-contaminated soil: in vitro screening and in vivo evaluation for their potential to enhance Cd phytoextraction. Plant Biology 16: 988-996.
- Whipps JM. 2001. Microbial interactions and biocontrol in the rhizosphere. Journal of Experimental Botany 52: 487–511.
- Whittle CA, Otto SP, Johnston MO, Krochko JE. 2009. Adaptive epigenetic memory of ancestral temperature regime in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Botany 87: 650-657.
- Worthington K, Worthington V. 2011. Worthington Enzyme Manual. Worthington Biochemical Corporation. 17/02/2014. URL: http://www.worthington-biochem.com/PASE/assay.html.
- Xie G, Cui Z, Yu J, Yan J, Hai W, Steinberger Y. 2006. Identification of nif genes in N<sub>2</sub>-fixing bacterial strains isolated from rice fields along the Yangtze River Plain. Journal of Basic Microbiology 46: 56-63.
- Xie X, Zhang H, Paré P. 2009. Sustained growth promotion in *Arabidopsis* with long-term exposure to the beneficial soil bacterium *Bacillus subtilis* (GB03). Plant Signaling & Behavior 4: 948-953.
- Xu M, Sheng J, Chen L, Men Y, Gan L, Guo S, Shen L. 2014. Bacterial community compositions of tomato (*Lycopersicum esculentum* Mill.) seeds and plant growth promoting activity of ACC deaminase producing *Bacillus subtilis* (HYT-12-1) on tomato seedlings. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 30: 835–845.
- Yu X, Ai C, Xin L, Zhou G. 2011. The siderophore-producing bacterium, *Bacillus subtilis* CAS15, has a biocontrol effect on *Fusarium* wilt and promotes the growth of pepper. European Journal of Soil Biology 47(2): 138-145.
- Zas R, Cendán C, Sampedro L. 2013. Mediation of seed provisioning in the transmission of environmental maternal effects in Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Aiton). Heridity 111: 248-255.
- Zhang L, Birch RG. 1997. The gene for albicidin detoxification from *Pantoea dispersa* encodes an esterase and attenuates pathogenicity of *Xanthomonas albilineans* to sugarcane. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94: 9984–9989.
- Zhang H, Forde B. 1998. An *Arabidopsis* MADS box gene that controls nutrient-induced changes in root architecture. Science 279: 407-409.

## International journals

- <u>Truyens S</u>, Beckers B, Thijs S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 201x. Cadmium-induced and transgenerational changes in the cultivable and total seed endophytic community of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Submitted to Plant Biology.
- <u>Truyens S</u>, Beckers B, Thijs S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 201x. The effects of the growth substrate on cultivable and total endophytic communities of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Submitted to Plant and Soil.
- Beckers B, Op De Beeck M, Thijs S, <u>Truyens S</u>, Weyens N, Boerjan W, Vangronsveld J. 201x. Performance of 16S rRNA primer pairs in the study of rhizosphere and endosphere bacterial microbiomes in metabarcoding studies. In preparation.
- <u>Truyens S</u>, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2015. Bacterial seed endophytes: genera, vertical transmission and interaction with plants. Environmental Microbiology Reports 7(1): 40-50.
- Thijs S, Van Dillewijn P, Sillen W, <u>Truyens S</u>, Holtappels M, D'haen J, Carleer R, Weyens N, Ameloot M, Ramos J, Vangronsveld J. 2014. Exploring the rhizospheric and endophytic bacterial communities of *Acer pseudoplatanus* growing on a TNT-contaminated soil: towards the development of a rhizocompetent TNT-detoxifying plant growth promoting consortium. Plant and Soil 385(1-2): 15-36.
- <u>Truyens S</u>, Jambon I, Croes S, Janssen J, Weyens N, Mench M, Carleer R, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2014. The effect of long-term Cd and Ni exposure on seed endophytes of *Agrostis capillaris* and their potential application in phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils. International Journal of Phytoremediation 16(7-8): 643-659.
- <u>Truyens S</u>, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2013. Changes in the population of seed bacteria of transgenerationally Cd-exposed *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Biology 15: 971-981.
- Remans T, Thijs S, <u>Truyens S</u>, Weyens N, Schellingen K, Keunen E, Gielen H, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2012. Understanding the development of roots exposed to contaminants and the potential of plant-associated bacteria for optimization of growth. Annals of Botany 110: 239-252.
- Keunen E, <u>Truyens S</u>, Bruckers L, Remans T, Vangronsveld J, Cuypers A. 2011. Survival of Cd-exposed *Arabidopsis thaliana*: Are these plants reproductively challenged? Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 29: 1084-1091.
- Weyens N, <u>Truyens S</u>, Saenen E, Boulet J, Dupae J, van der Lelie D, Carleer R, Vangronsveld J. 2011. Endophytes and their potential to deal with co-contamination of organic contaminants (toluene) and toxic metals (nickel)

during phytoremediation. International Journal of Phytoremediation 13: 244-255.

• Weyens N, <u>Truyens S</u>, Dupae J, Newman L, Taghavi S, van der Lelie D, Carleer R, Vangronsveld J. 2010. Potential of the TCE-degrading endophyte *Pseudomonas putida* W619-TCE to improve plant growth and reduce TCE phytotoxicity and evapotranspiration in poplar cuttings. Environmental Pollution 158: 2915-2919.

## Oral presentations

- Vangronsveld J, Croes S, Janssen J, <u>Truyens S</u>, Thijs S, Weyens N. 2014. A role for plant-associated bacteria in metal mobilization and uptake by plants and phytoextraction? Plants, Heavy Metals, Environment Conference. 26-28 June. Katowice, Poland.
- Thijs S, Weyens N, <u>Truyens S</u>, Gkorezis P, Carleer R, Vangronsveld J. 2014. Grasses and bacteria joining forces: bioaugmented rhizoremediation with common bent for clean-up of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene. The Warsaw Plant Health Initiative, 7FP-REGPOT-2011-1-286093, WP4 "Upgrade MICRO-ECOLOGY research teams mini-symposium and workshop. 28-30 May. Warsaw, Poland.
- <u>Truyens S</u>, Thijs S, Weyens N, Vangronsveld J. 2013. An *Arabidopsis* model for seed endophyte-assisted plant growth upon Cd exposure. 10<sup>th</sup> International Phytotechnologies Conference. 1-4 October. Syracuse, United States of America.
- Thijs S, Weyens N, <u>Truyens S</u>, Gkorezis P, D'Haen J, Carleer R, Vangronsveld J. 2013. Grasses and bacteria joining forces: bioaugmented rhizoremediation with common bent for clean-up of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene. 10<sup>th</sup> International Phytotechnologies Conference. 1-4 October. Syracuse, United States of America.
- <u>Truyens S</u>, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2012. Long-term Cd exposure induces beneficial shifts in the seed endophytic population of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. 9<sup>th</sup> International Phytotechnology Society Conference. 11-14 September. Hasselt, Belgium.
- Thijs S, Gkorezis P, <u>Truyens S</u>, Weyens N, Vangronsveld J. 2012. The role of plant-associated bacteria for the improvement of phytoremediation of TNTcontaminated sites. 9<sup>th</sup> International Phytotechnology Society Conference. 11-14 September. Hasselt, Belgium.
- Vangronsveld J, Thijs S, <u>Truyens S</u>, van der Lelie D, Taghavi S, Weyens N. 2012. A role for plant-associated bacteria in remediation of contaminated soils and groundwater. 5<sup>th</sup> Symposium on Biosorption and Bioremediation. June 24 28. Prague, Czech Republic.
- Remans T, <u>Truyens S</u>, Thijs S, Schellingen K, Gielen H, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2011. Stress-specific morphological responses in *Arabidopsis thaliana* roots and the effect of plant-associated bacteria. 7<sup>th</sup> International

Symposium on the structure and function of roots. 5-9 September. Novy Skomovec, Slovakia.

- Weyens N, <u>Truyens S</u>, Saenen E, Croes S, Beckers B, van der Lelie D, Taghavi S, Vangronsveld J. 2011. Modified endophytes for improving phytoremediation of mixed contaminations of toxic metals (Ni) and organic contaminants (toluene or TCE). 5<sup>th</sup> European Bioremediation Conference. 4-7 July. Chania, Greece.
- Dupae J, Weyens N, Cuypers A, <u>Truyens S</u>, Croes S, Vangronsveld J. 2010. Equipping plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPBs) with a metal resistance system: effects on metal uptake and translocation in poplar. International conference on environmental pollution and clean bio/phytoremediation. 16-19 June. Pisa, Italy.
- Vangronsveld J, <u>Truyens S</u>, Dupae J, Taghavi S, van der Lelie D, Weyens N. 2010 Exploiting plant-bacteria partnerships to improve biomass production and remediation of contaminated soils and groundwater. 12<sup>th</sup> international symposium on biological nitrogen fixation with non-legumes. 3-8 October. Búzios, Brazil.
- Weyens N, <u>Truyens S</u>, Saenen E, Croes S, Beckers B, van der Lelie D, Vangronsveld J. 2010. Modified endophytes for improving phytoremediation of mixed contaminations of toxic metals (Ni) and organic contaminants (toluene or TCE). Phytotechnologies in the 21<sup>st</sup> century: challenges after Copenhagen 2009. Remediation-Energy-Health-Sustainability. 26-29 September. Parma, Italy.

## Poster presentations

- <u>Truyens S</u>, Beckers B, Thijs S, Weyens N, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2015. Endophytic communities of *Arabidopsis thaliana*: does cultivation substrate matter? 6<sup>th</sup> Congress of European Microbiologists (FEMS). 7-11 June. Maastricht, The Netherlands.
- Gielen M, Weyens N, Beckers B, Croes S, <u>Truyens S</u>, Boerjan W, Vangronsveld J. 2012. Comparison of *Arabidopsis thaliana* with normal and reduced lignin: differences in growth, bacterial population and cadmium responses. 9<sup>th</sup> International Phytotechnology Society Conference. 11-14 September. Hasselt, Belgium.
- Remans T, <u>Truyens S</u>, Thijs S, Weyens N, Schellingen K, Gielen H, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2011. Stress-specific root morphological responses in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Phenodays. 12-14 October, Wageningen, the Netherlands.
- <u>Truyens S</u>, Weyens N, Saenen E, Opdenakker K, Dupae J, Cuypers A, Vangronsveld J. 2011. Inoculation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* with seed endophytes from Cd-selected plants enhances root growth upon exposure to Cd. 11<sup>th</sup> ICOBTE International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements. 3-7 July. Florence, Italy.

- Croes S, Weyens N, <u>Truyens S</u>, Vangronsveld J. 2011. Isolation of bacteria associated with *Brassica napus* L.: The characterization of cadmium-tolerant plant growth promoting bacteria and their potential to enhance phytoextraction. 11<sup>th</sup> ICOBTE International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements. 3-7 July. Florence, Italy.
- Dupae J, Weyens N, Cuypers A, <u>Truyens S</u>, Croes S, Vangronsveld J. 2010. Can DIGE analysis reveal the underlying mechanisms of enhanced plant growth, metal uptake and translocation caused by PGPBs equipped with a metal resistance system? Proteomlux 2010. 18-20 October. Luxembourg, Luxembourg.